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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Minshang
Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024, together with the
comparative information for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Looking back at the year past, after the pandemic ravaging all over the
world for more than 3 years, Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) has finally gone back to normal. However, the
recovery of global economy, including Hong Kong and the domestic
economy of the PRC remain challenging due to the rise tension of the
geographical politics, change of policies from different nations and the
downturn of the housing and equity market in Hong Kong and the PRC,
which has greatly affected the confidence of the customers in investing
and the desire in consuming.

Nevertheless, the Group enhanced its efforts in business adjustment
and transformation, and gave greater focus on new development
strategies, which allowed itself to strike a balance between the existing
business and to develop new business opportunities.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has recorded total
revenue from continuing operations of approximately HK$8.0 million and
loss attributable to the Shareholders of the Company from continuing
operations of approximately HK$35.6 million which represented 86.8%
decrease and 4,068.9% decrease, respectively, as compared to the
corresponding period in 2023.

In order to cope with the ever-changing external environment, the
Company plans to consolidate its resource and focus on the existing
businesses, at the same time keep exploring for new profit drivers.
Looking ahead, we believe that the domestic economy in the PRC
and Hong Kong is gradually recovering, while moving along the path
to normalcy, in particular the government of the PRC and Hong Kong
introduced certain incentives and promotions to stimulate economy, we
remain optimistic on the Group’s long-term prospects.

Digital economy and intellectual economy have become the
socioeconomic development direction, and the IT industry is now
undermining how businesses are being promoted and developed
more than ever. The Group wishes to focus on the development of our
existing IT Solution Business, while exploring business opportunities to
open up new horizons.
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At present, environmental sustainability development is one of the most
trending topics globally, especially following the signing of the “Paris
Agreement”, countries all over the world have reached a consensus on
contributing in various aspects to achieve the climate goals, low-carbon
and green energy transformation is necessary for global enterprises.
According to the report issued by the International Energy Agency, the
world recorded a record pace in development of renewable energy in
2023, and it is anticipated that the PRC will continue to play a major role
in developing renewable energy in the next five years. The Group sees
it as a huge opportunity and is exploring to tap into the industry and try
to integrate and utilise our expertise in supply chain and e-commerce
in the renewable energy technology sector which may have a greater
growth potential and align to its strategic corporate goal to develop into
a diversified and integrated group of business.

| would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all our
Shareholders, fellow members of the Board and staff of all levels for
their dedication and effort over the years. In addition, on behalf of the
Board, | would also like to express our most sincere thanks to all our
customers and business partners for their continuous support.

WU Jiangtao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBWRE S

During the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year under Review”),
Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), had three principal
businesses: (i) Vietnamese-style Restaurant Business; (ii) Trading
Business; and (jii) information technology (“IT”) Solution Business. The
Vietnamese-style restaurant business was operated in Hong Kong
whereas the IT Solution Business and Trading Business were operated
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 27 April
2023, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party in respect of the disposal of the entire
equity interests of Prosperity One Limited and its subsidiaries (the
“Disposal Group”) (the “Disposal”), which is principally engaged in
Vietnamese-style Restaurant Business, at an aggregate consideration
of HK$31,000,000. Upon completion of the Disposal on 27 April 2023,
the Group ceased its Vietnamese-style Restaurant Business.

The restaurant operation in Hong Kong has been materially adversely
affected by the outbreak of COVID-19, with the negative market
sentiment, local consumers’ low inclination to dine out and keen
competition in the food and beverage industry in Hong Kong, it is
expected that the Vietnamese-style Restaurant Business may not
have a significant improvement in its business performance in near to
medium-term. As such, the management considers that it is a good
opportunity to dispose of the Vietnamese-style Restaurant Business
at a reasonable price. Yet, the management is still exploring for new
opportunities in the food and beverage industry and may continue its
food and beverage business should suitable opportunities arise.

During the Year under Review, a wholly owned subsidiary, £ & & &}
(%) & 7™ 7% AR 2 (“Minshang Ningbo”) in the PRC, which
positioned itself in B2B business with a focus on offering 3C electronic
products, frozen foods and grain & oil products. Minshang Ningbo
sourced from manufacturers or wholesalers located in the PRC and
sold to distributors.

Minshang Ningbo made its procurement and sales according to
market trends and needs, such as the newly released new model
smartphones, and sold the products to distributors at a corresponding
premium. Distributors are usually local entities which lack an extensive
supplier network. Procuring related products through Minshang Ningbo
would have certain advantages in terms of price and form a circulation
in a large scale.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

During the Year under Review, the Group operates its IT Solution REREFE  AEEZEB()AEREEIRETR
Business in the PRC through () Bl /8 R B Al R B F & CRYI) AR FORIDBRAR([AIEBRE]) i) HEER
A 7] (“Qianhai Minshang’) and (i) 5 & & % (It R) B HBR A 7 (SR BEERAR(SEBER]) NP HLE
(“Changjing Wanxiang”). HEMBRBRRTRER -

Qianhai Minshang aims to provide digital solutions for industrial
upgrading and digital solutions for customer marketing to its B-end
customers. Its customers include real estate developers, banks
and financial institutions, and other institutions. Qianhai Minshang
is primarily engaged in the following businesses: (i) providing
customer acquisition solutions to banks and financial institutions,
encompassing credit assessment, risk control management and
operational support. By leveraging on our intelligent operational
solutions, these institutions can more effectively manage their
customer relationships and sales and marketing work on their
retail customers. By leveraging on our intelligent risk control
solutions, banks can achieve more accurate risk assessment
and process automation, thereby further reducing credit risks
and costs in the operation of retail banking business; (i) offering
partner marketing systems to real estate developers. By
leveraging on our advanced digital technologies, we help real
estate developers in effectively managing their part-time sales
persons and various sales channels, motivating enthusiasm and
innovation of sales persons to the utmost extent while ensuring
standardized operation, expanding their online and offline sales
channels, thereby improving sales efficiency and achieving
targets on sales growth; and (iii) providing customized technology
development services to other institutions.

In the current digital era, the science and technology is
developing rapidly. In particular, the ChatGPT and Microsoft
Copilot has become a phenomenon of artificial intelligence
(“Al”) in 2023, which indicated explosion of Al industry. Al is
being widely promoted and adopted across various sectors,
which has demonstrated significant transformative power and
created a new Al-enabled ecosystem. There is an urgent need
for traditional industries to adopt advanced technology to keep
pace with innovative development, which has created vast market
opportunities for us. Therefore, the Company has prospectively
explored and developed layout in the Al field through Qianhai
Minshang. Qianhai Minshang is committed to developing and
promoting Al scenario applications. By utilizing open-source or
commercial and large common models as the foundation, we
have created a range of Al products that can function in real
scenarios. These products include C-end products and B-end
services.

AIBREE BMBmE P RRERFEETT
MR RARBF TP EHBRT R ©
HEPREMWERER RITMSEEE
AR EMERE - fBRANEBEIZEHE
RORITREBEBRHBEZHEARATE
RTRBRECEENE REEEMNEL
X o BBRMANEEZERANE <
HEMAMMEREEPARAMYTE
BEFHMHEEMEHETE - BERMNES
RAE AR T 2 - RTTRESEIB E EREA A
A EAMRIEE B B EEZTER
TEBELHNEERRE - BEEMKAK : i
WwERZERREHRABAZHES KX
AEENBEFBRMFE  BRYIFLEN
BETHEABRSHERENAUER
ERERBDELNRE  SARE A
HEABNBEEMEIFL - BB ER
EHBEAERLIMRTHHEERE  TE
AR REERE - R bz HEE
REBE DA K (iil) 2 b #4618 52 15 5E il (E 7
R R o

EEAREARERNBF(EER  TH
ChatGPT } Microsoft Copilot 7£ 2023 4 #fft £
TAIZEg (A2 EHEEATTED
BEARNBZELRERRSITEER
BRBHTERMNEENE B TARE
ER - ERTEHRYFTERRALER
WIREBIFHER  REMBRTELSEM
WSS - At RARRBAIERE
FEAEEGET TRIEMEANRZEMRD Al
BREABANAZNERARSSER -
BBEFARRKENANBRARNREIER
EE -ERMBET —RIEATER SR
FEEBERMNAEMm BELEm”» RCiH
/EE m M B 3 AR 7% <

2024 F F 3R



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DM
information provider Qianhai Minshang
BRRHS AIBERME
v v
large

commercial models

product application

We promote our C-end products through WeChat ecosystem. At
present, we have already launched Al copywriting tools. These
products not only offer user-friendly and efficient solutions for
general users, but also introduce new customer experiences in
intelligent technology at the application level. We are innovatively
combining Al with specific scenarios to develop Al application
products, such as the parenting product, Al fairy tale, and Al
metaphysics products tailored to specific customer needs. These
new products can better satisfy the needs of users and further
expand our market. Our B-end business will provide Al-enabled
technology services in scenarios for corporate clients. Our goal
is that our Al-enabled services will enable our partners to more
effectively reduce costs and improve efficiency, and meet their
demand for business development, thus creating greater value for
businesses.
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Changjing Wanxiang has been principally engaged in the
provision and design of SaaS systems and IT solution services
to its customers including financial institutions and merchants
ranging from the retail, food and beverage, travel, lifestyle sectors,
to build and improve their direct operation capabilities with their
digital users through membership services.

Changjing Wanxiang mainly provides services including (i) design
of membership rights such as membership management,
membership mall, membership rights, membership points,
community operation tools, membership merchandise promaotion,
marketing activities, mini-games for members and community
marketing tools; and (i) procurement and distribution of goods
and products sold in the membership mall and checkout and
settlement service. Changjing Wanxiang also directly sells
products such as food items and brand vouchers to end users
through online platforms. Changjing Wanxiang brings together
quality digital consumer rights in relation to goods and services
such as brand vouchers and actual products from different
brands. Through the consumption scenes in multiple industries
and by acting as the smart hub in the distribution chain, Changjing
Wanxiang provides comprehensive and quality consumption
service experience for C-end customers while serving its B-end
customers.

Revenue of the Group decreased by approximately HK$96.4 million,
from HK$106.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to HK$10.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2024. The decrease in revenue was
mainly due to the decrease in revenue from IT Solution Business during
the year ended 31 March 2024 and the disposal of Vietnamese-style
Restaurant Business in April 2023 as abovementioned.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

The revenue of restaurants operation decreased by 95.1%, or HK$44.1
million, from HK$46.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
HK$2.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2024. Such decrease was
mainly due to the disposal of Vietnamese-style Restaurant Business as
abovementioned.

Despite the gradual recovery of domestic economy in the PRC, the
overall business environment remains complex and volatile. Given the
profit margin can be generated from the trading business is considered
to be minimal as compared to other business segments of the Group,
the management remains sitting on the fence in respect of the trading
business, and to temporarily re-allocate the available resources to other
business segments of the Group, so as to achieve the best return for
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The Group’s trading business has been encountering various
challenges. Nonetheless, the Group will continue to develop the trading
business and diversify its products mix should suitable opportunities
arise. It is expected that the global economy will recover gradually,
the Group remains optimistic on the mid to long-term prospects of its
trading business.

The revenue of IT Solution Business decreased by 86.8%, or HK$52.1
million, from HK$60.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
HK$8.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2024. Such decrease in
revenue was mainly due to the severe macro-economic environment in
the PRC, resulted in softening of demands.

The cost of revenue mainly comprised of the cost of food and
beverages, the cost of inventories sold and cost of IT Solution Business.
Cost of revenue decreased by HK$53.1 million, from HK$61.4 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to HK$8.3 million for the year ended
31 March 2024. The cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue
increased from 57.6% for the year ended 31 March 2023 to 80.8% for
the year ended 31 March 2024.
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The Group’s cost of food and beverages decreased by 95.3%,
or HK$12.3 million, from HK$12.9 million for the year ended 31
March 2023 to HK$0.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2024.
The decrease was mainly due to the disposal of Vietnamese-style
Restaurant Business as abovementioned.

The Group had not recorded any cost of inventories sold for the year
ended 31 March 2024 due to the slow down of the Group’s Trading
Business as abovementioned.

The cost of revenue from IT Solution Business decreased by 84.2%,
or HK$40.9 million, from HK$48.5 million for the year ended 31 March
2023 to HK$7.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2024. Such
decrease was in line with the drop in revenue from IT Solution Business.

The Group’s staff costs decreased by 79.6%, or HK$18.4 million, from
HK$23.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to HK$4.7 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024. Such decrease was primarily due
to the decrease in headcount as a result of the disposal of Viethamese-
style Restaurant Business.

The Group’s property rentals and related expenses (being the aggregate
of lease rental, depreciation of right-of-use assets and the interest
expenses arisen from lease liabilities) decreased by 94.1%, or HK$14.3
million, from HK$15.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
HK$0.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2024. The decrease was
mainly due to the disposal of Viethamese-style Restaurant Business
during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

During the Year Under Review, the Group’s impairment losses on
financial assets mainly represents the impairment losses on trade
receivables from the IT Solution Business.

Under the requirement of HKFRS 9, the general approach and the
simplified approach are both applicable methodologies to the expected
credit loss (the “ECL”) assessment of financial assets. The general
approach performs migration analysis on an entity’s aging record and
recognises a loss allowance based on either 12-month or lifetime ECLs;
whereas the simplified approach does not require an entity to track
credit risk changes but instead requires the entity to recognise a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs.

The Group adopted the simplified approach and carried out the
assessment on the ECL of trade receivables with reference to a
valuation report issued by an independent professional valuer, of which
the ECL was estimated by considering (i) the probability of default, the
expected default rate determined with reference to both qualitative and
quantitative factors regarding the trade receivables which included but
not limited to debtor’s credit ratings, financial position and economic
outlook; (i) the exposure at default is equivalent to the outstanding
balance; (jii) forward-looking factor; and (iv) loss given default, which are
sourced from Moody’s Annual Default Study.

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset
is overdue for more than 90 days unless it is supported by reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate. The major reason of such significant
impairment made during the Year Under Review was mainly due to
severe economic environment, the gloomy atmosphere of the market
had impacted the repayment ability of the customers, certain trade
receivables have been overdue for more than 18 months up to the date
of this report. Therefore, based on the assessment result, the Group
recognised impairment losses on trade receivable of approximately
HK$23,548,000.
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The Group held 50% equity interest in It R R E = E F 15 AR
A & (Beijing Minshang Zhihui E-commerce Co., Ltd*, “Minshang
Zhihui”) through a wholly-owned subsidiary, MSCT Investment Limited
(R Al RH% & B R A 7)), which was recognised as investment in
associate. Minshang Zhihui was primarily engaged in technology and
e-commerce related business with a focus on its scenario marketing
system and supply chain management capability to provide various
banks, financial institutions and sizable corporations with e-commerce
service. Minshang Zhihui mainly developed and operated e-commerce
platforms for commercial banks in the PRC, and generated profits by
selling goods on platforms developed for large-scale corporation and
platforms owned by Minshang Zhihui (i.e. 2 = &, 28§12 and
E k). Share of post-tax results of associate decreased by 206.0%,
or HK$25.6 million, from profit of HK$12.4 million for the year ended
31 March 2023 to loss of HK$13.2 million for the year ended 31 March
2024. The decrease in share of results of Minshang Zhihui was mainly
due to the severe macro-economic environment in the PRC. The major
customers of Minshang Zhihui are financial institutions, under the
pressure of the macro economy, which has severely impacted the profit
of the institutions, which in turn, led to a direct cut back in customer
benefits promotion and staff welfares.

The Company’s issued share capital as at 31 March 2024 was
HK$2,233,187 divided into 893,274,910 ordinary shares of the
Company with par value of HK$0.0025 each.

Being affected by the factors referred to above, the loss attributable to
the shareholders of the Company was approximately HK$35.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024 as compared to the loss attributable
to the shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$1.4 million for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

* English name is translated for identification purpose only.
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As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
HK$10.5 million, representing an increase of 7.7%, or HK$0.8 million,
as compared with HK$9.7 million as at 31 March 2023.

The issued shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 29 November 2016 (the “Listing Date” and the
“Listing”, respectively). The Group will continue to use the internal
generated cash flows and proceeds received from the Listing as a
source of funding for future developments.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s total current assets and current
liabilities were HK$61.1 million (2023: HK$83.7 million) and HK$26.7
million (2023: HK$43.5 million) respectively, while the current ratio was
about 2.3 times (2023: 1.9 times).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no bank and other borrowings
(2023: Same).

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date
with net proceeds from the global offering of the Shares of HK$70.9
million. As disclosed in the announcements of the Company “Change
in Use of Proceeds from Listing” published on 19 September 2019,
24 September 2021 and 10 November 2023, having carefully
considered the current business environment and development needs
of the Group, the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
has resolved to change the proposed use of part of the Unutilised
Net Proceeds in the amount of HK$20 million originally allocated for
broadening cuisine offerings, to (i) investing in new businesses on
supply trading on food and other consumer goods; and (ii) working
capital and general corporate purposes on 19 September 2019;
and resolved to change the proposed use of part of the Unutilised
Net Proceeds in the amount of HK$10 million originally allocated for
broadening cuisine offerings to working capital and general corporate
purposes on 24 September 2021; and further resolved to change the
proposed use of the remaining Unutilised Net Proceeds in an aggregate
amount of HK$9.7 million, of which HK$7.0 million originally allocated
for broadening cuisine offerings, HK$2.2 million for upgrade and expand
food processing centre and HK$0.5 million for upgrade information
technology systems, to working capital and general corporate purposes
on 10 November 2023.
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The use of the net proceeds from the Listing as at 31 March 2024 was
approximately as follows:

Original
allocation  Re-allocations

Use of Proceeds FERERR Rl EHOR
(n HKS millor) —(in HKS millon)
(BE%r) (FEETL)
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R2024F3A31H ' FHMAIEREFERNEA
RT5R®

Expected timeline
for utilisation of

Revised Amount Amount the Unutilised
allocation utilised remaining Net Proceeds
ABARGHERE

EysE EBAER BTEE ROEREER

(i HKS millor) — (in HKS millon)— (in HKS millon)

(B&%7T) (BE%r)  (BEET)

Maintain and expand Viet's Choice ~ ##5 R #E 72 165 - 165 (16.5) - N/A
brand restaurants 2B TR
Broaden cuisine offerings BRARENRES 436 (37.0) 6.6 (6.6 - NA
TER
Upgrade and expand food R EEERENT 23 2.2 0.1 0.1 - NA
processing centre il TER
Upgrade information FREAREZS 19 (0.5) 14 (14) - NA
technology systems Taf
Broaden the promotion of RAAREFRRAEE 11 = 1.1 (11 - NA
brand image and recognition NGl
Working capital and general BEESR—REE 55 297 35.2 (29.2) 6.0 By March 2026
corporate purposes A 20263 A5 2
Invest in new supply chain business R & Hr it fESEE % 0 100 100 (10.0 - NA
TR
Total @it 709 - 70.9 (64.9) 6.0

The Net Proceeds utilised and the Unutilised Net Proceeds were/will
be utilised according to the proposed application as specified in the
section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus
of the Company dated 17 November 2016 (“Prospectus”), the
Company’s announcements dated 19 September 2019, 13 August
2020, 24 September 2021 and 10 November 2023.
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On 27 April 2023, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party (the “Buyer”), pursuant to
which the Company agreed to sell and the Buyer agreed to acquire
100% equity interests in Prosperity One Limited and its subsidiaries (the
“Disposal Group”) at a cash consideration of HK$31 million. Detail of
the same may refer to the Company’s announcement dated 27 April
2023.

The Board is of the view that the Vietnamese-style Restaurant Business
has been materially adversely affected by the outbreak of COVID-19 in
the past few years, despite the social distancing and travel restriction
measures having been lifted and the outbreak of COVID-19 being
under control in Hong Kong, with the negative market sentiment, local
consumers’ low inclination to dine out and keen competition in the
food and beverage industry, it is expected that the Vietnamese-style
Restaurant Business may not have a significant improvement in its
business performance in near to medium-term.

As such, the Board considers that it is a good opportunity to dispose
of the Vietnamese-style Restaurant Business at a reasonable price and
the proceeds from the disposal can further strengthen the cash position
of the Group and will allow the Group to focus its resources and finance
the development of the IT Solution Business which may have a greater
growth potential.

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 29
April 2024, on 27 April 2024, Minshang Shenzhen entered into the
Cooperation Agreement with Beijing Bio-Energy and Hainan Energy,
pursuant to which Minshang Shenzhen, Beijing Bio-Energy and Hainan
Energy agreed to establish the Subsidiary to develop the Renewable
Energy Technology Business.
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The parties shall make a total contribution of RMB50 million, of
which Minshang Shenzhen shall contribute RMB25.5 million in cash,
accounting for 51% of the registered capital of the Subsidiary; Beijing
Bio-Energy shall contribute RMB17.5 million in cash, accounting for
35% of the registered capital of the Subsidiary; and Hainan Energy shall
contribute RMB7 million in cash, accounting for 14% of the registered
capital of the Subsidiary. The parties shall make their respective capital
contributions within 5 years from the date which the Subsidiary has
completed its business registration.

The amount of capital contribution was determined after arm’s length
negotiations between the parties with reference to the expected capital
requirements and the preliminary business plan of the Subsidiary. The
capital contribution to be made by the Company will be funded by
internal resources of the Group.

The Company has been actively exploring opportunities to enhance
the competitiveness of the Group and to enhance the value of the
Company to its Shareholders. The establishment of the Subsidiary
represents a strategic initiative for the Company to explore opportunities
in the emerging green and low-carbon industry, which facilitates the
acceleration of the deployment of renewable energy. With the support
of Beijing Bio-Energy which possess technology in the Renewable
Energy Technology Business and a team of seasoned professionals,
the Board believes that the Subsidiary will be well positioned to
explore opportunities in such business. The Board considers that the
establishment of the Subsidiary and the terms of the Cooperation
Agreement are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there was no significant events occurred
since the end of the Year under Review and up to the date of this
report.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 9 employees (2023: 54
employees). Remuneration is determined by reference to prevailing
market terms and in accordance with the performance, qualification and
experience of each individual employee. The Group also encouraged
employees to enhance their overall career development and knowledge
and skills through continuous education and training courses, so as to
realize their personal potential.
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The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company, with reference to their
respective contribution of time, effort and expertise on the Company’s
matters. The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 8 November 2016 to reward the participants
defined thereunder for their contribution to the Group’s success and
to provide them with incentives to further contribute to the Group. The
Share Option Scheme has become effective on 29 November 2016. In
addition, employees are entitled to performance and discretionary year-
end bonuses.

No share option was granted during the Year Under Review. As at 31
March 2024, the Company had no outstanding share option under the
Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any mortgage or charge
over its assets.

The Company’s long-term goal is to is to become a diversified
and integrated group of high-efficiency industrial chain and scale
business with a determination to establish a diversified and integrated
e-commerce platform of consumer products, while exploring the
opportunities in low-carbon and green energy transformation.

For the Trading Business and IT Solution Business, the Group’s sales
and purchases were mainly denominated in RMB. The Group was
exposed to foreign exchange risk based on the fluctuations between
HK$ and RMB arising from the businesses in the PRC. The Group
does not employ any financial instruments for hedging purposes. While
the Board currently does not expect currency fluctuations to materially
impact the Group’s operations, the Board will review the foreign
exchange exposure of the Group from time to time as appropriate.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.
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The Company'’s strategic goal is to become a diversified and integrated
group of high-efficiency industrial chain and scale business with a
determination to establish a diversified and integrated e-commerce
platform of consumer products, while exploring the opportunities in
low-carbon and green energy transformation. In the foreseeable future,
we remain confident in the business prospects of the Group.

Along with the technological advancement in the last decade,
digital economy has been rapidly developing and becomes
a major trend of interaction between merchants and users.
Meantime, industries and enterprises are facing various
challenges brought by COVID-19 pandemic in recent years,
which has however boosted up the “non-contact” online services
and digital transformation in businesses. The development of
various industries in the current era is focusing on user demand,
offering better end-users experience and providing high-quality
services and products, which is of great strategic significance to
the development of enterprises by gaining end-users’ loyalty to
the brand through digital transformation.

The Directors anticipated that the extensive applications of “non-
contact” online services and digital transformation in businesses
in post-pandemic era would drive the growth of the IT Solution
Business and bring more business opportunities to the software
and IT solutions projects of the Group. The Company believes
that the SaaS industry in the PRC has a significant room for
expansion with a lot of the Chinese enterprises start to shift
away from hardware infrastructure to cloud-based infrastructure.
Together with the Group’s existing IT Solution Business, the
Group strives to maintain the existing customers base of its IT
Solution Business, and aims to further increase its market shares
by exploring the customer and business needs and promoting the
e-commerce platform operations, live broadcast operations and
[T solutions outsourcing services.

In the future, the Group will unswervingly optimise our IT Solution
Business by continuously enhancing the experience of products
and services to a wide range of enterprises in different industries
in order to create value-added benefits to the enterprises.

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

ARANEEBRERK A —EZ T - —BIEH
SREXEMRBCLERE TERIS T
—BENHEEEERETAKIE  AKKER
B MAr 2t REAMEE - A FHLARRK
BB RENEBASEATRELD

BERBETEFNRMRER  BBLHERR

HBE KARRERFPESHNASZHE -
Rl —BfE - 2019 B R mEREBREFR
BETEREEFRZERS - SR ED
Tl %&LHW%%ME%%M%%@ o
BSHE  RETENBROEERPEL
BRTRHAPEERR Tﬂ BERS
REm ERBBENFRRInHFE Y n
A SR BEEERBEFENRBESR -

BT EREBEER  [EEMHIR L
REMEZEBMEENEFTLERE#
FEMBEBATREBNER  UAKR
SENRGREARRERTRIBR K
BEEK e RARMARGE  BETZREA
%Eﬁﬁéﬁéﬁ%ﬁt% PR pEEE M E R E R AR

e - PR SaaSTTHE AR A ERZEM ©
IMEREERBEHNBEARBEATRER -
REESNHEFHEMBBATRER
WIRBEFPE j’z%%tiﬁ?ﬁf%ﬁ%ﬂ%
BHRK HEDEFHHTRES EEE
EMEMBBEATRIINCIRE  #E—2
REEMBHE -

RO A B T B L A SRR
BATREY THASTSENEAD
AmkE QMR EE AL EEERE
Wz -

2024 F F 3R



Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

Despite the challenges the Group is facing under the global and
domestic economy environment, the Group will still strive to
maintain and develop in its Trading Business as well as exploring
new opportunities.

The restaurant operation has been materially adversely affected
by the outbreak of COVID-19, with the negative market sentiment,
local consumers’ low inclination to dine out and keen competition
in the food and beverage industry in Hong Kong, it is expected
that the Vietnamese-style Restaurant Business may not have a
significant improvement in its business performance in near to
medium-term. As such, the management considers that it is a
good opportunity to dispose of the Vietnamese-style Restaurant
Business at a reasonable price. Yet, the management is still
exploring for new opportunities in the food and beverage industry
and may continue its food and beverage business should suitable
opportunities arise.

Our management team has a long-term vision and a marvellous
pool of talents. Through continuous exploration, the Group
believes that challenges will bring opportunities and it strives
to achieve brilliant results by riding on the wind and waves and
forging ahead towards the goal of becoming the mainstay of the
industry, in a bid to generate higher profits for the Group and
greater value for Shareholders and create a grand chapter for the
era.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. WU Jiangtao (“Mr. Wu”), aged 48, is the Chairman of the Board,
an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
since 6 July 2018. Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor’s degree in monetary
and banking from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics in July
1998, a master’s degree of economics from Chinese Academy of
Social Science in July 2007 and a Ph.D degree in finance from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics in December 2012. Mr. Wu was
the chairman of the board of directors and chief executive officer of
Minsheng E-Commerce Co., Ltd (R A B F & #%H R & E 2 7)) from
December 2013 to April 2015. Mr. Wu has been the chairman of the
board of directors of Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd (“Minsheng E-Commerce”) since April 2015 until now. Prior to
joining Minsheng E-Commerce Co., Ltd, Mr. Wu served as the branch
manager of China Minsheng Bank Wuhan Branch from November 2011
to December 2013.

Mr. Wu has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”). Mr. Wu will receive a director’s remuneration of
HK$10,000 monthly which was determined with reference to his duties
and responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the prevailing
market conditions.

Mr. TAO Jingyuan (“Mr. Tao”), aged 39, is an executive Director of the
Company since 6 March 2020 and the chief executive officer of the
Company since 30 November 2022. Mr. Tao received his bachelor’s
degree in Engineering Mechanics at Tsinghua University in July 2007
and his master’s degree in Finance at the University of Hong Kong
in June 2012. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Tao had worked as
senior manager of corporate business department of Harvest Fund
Management Co., Ltd. from July 2007 to July 2010; vice president of
Asia Pacific region business department of Harvest Global Investments
from August 2010 to May 2012; General Manager of private banking
department of China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd Wuhan Branch
from May 2012 to July 2015. After that, Mr. Tao joined Minsheng
E-Commerce in September 2015 and has been serving as vice president
of Minsheng E-Commerce & General Manager of Finance Division and
is appointed as the chief executive officer of Minsheng E-Commerce
since July 2022.
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Mr. Tao has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Tao will receive a
director’s remuneration of HK$10,000 monthly which was determined
with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company, his
experience and the prevailing market conditions, but will not receive
remuneration for his services as the CEO of the Company.

Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael (“Mr. Lai”), aged 37, is an executive Director
of the Company since 30 November 2022. Mr. Lai joined the Group
since July 2018, served as deputy general manager of Hong Kong
business department of Minsheng E-Commerce, promoted and as
general manager of Hong Kong business department of Minsheng
E-Commerce from January 2023. Mr. Lai received his bachelor’s degree
in Law at Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics in July 2012 and
has over 10 years of experience in cross boarder business, specialising
in Hong Kong-Mainland China businesses. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Lai worked in China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd, Hong Kong
Branch, as relationship manager of commodities and frozen product
department from September 2012 to May 2015, and was promoted as
the team head of cross boarder business department from May 2015
to June 2018.

Mr. Lai has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Lai will receive a director’s
remuneration of HK$10,000 monthly, and is adjusted to HK$54,000
monthly with effect from 1 April 2024, which was determined with
reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company, his
experience and the prevailing market conditions.

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy (“Mr. Choi”), aged 61, is an independent
non-executive Director and the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company since 6 July 2018. Mr. Choi has over 35 years of experience
in finance and auditing. Mr. Choi has been an independent non-
executive director of Prinx Chengshan (Cayman) Holding Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1809.HK) since 10 September 2018. From October 2016 to
August 2017, Mr. Choi was an independent non-executive director of
Ernest Borel Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1856.HK). From January
2007 to November 2015, Mr. Choi was an independent non-executive
director of Fufeng Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 546.HK) and from February
2016 to February 2017, he was an independent non-executive director
of PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2078.HK).
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Mr. Choi graduated from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (currently
known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) in 1985. He is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, a fellow Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), a fellow
member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Choi is now a committee member of Professional Development
Committee and Branding and Communication Committee of the
HKICPA. He has also been a council member of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Merchants Mutual Assistance Society Limited since October 2013.
He was a council member of The Society of Chinese Accountants
and Auditors from 2010 to 2015. He has been elected as an honorary
financial advisor of Hong Kong and Kowloon Rattan Ware Merchants
Association (Wing Hing Tong) in 2018.

Mr. Choi has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company as
an independent non-executive Director for a term of one year subject
to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Choi
received a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000 annually, and is
adjusted to HK$240,000 annually with effect from 1 July 2023, which
was determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the
Company, his experience and the prevailing market conditions.

Mr. CHEUNG Miu (“Mr. M. Cheung”), aged 54, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 6 July 2018, obtained
a bachelor’s degree in business administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in December 1992 and a master’s degree in
business administration from The University of New South Wales in May
1998. Mr. M. Cheung has years of experiences in the finance industry.
He joined CITIC Capital Holdings Limited in 1999 and is currently
a senior managing director and head of structured investment and
finance of CITIC Capital Holdings Limited. He has been appointed as a
director of China National Investment & Guaranty Corporation, shares
of which are listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations,
since 25 April 2017. He was employed by Commonwealth Bank of
Australia from January 1998 to May 1999 and his last position with the
bank was as executive in the corporate finance department. He was
the assistant manager of the investment banking department of Societe
Generale Asia Limited from January 1995 to February 1996.
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Mr. M. Cheung has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director for a term of one
year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.
Mr. M. Cheung received a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000
annually, and is adjusted to HK$240,000 annually with effect from
1 July 20283, which was determined with reference to his duties and
responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the prevailing
market conditions.

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To (“Mr. P.T. Cheung”), BBS, aged 75, is an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since 6 July 2018.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of Amasse Capital
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8168.HK) and also an independent non-
executive director of Greenheart Group Limited (stock code: 94.HK).
He was an independent non-executive director of National Agricultural
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1236.HK) from 1 January 2017 to 8
November 2019. Mr. P.T. Cheung holds a master’s degree in public
administration from the University of Hong Kong of which he was
accorded as a distinguished alumnus in 2007. Mr. P.T. Cheung has
extensive management and administrative experiences. From 1969,
Mr. P.T. Cheung had served with the United Kingdom Government,
British Forces in Hong Kong for 21 years, with his final post as a
Civilian Executive Officer. Thereafter from 1989, he was employed by
the Securities and Futures Commission Hong Kong for 20 years, with
his final position as Senior Manager of the Finance & Administration
Department. On the social and community responsibilities front, Mr.
P.T. Cheung was a devoted volunteer officer in the Hong Kong Civil Aid
Service for 30 years during which he was appointed as honorary Aide-
de-Camp to the former Governors Lord Wilson and Mr. Christopher
Patten; and Mr. Tung Chee-hwa, the former Chief Executive of Hong
Kong Government, for 10 consecutive years from 1990 to 1999. Mr.
P.T. Cheung achieved the rank of Assistant Commissioner in the Hong
Kong Civil Aid Service and was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star
by the Hong Kong Government in 2003. Mr. Cheung has been the
chairman of United Services Recreation Club Limited since June 2015.

Mr. P.T. Cheung has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director for a term of one
year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.
Mr. Cheung received a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000 annually,
and is adjusted to HK$240,000 annually with effect from 1 July 2023,
which was determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities
with the Company, his experience and the prevailing market conditions.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to its
Shareholders and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value
through good corporate governance.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view of ensuring
that its objectives are met. The Board is committed to maintaining and
developing robust corporate governance practices that are intended to
ensure:

satisfactory and sustainable returns to shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded;

- that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately; and

- that high standards of ethic are maintained.

The Board is committed to achieving high corporate governance
standards.

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating elements of
good corporate governance in the management structures, internal
control and risk management procedures of the Group so as to achieve
effective accountability.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) as disclosed in this annual report, has complied with
all applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year
ended 31 March 2024.
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The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as contained in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct governing
the securities transactions by the Directors. Following a specific enquiry
made by the Company on each of the Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they had complied with the Model Code during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the
Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and ensures
that the requisite financial and human resources support is in place for
the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions performed by the
Board include but are not limited to formulating the Group’s business
plans and strategies, deciding all significant financial (including major
capital expenditure) and operational issues, developing, monitoring
and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance practices and all
other functions reserved to the Board under the Articles. The Board
has established Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference. The Board may from time to time delegate certain
functions to management of the Group if and when considered
appropriate. The management is mainly responsible for the execution of
the business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board and
assigned to it from time to time.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and are

entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense.
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The Company is committed to holding the view that the Board should
include a balanced composition of executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) so that there is a strong
independent element on the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgment.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises the following
six Directors, three of whom are executive Directors and the other three
are INEDs. Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. WU Jiangtao (Chairman)

Mr. TAO Jingyuan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy

Mr. CHEUNG Miu

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report. The relationships between the Directors are
disclosed in the respective Director’s biography under the section
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual
Report. Saved as disclosed above, there is no relationships (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s))
between the Board members and in particular, between the Chairman
and the Chief Executive.

The INEDs have brought in a wide range of business and financial
expertise, experience and independent judgement to the Board.
Through active participation in the Board meetings and serving on
various Board committees, all INEDs will continue to make various
contributions to the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company had three or more
INEDs, representing more than one-third of the Board members, which
has exceeded the requirement of the Listing Rules that the number
of INEDs must represent at least one-third of the Board members,
and also met the requirement that at least one of the INEDs has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.
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The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. Based on such confirmation, the Company considers that all
the INEDs are independent and have met the independence guidelines
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
March 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

The Chairman holds at least one meeting with the non-executive
Directors (including the INEDs) without the presence of the other
executive Director annually.

Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the
Directors has been arranged by the Company.

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure
a strong independent element on the Board, which allows the Board
effectively exercises independent judgment to better safeguard
shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement or
further development.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the Board
will conduct annual review on its independence and the results were
satisfactory.

Each of the Directors has received a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and is fully aware of the director’s responsibilities under
statue and common law, the Listing Rules, other legal and regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.

The Company will provide briefings to all Directors from time to time to
develop and refresh their duties and responsibilities. All Directors are
also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expense and they have been requested to provide the Company with
their training records.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Directors were provided
with monthly updates on the Company’s performance and position
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties. All Directors were encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to enhance and refresh their knowledge and
skills.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024 is
as follows:

Name of Directors EENA

Mr. WU Jiangtao RILERE
Mr. TAO Jingyuan MREf R A
Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael FERENS 5 A4
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy BT sE
Mr. CHEUNG Miu 5RO S A

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To SRAAME % A4

The nature of continuous professional development programs includes
attending seminars/conferences/forums or reading newspapers,
journals and updates relating to the economy, general business,
corporate governance, Listing Rules and other laws and regulation
amendments and directors’ duties and responsibilities.

The Company has purchased insurances for all Directors to
minimise risks that may be incurred in their normal performance of
responsibilities.
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The Board meets regularly, and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at
least 14 days in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice is given
in a reasonable time in advance. The Directors are allowed to include
any matter in the agenda that is required for discussion and resolution
at the meeting. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on
issues arising at each of the Board meetings and to make informed
decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers are sent
to all Directors at least three days before the intended date of the
regular Board meeting, or such other period as agreed for other Board
meetings. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the minutes will be circulated to the Directors
for comments and record respectively within a reasonable time after
each meeting and the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board convened a total
of 6 meetings in person or by means of electronic communication.
The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and general
meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31 March 2023 is
as follows:

Name of Directors EENE
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. WU Jiangtao RIIBkEE

Mr. TAO Jingyuan PEER L&

Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael RERENE 5E 4
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHITES
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy BTHEE

Mr. CHEUNG Miu SO St A

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To SRAAKE A4
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The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) in November 2018 setting out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of
Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments will
continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills and knowledge and length of service.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board is
sufficiently diverse and the Board had set any measurable objectives.
Selection of candidates to the Board is based on a range of measurable
objectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service, having due regard to the Company’s
own business model and specific needs from time to time.

With the existing Board members coming from a variety of business
and professional background, the Company considers that the Board
possesses a balance of skills, experience, expertise and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Board will continue to review its composition and the
measurable objectives from time to time and at least annually taking
into consideration specific needs for the Group’s business.

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange will
not consider diversity to be achieved for a single gender board. At
present, the Company has a single gender Board. However, the Board
is fully alerted the issue and shall appoint at least a director of a different
gender on the Board no later than 31 December 2024 in order to
comply with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Board shall also
take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels within the Company.
The gender ratio in the workforce is set out in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report.

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The
Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties.

The terms of reference of the Board Committee are posted on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are
available to Shareholders upon request.
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As at 31 March 2024, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHOI Tze Kit,
Sammy, Mr. CHEUNG Miu and Mr. CHEUNG Pak To. The Audit
Committee is chaired by Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy who possesses
relevant professional qualification and expertise in financial reporting
matters.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and annual results for the year ended 31 March 2024.
The Audit Committee is of the view that the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the statutory provisions,
and sufficient disclosures have already been made.

The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee include but are
not limited to:

° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors, and approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors, and handling any questions regarding its resignation or
dismissal;

° reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards and discussing with
the external auditors on the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences;

e developing and implementing a policy on engaging external
auditors to supply non-audit services and reporting to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed;

. monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, and half-year report, as well as
reviewing significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them;

e reviewing the Company’s financial controls, and risk management
and internal control systems;

° discussing the risk management and internal control systems with

the management to ensure that the management has performed
its duty to have such effective systems;
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e considering major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings;

° where an internal audit function exists, ensuring co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, ensuring that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and reviewing and
monitoring its effectiveness;

° reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

° reviewing the external auditors’ management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditors to management about the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response;

° ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditors’ management letters; and

° considering other topics as defined by the Board.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Audit Committee convened

two committee meetings. The attendance of each INED at the Audit
Committee meetings is as follows:

Name of Directors EEHR
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy BT A
Mr. CHEUNG Miu W& &
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To DRl

As at 31 March 2024, the Remuneration Committee consists of three
members, including two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. CHEUNG Miu and Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, and one executive
Director, namely Mr. WU Jiangtao. Mr. CHEUNG Miu is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.
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The principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include but are not limited to:

° making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing the remuneration policy;

° reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

. making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
the non-executive Directors;

° considering the salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment, responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

° reviewing and approving the compensation payable to the
executive Directors and senior management of the Company for
any loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with the contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not
excessive;

° reviewing and approving the compensation arrangements relating
to the dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with the contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

° ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates (as

defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Remuneration Committee
convened one committee meeting. The attendance of each Director
in the capacity of a member of the Remuneration Committee at its
meeting is as follows:

Name of Directors BEEHA
Mr. CHEUNG Miu OB A&
Mr. WU Jiangtao RILERE
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To R1BME &

As at 31 March 2024, the Nomination Committee consists of three
members, including two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. CHEUNG Pak To and Mr. CHEUNG Miu, and one
executive Director, namely Mr. WU Jiangtao. Mr. WU Jiangtao is
also the Chairman of the Board, and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include
but are not limited to:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually
and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

° identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

®  assessing the independence of the INEDs; and

° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for the
Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the chief executives of
the Company.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Nomination Committee
convened one committee meeting. The attendance of each Director in
the capacity of a member of the Nomination Committee at its meeting
is as follows:

Name of Directors BEEHA
Mr. WU Jiangtao RITEEAE
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To BRIl
Mr. CHEUNG Miu OB k&

The nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) was adopted by the
Company in November 2018. Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, in
evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the Nomination
Committee would consider the following criteria, including, among other
things, character and integrity, qualifications (cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy), any
potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms
of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and diversity, and
willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board and/or Board committee(s).

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt
of the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship. The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship with a ranking of the candidates (if applicable)
by order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate.

Annual Report 2024

REZ2024F3831BILFEE RREZE®
AR—AREECeH SEFURBEZEEK

BHbhFEEERZTHAT

=

WA XEH

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meeting

HERE SERH

11
11
11

IRABER (RBHE]) R2018F 11 AEAR R A
A o BIBIRABER  RTE BRI AESRR
AR IRBRZEBSHEENNZE  BIF(H
REE) MBEBEE ER (UERHBEES
EEER Ht B REBRUREEEZ T
BRI ZT{EAR) - BEANER K
BB BUMEZ /L AEAABESEER
WERBEER BARHSHETEAES
ek UEEZEGREBENEEKRED -

REZEER HEFEERINEZENESTD
EREMREANBEEEN (LBEBFB) R K
BB EZEREA  LWREZXREAZ
CEEMETIES REZBEHBRERERN
RAINFEEZRBUREANEEEZIZELIE
FEEREAETHE (MER) URNEZTSHER
ZEEERBEARES -



The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors, which includes but is not limited
to:

° developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

. reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

° reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

° reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this report.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Articles.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a causal vacancy shall
hold office until the first general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting and
shall then be eligible for re-election.
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All the Directors, including INEDs, are subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible for re-election in accordance with the Articles. At each
annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
at the AGM at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout
the meeting at which he/she retires. The Directors to retire by rotation
shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors
to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and does not offer
himself/herself for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be
those who have been the longest in office since their last re-election or
appointment and so that as between the persons who became or were
last re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2024 are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, Elite Partners CPA Limited was
engaged as the Group’s independent auditor.

The remuneration paid/payable to Elite Partners CPA Limited for the
year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

Audit services ZE R
Non-audit services IEZ ERTS
Total @st
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In addition, Elite Partners CPA Limited has stated in the independent
auditor’s report its reporting responsibilities on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems through the Audit Committee on an
annual basis. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its
oversight and corporate roles in the Group’s financial, operational,
compliance, risk management and internal controls, while management
designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal
control systems, and provides reports to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of these systems. However, systems
and internal controls can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed
to manage, rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the
Group’s business objectives.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has conducted an
annual review on the effectiveness and efficiency of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems in relation to the financial,
operational and compliance controls, and the results were summarised
and discussed with the Audit Committee and the Board. The Audit
Committee and the Board are satisfied with the effectiveness and
efficiency of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in the review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis. The Directors through the Audit Committee are kept
informed of significant risks (including Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”)-related risks) that may impact on the Group’s
performance.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group to be effective
and adequate. The Audit Committee has reviewed and is satisfied with
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting function, as well
as the Group’s ESG performance and reporting.

The Group maintained effective risk management and internal control in
all material respects, and the Board of Directors was not aware of any
significant or material defects in relation to the risk management and
internal control. The Board of Directors has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group and considered them effective and adequate.

The Group has adopted a risk management policy, the main objectives
of which is to ensure sustainable business growth with stability and to
promote a pro-active approach in reporting, evaluating and resolving
risks (including ESG-related risks) associated with the business, in order
to guide decisions on risk related issues.

The specific objectives of the policy are:

1. to ensure that all the current and future material risk exposures
of the Group are identified, assessed, quantified, appropriately
mitigated, minimized and managed i.e. to ensure adequate

systems for risk management.

2. to establish a framework for the Group’s risk management
process and to ensure its implementation.

3. to enable compliance with appropriate regulations, wherever
applicable, through the adoption of best practices.

4.  to assure business growth with financial stability.
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Risk identification is based on discussions and interviews with
management from different departments. Risks are preliminary identified
by management from the risk universe which is a collection of risks built
on environmental analysis and external benchmarking that can impact
the Group at the entity or specific business process level. Key risk
factors are then identified by integrating the results of the discussions
and interviews.

Risk evaluation is the second step to assess the relative impact and
likelihood of identified key risk factors. These identified key risk factors
are further assessed by a scale rating process by the management to
evaluate their impact and likelihood.

Risk prioritization is a mapping exercise. A risk map is used to prioritize
the identified key risk factors according to their impact and likelihood.

The Group has an internal audit function which is primarily responsible
for developing various internal control manuals and procedures,
conducting reviews on the key operational processes and the
related internal controls to ensure compliance with the Group’s risk
management and internal control policies and procedures. In addition,
the Board conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems, covering all material controls
such as financial, operational and compliance controls. In addition,
internal control review was conducted to review the internal control
systems of the Group on an on-going basis. Such review shall be
conducted annually. The Board considered that the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group for the year were effective
and adequate.
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The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information are as follows:

e the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

e the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and the Company’s website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential
or inside information; and

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so
that only the executive Directors, the Company Secretary and
the head of investor relations of the Company are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.

Ms. KWAN Sau In (“Ms. Kwan”) was appointed as the Company
Secretary with effect from 18 March 2024. She is currently a manager
of the Corporate Services Division of Tricor Services Limited, a global
professional services provider specializing in integrated business,
corporate and investor services. Before Ms. Kwan'’s appointment, Ms.
LI Yan Wing, Rita (“Ms. Rita Li"), an executive director of the Corporate
Services Division of Tricor Services Limited, was the Company
Secretary.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.
Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael, an Executive Director has been designated
as the primary contact person at the Company who would work and
communicate with Ms. Kwan on the Company’s corporate governance
and secretarial and administrative matters.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, Ms. Kwan and Ms. Rita Li have
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
respectively.
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The Company adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
in November 2018. The policy aims to allow the Shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the Company’s
liquidity to capture future growth opportunities. The Board intends to
recommend an annual dividend which would amount in total of not
less than 30% of the net profit from ordinary activities attributable to
Shareholders for full financial year but subject to, among other things,
the Company’s operational needs, earnings, financial condition, working
capital requirements and future business plans as the Board may deem
relevant at such time. Such intention does not amount to any guarantee
or representation or indication that the Company must or will declare
and pay dividend in such manner nor declare and not pay any dividend
at all. Cash dividends on the shares of the Company, if any, will be paid
in Hong Kong dollars.

The Company may from time to time consider paying interim dividends
and special dividends. The Board has complete discretion on whether
to pay a dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable.

The Board will review this policy from time to time and may adopt
changes as appropriate at the relevant time.
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There is no provision allowing Shareholders to make proposals or move
resolutions at the AGMs under the memorandum of association and the
Articles of Association of the Company (the “M&A”) or the laws of the
Cayman lIslands. Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move
a resolution may, however, convene an extraordinary general meeting
(the “EGM”) in accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to
convene an EGM” set out below.

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than 10% of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to require an EGM to be called by the Board or the
Company Secretary for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition, including making proposals or moving a resolution at
the EGM.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM for the purpose
of making proposals or moving a resolution at the EGM must
deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong (presently Unit 4201, 42/F, Tower One Lippo
Centre, 89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong) for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible

Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the Company,
the reason(s) to convene an EGM and the proposed agenda.
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The Company will check the Requisition and the identity and
shareholding of the Eligible Shareholder(s) will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong.
If the Requisition is found to be proper and in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM and/or include
the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) at the EGM within 2 months after the deposit of the
Requisition. On the contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as not
in order, the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of the
outcome and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM nor include
the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) at the EGM.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible
Shareholder(s) by the Company.

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong, presently at Unit 4201, 42/F, Tower One Lippo
Centre, 89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong, by post or by email at
ir-hk@msok.com, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Upon receipt of the enquiries, the Company Secretary will forward the
communications relating to:

1. the matters within the Board’s purview to the executive Directors;

2. the matters within a Board committee’s area of responsibility to
the chairman of the appropriate committee; and

3. ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, enquiries
and client complaints to the appropriate management of the
Company.

Corporate Governance Report
i%M\Aﬁd:

ARABBEMERE  AERBRRNOH D KK
BABARANEERNBFEL I REZE -
HEEERERABLEE  ARMEREXR
ExeiRE BZRERMEA NG RABERE?
RER/IRBERENREMHASERERE

HAEFEHIEZRRER - HR - HERKERE
RTEE ARG EBRRBEMNSUHER

AtE=Eg rTedmMRREIASTTER
BRENAREHNAREBBRIELNERNE
EHIRFESR

MEEGREEERE L?&%:%EIW”E%JEFEJ
Ag - AZERATZERANETERARE -

P N/NYC| /,\ﬁﬁfaAﬁT%Hxﬁfﬂﬁlﬁ%Aﬂi

BRAZAZSEBREERREEENTAE A E
BH -

BRANESSRLEALEE  FBHBHF=x
ERRNRREBNETES %i‘mgﬁ(iﬁﬂﬂ%i&%i
ELEESRNET L —FEL21E4201F) KE
B E jr-hk@msok.com * WiF A B R R FLE -

WRIZEERER REAMEREEATAEEA

1. FHESSRREEANNERENTES:
2. FRAEFZECHREREANFTEEME
ZEEXF R

3. —REKFEMDIES -
EAXARAREEERE -

RIS ENSE ST

2024 F F 3R



Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication policy
with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders will have equal and
timely access to information about the Company in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow
them to engage actively with the Company.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders through the
Company’s financial reports, AGMs and other EGMs that may be
convened as well as all the published disclosures submitted to the
Stock Exchange.

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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Environmental,-Social and Governance Report

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “we”) hereby presents its
eighth environmental, social and governance (the “ESG”) report (the
“Report”), which discloses the Group’s activities and performance on
issues of sustainable development in a transparent and open manner,
with the aim of enhancing the confidence and understanding of the
stakeholders toward the Group.

The scope of the Report covers the Group’s operation of IT solution
business and trading business in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”). During the year, the Group has disposed the restaurant
business, metrics pertaining to the food and beverage business have
been excluded from the current annual report.

The Report forms an integral part of our annual reporting and should be
read in conjunction with our 2023/24 Annual Report, and in particular
the Corporate Governance Report contained therein.

All information herein reflects the performance of the Group in
environmental management and social responsibility from 1 April 2023
to 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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REPORTING STANDARDS AND PRINCIPLES

The Report is prepared in accordance to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) as set out in Appendix
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Group
has complied with the “comply or explain” provisions and followed
the Reporting Principles set out in the ESG Guide to define the report
content and to ensure the quality of information presented, including:

HEEIRFE

ABETIRBBEBARZABRAE ([BX
i) @&H EmRBIMERC2FERE - HENE
AMmEES ([RE  ERERES ) MER -
AEBEEEBTRE HERKEREIIMENIT
BT AR X R BREERAERE R A
REREANBTLBERAZINEHNNER RS
JRAIEHE :

e Material ESG issues have been identified through stakeholder

M ateriality engagement and materiality assessment and reviewed by the top

HEEH o BABE - HEREA

B /AR

management to ensure their significance to our business operations.
R Y RB R &2 8 K E 2 R AT AR R
HERAEREEEURREHRMEKLENERE -

e (Quantitative metrics have been disclosed to monitor and evaluate our
ESG performance for year-to-year comparisons and keep track of our
progress toward our ESG targets.

o EERETHREUNERLTERMOERE He8RELARRNEE
TFEEERRBHMEFIEKRE  HERERBRNER -

e The report presented an unbiased assessment of the Group’s ESG
performance by highlighting our achievements and areas for
improvement in ESG management.

o AHEWMBBARPIERE G NEREET AR LT ELE

HRE - 2MEAKEIRR

- e REARBARENE

e The report has adopted consistent methodologies for a fair comparison
of our ESG performance over time. The Group has disclosed the
changes to the methods or key performance indicators (“KPIs”) used

where applicable.

o AWMERM—BHITE - FRMANEKRE 4B REARBANBERAE
AFLE - AEBEERBEEEA BN MERANTTARBRAMIER
([RREMER]) HEH -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

This Report contains information that has been obtained from the
Group’s internal documents, statistical reports or relevant public
materials. This Report has been prepared by the Group with a
commitment to ensuring that it does not contain any false information,
misleading statement or material omission. The Group takes full
responsibilities for the authenticity, accuracy and completeness of the
report content.

The ESG Report was approved by the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) on 28 June 2024 upon confirmation by the
management of the Company. The ESG Report is prepared in both
Chinese and English. In case of any discrepancy between the Chinese
and English versions of the ESG Report, the English version shall
prevail.

Your valuable comments on our performance and reporting format are
essential for our continuous progress. You are welcome to email any
question or suggestion on the Report to ir-hk@msok.com, which will
enable us to continuously improve our ESG practices.

The Group ensures that the appropriate structure and processes
are in place to foster an atmosphere of trust, transparency, and
accountability, as well as safeguard the interests of stakeholders. The
foundational goal of effective governance is protecting the interests of
all stakeholders, both internal and external, including the community we
serve.

The Board recognises the significance of implementing sustainability
practices and is committed to incorporating ESG systems into their
decision-making process. The Board holds the ultimate responsibility
for overseeing the Group’s ESG-related risks and opportunities, creating
and approving the ESG-related strategy and objectives, assessing the
progress made towards achieving the Group’s ESG-related targets and
goals.
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The Board conducts regular evaluations to identify and assess the risks,
including those related to ESG factors. The Board also ensures the
Group has established effective risk management and internal control
systems to address these risks. Regular meetings and discussions
are held by the Board to assess the effectiveness of these systems.
By implementing appropriate ESG governance practices, the Group
can enhance its long-term business sustainability and effectively meet
the expectations of its stakeholders. The Board recognises its overall
responsibility for overseeing and directing the Group’s ESG strategy
and reporting.

A Working Group for ESG has been formed, consisting of individuals
from middle to senior management. This group aids the Board in
implementing the ESG strategy and objectives by conducting materiality
assessments of ESG issues and collecting ESG data from various
functional departments. Should any critical issues arise, the Working
Group is tasked with promptly notifying the Board.

The responsibilities of the ESG Working Group include evaluating
the effectiveness of actions taken in response to ESG concerns and
identifying any variances from the Group’s established ESG goals and
objectives. In addressing these discrepancies, the group collaborates
with relevant departments. Regular annual meetings are conducted to
review the efficacy of the ESG initiatives that have been put in place.
Through industry research and compliance with regulatory standards,
the group effectively identifies and addresses emerging challenges.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Board The Board is responsible for the formulation,
management, and evaluation of ESG, overseeing all

related decision-making processes.

ESG Working
Group

The ESG Working Group supports the Board by
handling the day-to-day management and oversight
of ESG issues. Comprised of senior representatives
from various departments, this group aims to enhance
coordination and tackle ESG-related challenges
effectively.

Functional The functional departments are tasked with putting
Departments into action the strategies and targets set for ESG. They
also monitor and assess the effectiveness of these

measures.

Climate-related concerns are meticulously integrated into our risk
management framework, improving the Group’s resilience and
adaptability to the effects of climate change. To pinpoint climate-related
risks affecting our financial and operational health, we engage in data
analysis and stakeholder interactions.

Additionally, our enterprise risk assessment rigorously evaluates
risks that could significantly disrupt our business operations. We are
actively deploying mitigation strategies to address these climate-related
risks and investigating ways to enhance our long-term sustainability
and resilience. We will keep monitoring the effectiveness of our risk
mitigation measures and ensure they are consistent with our enterprise
risk management framework.

Aligned with the Board’s dedication to enhancing social and
environmental impacts, we will persist in assessing our progress on
ESG matters.
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In all aspects of our operations, the Group is committed to addressing
the key issues highlighted by both internal and external stakeholders.
We maintain active engagement through clear and detailed
communication, constantly refining our sustainability strategies and
initiatives in response to their insightful feedback. Our goal is to
meet stakeholder expectations and needs, thereby building mutual
trust, fostering collaborative ties, and setting the stage for a future
characterized by sustainable economic growth, environmental
stewardness, and social inclusivity at work.

Below is a table summarizing the methods and channels the Group
uses to engage with stakeholders, along with the main ESG issues they
have raised:

Stakeholders Areas of ESG Concerns
B60E RE HERERETER

Government and regulatory e
authorities

BT K B E .

Compliance with the Listing Rules;
EF ETARAL
Disclosure of information and
submission of materials;
SEBREEERIER
° Operational compliance;

EEAH
o Tax payment as legally required; and

TR+ &

o Timely and accurate announcements

R B B R 2

Investors O

REE ESV YN ES

o Effective corporate governance;
BRERER

o Sustainable profitability; and
SERAEES &

o Investment returns

RE DR

Media & Public .
LS PSHNA

Corporate Governance;

BEESD

° Environmental protection; and
RIBRE S R

o Uphold human rights standards

EXFF AR
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Business strategies and performances;

ERMLENZERES - AEEAHANRIEAIN
MREMERANTEZE - HAVEEBFW A
BHBBRBEEBRR  TEHEERMANTRE
BEREBLBENDERSEE RHRE
ER -BMSEmEFNEOHREETR %Ki
BB REAERR  LRRROTFHEL
ERE RETENTEPNLEHRMETEER -

TERBAARERFZHEBBNT AL REN

LREFRENERRE He8RERHE

Engagement Channels

° Annual reviewal process;
FEEEEFT

o Company’s website and
announcements;
KRR R AE

o Meetings; and
&

o Trainings and seminars
IR

° General meetings;
BEAE :

o Financial reports and announcements;
and
MBmERAE R

° Company’s website

EAN/NTF S

° Announcements;

nE

° Company’s website; and
ARE) WY &

° Press conference

MEEMS



Stakeholders
FE

Suppliers
HrEm

Customers

5P

Employees

®E

Community

o

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Areas of ESG Concerns

Big - EREREIER

o Payment schedule;
RRZHE
o Demand stability;
° Operational Compliance; and
EEH K&
° Quality services and products
BB 8 AR5 B E m

° Quallity services and products;

BERRGEEmR

o Product safety;
EmZh

° Commercial credibility;
BEEE

° Intellectual property rights and

protection; and
A E LR

o Operational compliance
EEAH

o Rights and benefits of employees;

BEERD KRBT
° Training and development;
Bl R ER

° Working environment and occupational

safety; and
TERBRBELZE R
o Equal opportunities

FERE

° Community development;
MERER

o Employment opportunities;
HERE

o Environmental protection; and
RIERE &

o Social welfare
=Yl

BRE - HEgRELAHRS

Engagement Channels

SHERE

° Site visits;
B E
° Meetings; and
=
= Ak
o Conference calls and interviews

BHEEEAEH

o Visits;
A
° Meetings;
&2 -
N
o Conferenoe Calls; and
Sy .
=
° Customers enquiries handling
mechanism

B P RE 7 B T

° Regular meetings;
EHEE
° Employee training;
‘EF
o Annual Appraisal;
FEER
o Opinion box; and
BRME R
° WhatsApp and WeChat group
WhatsApp K il {= B

° Community service activities;
fERBES

o Media enquiry; and
RSN Rk

o Press release and announcements
STHEEmRERAE
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We have identified ESG issues that may adversely affect our sustainable
development. These issues have been identified from various sources,
including our previous ESG report, internal policies, industry trends,
and feedback from stakeholders. We have carefully evaluated these
issues with our overall ESG strategy, development, goals, and target.
The factors have been addressed by relevant measures, and we
believe they have no significant effect on our financial and operational
performance.

Our materiality assessment is illustrated in the table below, highlighting
the ESG issues that are deemed most significant and have the greatest
potential to affect our performance.

R BR TS ARERRELITNEED
RE -HeghEhEE %FaidliaZExR
BRFL - BREERMALANERE L@ RERR
T AREE  TEBEABOENRERR -
RPRBEEEBRR L@ REARE HE B
ERESHZEREETHFANG BHEREE
EEBHEMBERSUER BRMARBRETS
HEPNMBEREERRELEEATE -

TREVNHMOEZETG BHHAARRS
REZUNRAAEZERMRRANERE £

L TL A e E
= NEIRERE ©

Environmental Operations Employees Community
BB By =] #HE
1. Greenhouse Gas 6. Product Responsibility 11.  Employment 16.  Community Investment

(“‘GHG”) & Air Emissions 6. Ema1E 1. EfE 16, HEEE
1. BREREB(BRESRE]) 7.  Supply Chain 12. Labour Standards
K BE R BERR Management 12, & TR
2. Energy & Water 7. HEsEEE 13. Health and Safety
Consumption 8.  Product Related 13. EEREL S
2. HREERAKE Complaints 14. Development and
3. Waste Management 8. EmABEKF Training
3. EYER 9.  Anti-corruption 14, EREEZ
4.  Climate Change Awareness 15.  Privacy Protection
4.  RIrE{t 9. RESEH 15. FBER#E
o Packaging Material 10. Intellectual Property
Consumption 10. IS ERE

5. BEMEIER

Through years of engagement in environmental protection practice,
the Group endeavoured to show an outstanding performance in
environmental protection. To preserve our natural environment,
we focus on optimizing resource consumption and preventing and
controlling emissions and pollution. In FY2024, the Group was in
compliance with related environmental laws and regulations and had
a proper implementation of environmental protection measures in our
operations regarding energy and GHG emissions management, air and
water pollution control, and waste management and reduction. Through
continuously engaging our employees and customers, the Group
strives to create long-term environmental values for its stakeholders
and society.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of
violation of environmental protection laws and regulations.
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Electricity consumption in our offices primarily involves air-conditioning,
lighting, and other electronic devices. To improve energy efficiency and
reduce consumption, we have implemented several key measures.
These include the promotion of energy-efficient appliances, the
introduction of a time-zoning system to switch off non-essential lights
after business hours, and encouraging work-from-home arrangements
for our employees.

The company is committed to raising environmental awareness among
our staff through targeted internal training and ongoing communication.
In an effort to reduce air pollutant emissions, we have launched several
go-green initiatives. Our Group’s senior management takes an active
role in overseeing and evaluating these initiatives to monitor their
effectiveness in reducing our environmental footprint.

The Group is mindful of water resource utilization and actively works
to decrease water consumption within its operations. We implement
several proactive measures to prevent water wastage. These include
regular leakage tests on water infrastructure, prompt repairs of any
leaking faucets by our maintenance teams, and strategic placement
of posters that promote water conservation, reminding individuals to
ensure taps are fully closed after use.

The Group has adopted a comprehensive waste management strategy
that effectively manages the waste produced by its operations.
Throughout the reporting period, our operations did not generate or
release any hazardous waste, including solid waste or sewage, into the
environment. Given the nature of our business, we typically generate
minimal waste. In line with our objective to decrease landfill waste, we
promote recycling and the reuse of materials.

The Group is aware of the global climate change and acknowledges
that its business is inevitably being affected by different potential
scenarios, such as shifting weather patterns and extreme weather
events. As such, we will stay up to date on climate change and make
ongoing improvements to its operation manuals. We will also formulate
and monitor our adaptation measures for responding to severe weather
conditions such as typhoons or flooding and enhance our employees’
environmental awareness and ability to handle climate-related
emergencies.
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RE - HERERERE

To reduce the exposure to increasing environmental and regulatory
risks and enhance its business value, the Group will continue to monitor
the development of Hong Kong Government policies and is in the
process of incorporating climate change into risk management and
formulating guidelines and measures on climate resiliency to ensure
climate risks and related opportunities are appropriately managed.

The Group has set the following environmental targets in order to
demonstrate its commitment to combating climate change and
reducing its environmental impact:

- Minimising greenhouse gas emission;

- Enhancing energy efficiency by upgrading thermostat controlled
and energy efficient air conditioning; and

- Increasing employee’s awareness for energy saving and
environmental protection.

Currently, Minshang has taken appropriate measures to mitigate
climate-related risk, believing that the aforementioned potential impacts
on our operations won’t be material. We will continue to monitor
and assess the latest climate-related developments and formulate
appropriate mitigation measures to minimize our exposure to the
climate-related risks.

Type of Climate Risk
% [ Bz 28 B

Specific Risk
B

Acute Physical Risk
=M E R

Risk that are driven by
extreme weather events,
such as typhoon, heavy
rainfall, and floods.

iR KR E M5 AR
BlanEs R - JER R AKK o

ZER

Potential Impact
BEXE

These risks may increase
the possibility of health
and safety hazards to our
staff, increase insurance
premiums and cause
business interruption.
R EIR KIS
TEXRRRLZEREE E’J
AR - IR B

SELAEAZERRENRELREERR Wiz
NERXEER ASEREEZEERTBRAR
REE Y IESREECHARRER - HE

AR RIEECEZ DB ME G  ARRR
RER AR BERZEEE -

AEBEHE TIRERRZ
R RO D IRIFR B HAGE

NRAEEER

- BARRDAERBHN

= @i@?zé%ﬂ%&'l SR BT A
= ab @G s 2% -
= e IR AR

e R IR

- REESAMERHOLRBRENE

B AT - RE A 2 REBUE E 15 b JA & ## B R/ &
HEANER TR/ LERERMASENEEY
ErEt0EAR - BMBHEERNTHEAR
RERBB SRS - WHlFEENEEERE - A
ﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂh°

Our Response

E Al

The Group has formulated
operational procedures in
relation to rainy season and
extreme weather events
safeguard the health and
safety of our employees.
REBEKHERBARZENR
1Rim KRR E AV RIERRF
AMREBEZME THRER%E

BERF B
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Type of Climate Risk
R @ b5

Chronic Physical Risk
1214 E BB E R

Transition Risk — Policy and
Legal
B R b — IR ROE R

Transition Risk — Reputation
WERR—-EE

Specific Risk
B EE

Risks associated with
longer-term shifts in climate
patterns, such as sustained
high temperature, change in
precipitation patterns.
HERERARPEZEEEN
b - flaniFE R - BN
BRAMBZ-

New policies and regulations
relating to a low-carbon
economy transition proposed
by the government.

TR H B R AR R AL g
2 BT IR ROE R o

Increasing public expectation
on lower-carbon economy
transition may cause
reputational impact on the
business.
NBEER G EE R W HAE
MBS Aleegfhie
BEERTE -
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Potential Impact

BEXE

Longer-term changes in the
climate, such as increasing
mean temperatures at our
business locations may
increase operating and
maintenance costs.
RIRE R EEE - flaZ
BB FIRE LT
FIRE IR INE S R EX
i

More stringent policy
requirements towards
decarbonisation may cause
higher capital investment
and other non-compliance
fines.

5 DN A B R R BUR AR E
AREEERERNELRR
BREM DGR

The Group’s reputation
would be adversely affected
if it does not take proactive
steps to address climate
change and meet the public
expectation.

fied IS BRERFER A2 5 1t & 1 R,
R EMB AREAE
REBHNBERZI TR

B 488
4
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Our Response

EMWHE R

Energy-saving initiatives are
being implemented by the
Group in order to minimize
the impact of sustained higher
temperature.
REBEEEMEAEER -

R FE RN T E

Our finance and legal
departments keep abreast

of the latest regulatory
development to ensure
compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations in the
jurisdictions that we operate.
BB A AR FIEE
EEZESTFTHEEER
ARER B <P iE AR APIEE
FREE) RDERE R 2 AR A
R e

The Group is exploring the
opportunities of transforming
its operations into low-carbon
operation to avoid negative
perception of the organisation
due to lack of progress.
AEBEERRGHERE
BREMRESHKS - g
% B R = A R T B s
BHER -
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RE - HERERERE

The Group acknowledges the critical importance of its employees, AEBEANEREZBREDZ  BESEEAHM
viewing them as key assets integral to our strategic business planning. REEBRETARBRNEREE - AEBEBR
In all aspects of employment, the Group diligently adheres to relevant FiERMBREYBREETHEBAEIEER 285

laws and regulations, which include, but are not limited to: BARR :

In Hong Kong: B

e “Employment Ordinance”, o (EFEEG) -

e “Minimum Wage Ordinance”, and o (HEIEKN) R
e “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance” o (EEREEGD

In PRC: hE

e “Labour Contract Law”, o (KBHERNE) -

e “Labour Law”, o (EBEZE) -

e “Regulations on Paid Annual Leave of Employees”, o (BRIHFHEMRBIGH)
e “Law on the Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests”, o (ImRERREE)
e “Law on the Protection of Disabled Persons”, and o (EBRAREZX)R
e “Social Insurance Law” o (HERBIE)
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Our commitment extends beyond compliance; we are dedicated to
creating a diverse and inclusive environment free from discrimination.
We ensure no employee is discriminated against during hiring or
promotion based on gender, ethnicity, religion, color, sexual orientation,
age, marital status, or family status. To uphold employee rights and
ensure equitable treatment, we have enacted policies like the Rules on
the Labour Protection of Female Employees and Anti-discrimination and
Harassment Procedures, which help us recognize and reward talent
fairly.

We strictly enforce a zero-tolerance policy against child labor and
forced labor. Any such activities are strictly prohibited, and our Human
Resources Department conducts rigorous screening and thorough
background checks on all candidates to prevent these practices.
This includes verifying personal details provided on applications and
confirming identities to ensure compliance.

Should any instances of child labor or forced labor be detected,
immediate termination of the involved individual’s employment will
occur, followed by a comprehensive investigation to determine the root
causes. We also reserve the right to discipline any employees found
responsible for these offenses. Throughout the Reporting Period, there
were no incidents of child or forced labor within the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases
regarding the practice of child labour or forced labour at work.

We prioritize the well-being and safety of our employees and are
dedicated to reducing Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) risks
across our operations. We maintain high safety standards by developing
internal guidelines and performing regular on-site inspections to ensure
a secure and positive environment in both our offices and restaurants.
We proactively identify, assess, and mitigate potential OHS hazards.

Our goal is to achieve zero accidents among all staff engaged in daily
activities. We handle work-related injuries and accidents promptly and
effectively. All incidents must be reported to our administrative office for
a detailed investigation and proper recording. Additionally, we provide
comprehensive insurance coverage for employees suffering from work-
related injuries.
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Should any safety concemns arise, we commit to conducting thorough
investigations and reporting the findings in accordance with the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) and the Factories
and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance (Cap. 59). Affected employees
will receive appropriate insurance benefits and are entitled to sick leave.
During monthly meetings, the Food & Beverage Operations Department
and store managers review injury cases and discuss strategies to
prevent future occurrences.

Moving forward, we will continue enhancing our OHS measures to
safeguard employees from occupational risks and ensure a safe
working environment for everyone. During the reporting period, there
were no work-related fatalities, although one injury was reported,
resulting in no lost days.

We attach great importance to the staff development and aspire to
grow with our employees. As such, we continuously invest resources in
employee training and development plans in helping our employees to
enhance their professional knowledge and skills for performing duties at
work and promoting their all-round development, thereby to provide our
customers with better quality of products and services.

We encourage continuous education by providing induction training
and regular on-the-job training for our employees to develop practical
knowledge and skills. In the restaurant division, all employees are
required to participate in food safety and hygiene training, which
encompasses a range of topics such as food temperature, dish
ingredients, foodborne illnesses, personal hygiene, and other
operational practices. As part of the Group’s communication strategy,
regular operation meetings are scheduled to ensure the accurate
dissemination of information to different departments among the Group.

We provided on-the-job training program for our employees to enable
them to gain hands-on experience in developing and implementing
cutting-edge technology solutions for clients. The program has provided
our employees with a valuable opportunity to enhances their technical
skills through gaining practical experiences in a real-world setting.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group is dedicated to providing our customers with products and
services that are safe, of high quality, and reliable. Additionally, we
embrace the principles of total quality management and consistently
offer extensive training in quality assurance to our employees.

The Group consistently enhances our products and services, ensuring
our customers receive top-quality service. We have bolstered our
security measures by installing firewalls, conducting regular data
backups, and using intrusion detection systems. These steps improve
our response to data security incidents and bolster our capabilities in
detecting irregularities and guarding against malware.

We maintain open lines of communication with our customers through
various channels, such as email, a customer service hotline, and
customer satisfaction surveys. These interactions help us identify
areas for improvement and gather valuable feedback. Committed to
continually enhancing the customer experience as part of our ongoing
business development, we offer comprehensive after-sales support,
including operational training, on-site maintenance, and inspections.

During the reporting period, no customer complaint was logged,
marking a 100% decrease from the previous year.

Acknowledging the crucial importance of responsible supply chain
management for sustainable growth, the Group is dedicated to
cultivating lasting and harmonious relationships with our suppliers.

We consistently assess and monitor our suppliers’ performance and
relationships as part of our routine management practices. The Group
actively encourages our suppliers to integrate ESG (Environmental,
Social, and Governance) initiatives into their operations, particularly
those concerning environmental protection and sustainability.
Furthermore, our standard procurement contracts include sustainability
clauses that mandate compliance with environmental and occupational
safety and health standards by our suppliers.
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The Group’s philosophy places integrity and ethics at its core. As such,
the Group is committed to complying with all laws and regulations
concerning anti-corruption. We are aware of the inherent risk of
corruption in the procurement and quality control procedures and have
taken measures to address this issue. We have developed a Code of
Conduct to provide guidance on achieving ethical business operations
and maintaining business integrity. It is required that all directors,
officers, and staff adhere to the principles outlined in the Code of
Conduct, as well as all relevant laws, regulations, and rules relating to
anti-corruption. Moreover, the Group strictly adheres to the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance provisions. It is strictly prohibited for all staff
members to engage in any form of corrupt practices.

During the reporting period, there were no confirmed cases regarding
corrupt practices of legal proceedings, claims or disputes brought
against the Group or its employees. Although the Group did not
organise any anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff
during the reporting period, we acknowledge the need to improve our
training curriculum and strive to enhance our training on anti-corruption
in the future.

While the Group has acknowledged its responsibility and implemented
procedures to protect and enforce intellectual property rights, it has also
put in place specific procedures and safeguards to protect customers’
information from unauthorised access, usage and leakage and to
maintain their data privacy. We protect our intellectual property rights
by requiring our employees and business partners to sign confidentiality
agreements to ensure they keep sensitive information confidential.
Meanwhile, we also hire legal advisors to provide legal advice for the
protection of our rights. The Group manages sensitive information with
caution and fully complies with Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in
Hong Kong and Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China.
During the reporting year, there was no incident of non-compliance with
data privacy reported and no material infringement of our intellectual
property rights.
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The Group is committed to fostering inclusiveness and showing respect
to diverse community groups. We focus on offering high-quality food
and services at affordable prices and ensure our restaurants are
accessible to everyone by adhering to the “Design Manual: Barrier
Free Access 2008” as per the Building (Planning) Regulation. We also
provide ample support to customers with special needs to ensure a
barrier-free dining experience.

In our efforts to uphold corporate social responsibility, we are dedicated
to enhancing the well-being of our community. We actively engage
in a variety of community activities and support social development
through participation in community services, charitable sponsorships,
educational programs, cultural and sporting events, and environmental
initiatives. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to encourage its
employees to contribute their time and energy to support and bring
positivity to our local community.

BRE - HEgRELAHRS

AEERNREABNREEZ T(COLSER -
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Unit 2022/23 2023/24
B 2022/23 F 2023/24 F
Air Pollutants’
ERBR
Nitrogen Oxides (‘NO,”) emissions Gaseous fuel consumption Kg 5.37 -
AR (EELW)HR REEMEL B Tr
Sulphur Oxides (“SO,") emissions Gaseous fuel consumption Kg 0.03 -
el ((mELW]) FEm TEBIREDE T=
Greenhouse Gas Emissions?
BEREHEN?
Scope 1 Emission Stationary combustion of tonne GO, equivalent 71.41 -
Towngas
#E 1N esaEha Yl M_8ftiREE
Total tonne CO, equivalent .41 -
e WS tREE
Scope 2 Emission Purchased electricity*® tonne CO, equivalent 379.11 3.41
EE 28K HNEEE S0 M_aftiREE
Purchased Towngas?® tonne CO, equivalent 16.11 -
SNBSS © M_SftiREE
Total tonne CO, equivalent 395.23 3.41
e Wo_gtmEE
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BE - HEgRERRS

Total greenhouse gas emissions

BEREEFNE

Waste Generation’

BMELT

Non-hazardous waste generated

BEBNELE

Resources Consumption
BEREF

Direct energy consumption
B

Indirect energy consumption
R #E

Total energy consumption
EF TN

Water consumption™

FEKE™

Packaging material consumption'

BEATRINR
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Total
HE

Intensity

il

Food waste disposed®
BERMmEY®

Waste cooking oil recycled®
BEERMAHEILES

Office paper purchased'
WARBER "

Purchased Towngas®
INEHER?
Purchased electricity®
HNEEE 77

Total

HE

Intensity

wE
Total
e
Intensity

I
Plastic bag (Take away)'
BRI (HNE)
Foam/Plastic food container™
BHBBHRRAR
Total

we

Intensity

il

Unit
By

tonne CO, equivalent
WS tREE

tonne CO, equivalent per
HKD million revenue
M-8/t REE B8
AT

Kg
TR

Kg
T

MWh

K

MWh

KR

MWh

K E

MWh per HKD million
revenue

KRk BBEETHE
mS

MK

m? per HKD million
revenue

VAR BEETHE
tonne

i

tonne

a

tonne

W

tonne per HKD million
revenue

W/ BEE TR

2022/23
2022/23 &

466.64

10.06

4,485

8,896

125

372.97

972.09

1,345.1

29.0

22,100

476.3

11.8

12.9

0.3

2023/24
2023/24 &

3.4

0.429

5.17

5.17

0.650
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Remarks:

The Group’s air pollutant emission was calculated based on “Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by the HKEX.

Greenhouse gas emissions of the Group included carbon dioxide (“CO,"),
methane (“CH,”), nitrous oxide (“N,0”) and hydrofluorocarbons (‘HFCs”).

Emission data relating to HFC emissions for refrigeration was based on the
“Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes)
in Hong Kong” issued by the Environmental Protection Department and the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department. The significant decrease on
fugitive emission was due to the reduction on purchase of refrigerants.

Figures were calculated based on the carbon emission factors per unit of
electricity sold published by the CLP Group in 2022.

The Scope 2 emissions and indirect energy consumption from purchased
electricity decreased due to the closure of some restaurants and the impact of
COVID-19 and its related restrictions.

Figures were calculated based on the carbon emission factors per unit of gas
production published by the Hong Kong and China Gas Company in 2022.

Due to the business nature of the Group, hazardous waste is not considered
as a material topic to the Group’s operation. Thus the quantity of hazardous
waste generated is not disclosed.

Figure was calculated based on an estimation with reference to the average
daily food waste generated from restaurants. The decrease in food waste was
mainly due to the closure of some restaurants, and the reduction of overall
sales volume.

Figure was calculated based on the waste cooking oil recycling records
provided by the restaurants. The decrease in waste cooking oil recycled was
mainly due to the closure of some restaurants and the reduction of overall
sales volume.

The office paper purchased has decreased due to the closure of some
restaurants.

The decrease in water consumption was mainly due to the closure of some
restaurants.

Figure is compiled based on the purchase records of packaging materials.

The consumption of plastic bag (take away) and foam/plastic food container
decreased due to the closure of some restaurants and the reduction in overall
sales volume.

The sustainability performance data for FY2022/23 primarily includes metrics
from the food and beverage business, which was disposed in April 2023,
leading to a significant reduction in the data reported for FY2023/24. The
Group is committed to continuing its efforts to collect environmental data from
its IT solutions and trading businesses.
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Total Workforce'®
EEHES

By Gender

=T RIE 5

By Age

HERE D

By Employment Type

HERBELE D

By Employee Category
REBHRIE D

Average monthly employee turnover rate'®

FHAEREBRAES
By Gender
RIERIE S

By Age
REWRE D
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Unit
B

Number

A

Male Number and percentage

S ABKRBEDE

Female

g

Age 30 or below

B0RMA T

Age 31-50

31-5075%

Age 51 or above

1R L

Permanent

KA

Part-time

B

Senior management
RREEAE

Middle management
FREEAE

Junior employee

REE

Percentage
B
Male Percentage
St AL
Female

M

Age 30 or below

BORREK AT

Age 31-50

31-50 5%

Age 51 or above

51pxak A £

2022/2023

2022/2023 F
59 100%
18 31%
41 69%
7 12%
25 42%
27 46%
52 88%
7 12%
7 12%
6 10%
46 78%
- 7.2%
- 6.2%
- 7.6%
- 6.4%
- 6.9%
- 7.4%

2023/2024
2023/2024
15 100%
13 87%
2 13%
11 73%
4 27%
15 100%
6 40%
3 20%
3 40%



Employee development and training'’
EEBERIEIT

Percentage of employees trained
XIEER DL

Workforce trained by gender
REBESNZINESR

Female

eglid

Male

St

Workforce trained by employment category
RERERNESNZIRE

Senior management

=REBAE

Middle management

HREEAR

Frontline staff

RIARE T

Average training hours received by employee
EEEI N FEIFH

Average training hours by gender

R B & 5 09 P19 I R

Female

gegiid

Male

B

Average training hours by employment category

RIEREER & 2 89 F 195 I &
Senior management
BREBAE

Middle management
RREEAB

Frontline staff

RIARE T

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HEREREHE

Unit
B

%
%

%

%

%
%

hours

NS

hours

INE

hours
INE

2022/2023
2022/2023 £

42%

72%

28%

0%

0%

100%

0.42

0.44

0.39

0.54

2023/2024
2023/2024 F

2024 F F 3R
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BE - HEgRERRS

Health and Safety

BREHRZE

Work-related fatalities

ETERRIET AR

Lost days due to work-related injury

EITEEETERE

Product and service-related complaints

B 2E o S IR TS BV # 5F

Products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons’”

R rHEEEEHMARLNRNE Sk
EEXEm"

Charitable donation

RERE

Total number of suppliers

HER A

Number of suppliers by geographical region
=R E SR ER S A

Hong Kong

BE

Mainland China

Hh B K P

Unit
B

Number and rate

N 9585

Number of calendar day
HEXH

Number of cases
=PHE

Number and Percentage

HENAOHL

HK$
BT

Unit
By

Number

%A

Number
28
Number

%A

15.  Workforce indicators refer to the number of employees as at the end of the

Group’s financial year.

16.  Monthly employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the leavers of each
month by the month end employee number of that month. The Average
monthly employee turnover rate is calculated by averaging the monthly
employee turnover rate of all 12 months in this financial year.

17.  The methodology adopted for reporting on employee development and
training data set out above was based on “How to Prepare on ESG Report —
Appendix 3: Reporting Guideline on Social KPIs” issued by HKEX.

18.  The sustainability performance data for FY2022/23 primarily includes metrics
from the food and beverage business, which was disposed in April 2023,
leading to a significant reduction in the data reported for FY2023/24.

Annual Report 2024

2022/2023 2023/2024
2022/2023 2023/2024 5
= 0% = 0%
= N/A = N/A
N3 A i@ A
= N/A = N/A
TE A TiE A
= 0% = 0%
= N/A = N/A
TiE A TiE A
2022/2023 2023/2024
2022/2023 2023/2024 &
151 4
30 =
121 4

BEABESERASEMRFERNESHRE -

AERERAEDZRGABRBESHEBRUZAA
REEHBHE - FTHAREERRAXDIRATK
FERB1REANFHREREERARE -

bR BERERIEIBEARANRETETIER
B P TE M RERE e RERRE—
Msk=: S AREBERERESD -

2022/23 R FEMAHBERREIBELIEZERE
BEREBOIER  MZEBER2023F4AHE -
B 2023/24 W FERENEIERIBR D ©



Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

mEEERE

Governance Structure
EIRRIE

Reporting Principles
HwERA

Reporting Boundary
HREHE

Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

BmE - —RIKE - BRERER

A. Environmental
ARE

Aspect Al: Emissions
EBEAT : BHY

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPIA1.1
FAS AR MR IR AL

KPI A1.2
BABMAAUIEIRAL2

KPIA1.3
FASRAEMIEIRALS

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HEREREHE

Reference Chapters and Remarks

B RMERS

About this Report and Our Management to ESG Issues
BRAmMEURKMENRE e RELEEACER
About this Report and Our Management to ESG Issues
BRAREUARBMENERR HERhEREIER
About this Report and Our Management to ESG Issues
BRAREURBMENRR HERELCEZEIER

Reference Chapters/

Description Remarks
it B MR

Environmental Protection
RIBIRE

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges

into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-

hazardous waste.

FHERIAZERBHM KR THOET BERES

FEEVHNELSH

@ BxX: X

) BFHBTABERZENHBEELRAONER -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Key Performance

PE g & 48 K A8 A HE B o Indicator
R E IR

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas  Key Performance

emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity. Indicator

B (BE1) kepRAEE (BE2) REREHNE (LETE) BRETIER

K (ER) BE -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Key Performance

appropriate, intensity. Indicator
FTEAEEEEDRE (LERE) K (ER) BE - R B IR R

2024 F F 3R
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BE - HEgRERRS

Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REE  BREMER

KPI A1.4
FASREMIEIRALA

KPIA1.5
FASAEMIEIRALS

KPI A1.6
FASHRRUIEIRAL6

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2: ERER

General Disclosure

—MRIXE

KPI 2.1
FAS A 51T 2.1

KPI 2.2
BAARRUIEIR2.2

KPI2.3
FASARAIEIR 2.3

KPI 2.4
FASRAUIEIR 2.4

KPI 2.5
FASRAA K IEIR 2.5

Annual Report 2024

Description
it

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity.

FEAREZEZEYREE UMEAE) R(NER)BE -

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.
PRI ZEVBEME B R R RESE L A RAMERIE TR -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
HlEREAERBESEEMNAE KA SRR B
BRREIGELBRAMRME TR -

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water

and other raw materials.

BRERER(BEER - KREMEMH) HOBER -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total (kWh
in ’000s) and intensity.

RERESMEER XEZEREEE UTETRRAE
REE -

Water consumption in total and intensity.
BEKEREE -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

FEALPTET S WY BB IR 12 A A as B 1R R R B iE L B R P ERERAY
g

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

i SKERGE AR 7KR BRI A ERIFE R - AR PRI S8 K as
ERRAETELR AL -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
BN RATRREMENES (UUEAE) R (ER) BEEE

f15E -

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B ME RS

Key Performance
Indicator

RA SR A R AR

Environmental Protection
IR

Environmental Protection
IR

Environmental Protection
BRI

Key Performance
Indicator

R4 IR IR

Key Performance
Indicator
R A RS

Environmental Protection
BHR

Environmental Protection
IRIBIRE

Key Performance
Indicator
B B2 4B R R



Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REE  BREMER

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HEREREHE

Description
it

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBEA3: RERKXRER

General Disclosure
— MR

KPI A3.1
BASE AR RIEIR A3

Aspect A4: Climate Change
BEAL : RIZEML

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A4.1
BB AE ISR A4.1

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

BEBRTALBRBERRABEREXNEATEHNBE -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

B EBEHHIRBRAARERNERAZERCERNERE
MR 201TE -

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

BRI REHERE A EURTAELERENEARIKEH
EEHMBEK -

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

BB R R AR e HBETAEETENEARKIEFAEEH
RIEE1TE) -

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B HE RS

Environmental Protection
IRIBRE

Environmental Protection
BHIR

Environmental Protection
IRIBIRE

Environmental Protection
IRIZIRE
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Aspects,

Reference Chapters/

General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REE  BREMER

B. Social

B.4tg

Description Remarks
it B MR

Employment and Labour Practices

BREKRSZIER

Aspect B1: Employment

EEB1 : fEfE

General Disclosure

—REE

Information on: Human Resources

(@ the policies; and Management

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a A 71 & R E 12
significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, antidiscrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

BN E  BEREA  TERH B FEHE -

Z It ~ RIEAR A B B Al 15558 Ko f@ Il A

@ BE: K

) BFHETABEAZENHRBEEZLAMNER -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
B A DU 1E B 1 geographical region.

ZMR - EEREE  FRAJNRMEZSHNES L -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
BSRAEIEIREB1.2 region.

RIS - FERARNREE D EERKL X -

Annual Report 2024

Key Performance
Indicator

R AE MR

Key Performance
Indicator

R AE RIS



Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REE  BREMER

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2: REHRZE

General Disclosure
— MR

KPI B2.1
BASE AR B 1R B2.1

KPI B2.2
BASARIEIRB2.2

KPIB2.3
PSRN 515 B2.3

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HEREREHE

Description
it

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards.

FRREZZTERERREEEREBELRAEN

@ BE: K

b) BFHBTABERZENHBEELAONNER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of

the past three years including the reporting year.
BE=F (BRERFE)BFAITHHAB KL E -

Lost days due to work injury.
HIBEATEEE -

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.

R PR A O B SE 02 R R 22 2 45 7 A RABRRT T M EE R OT% -

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EEB3 : /& K&

General Disclosure
— R

KPI B3.1
SRR M F51R B3

KPI B3.2
PSRN E1R B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
FARFTEERITIIEFBEN MBS RENBE - fa it
JEED °

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category.
R EREERFNESNXINEEB DL -

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

R R EEERIE D BREETKZIN TR -

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B HE RS

Human Resources
Management
ANEBERER

Key Performance
Indicator
R A IR R

Key Performance
Indicator
R B IR R

Human Resources

Management
ANEBIRE R

Human Resources
Management
ANERER

Key Performance
Indicator
R B BIE R

Key Performance
Indicator

RS A UIE R

2024 F F 3R
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RE - HERERERE

Aspects,

General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REE  BREMER

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

EEB4 : % T%H|

General Disclosure
— MR

KPI B4.1
FASAE M ISR B4

KPI B4.2
R AR WIE1EB4.2

Operating Practices

EEEM

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEBS5 : tEHEERE

General Disclosure
— B EE

KPI B5.1
AR AE M 515 B5.1

KPI B5.2
PSR AE N IE1R B5.2

Annual Report 2024

Information on:

the policies; and

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRAD b= T mls Th)

BTHETABEARTZENHBEERAOINER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.
e REEIE MRS B AR o & T RoRHI& T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when

R B I E R IB R HRR B BB R AT R 275

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.
ERMHEENRE TG RMRIBE -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
mipRE| DHERRE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how
they are implemented and monitored.

A ERERHERNED - mERTARENNMEREE
AR AERIFTT 2

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B ME RS

Human Resources
Management
ANEBERER

Human Resources
Management
ANEBERER
Human Resources

Management
ANEBIRER

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmkREEE

Key Performance
Indicator

RA SR A e AR

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmkREEE
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Aspects, Reference Chapters/

General Disclosure, KPIs Description Remarks

BE  —REE BEEREE Hl B MR

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social Product and Service

B 4B B 1R BE.3 risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and Responsibility
monitored. EmkREEE

et A RE A R R S ERANRE R EEBRAER - A
KAEAATRERTA -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Product and Service
B B UEIEBL.4 preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and  Responsibility
how they are implemented and monitored. EmkRBEE

PR R R R R (£ 2 MIRIRE dn MARTE B D] - SA R
MERTRERNX -

Aspect B6: Product responsibility
fEEB6: EmEE

General Disclosure Information on: Product and Service
— AR 5E (@) the policies; and Responsibility
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a & fn M R & (T
significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods

of redress.

FUHMRHEEMNRENRREEZSY BE RERLES

HARHER A

@ BE: R

(o) ETFTHBTAGBERAZENHBERZRRINEL -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls ~ There has been no
i 81 48 B 15 B6 1 for safety and health reasons. incident of non-

BEEXCEFAEMREPALTHEFIEAMAERKAB S © compliance with
regulations and/
or voluntary codes
concerning the health
and safety impacts of
products and services.
3 % 75 A 72 oo AN AR 7%
EEREZEENTEN
BREERBEME
STRIBVEM -
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Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REE  BREMER

KPI B6.2
PSRN 515 B6.2

KPI B6.3
PSRN 515 B6.3

KPI B6.4
BASE AR5 B6.4

KPI B6.5
BB AE K515 B6.5

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EBEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

—RWE

Annual Report 2024

Description
it

Number of products and service related complaints received

and how they are dealt with.

BREANEmRLRGORFEEB AREH X -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting

intellectual property rights.

fish B4 N RIB AN B ERE R ARIE D -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
i E S RE AR REREIWIZT

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
how they are implemented and monitored.

HWEBEE ERRERLEBBE - ARABERTRERT X -

Information on:
(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BB LR - R - HGEFROERER -

@ BX: X

b)) BETHBTAGEAZENRRBZEIZMAMNESR -

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B ME RS

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmkREEE

Protection of Customer
Data Privacy and
Intellectual Property
Rights
REEFERILERM
R

Not a material topic to
Minshang since majority
of business is about IT
solution, and there is no
product recall from its
operation.
HEBMAIRN FERE
B AEBBRARE D
REMEHRRR TR
MELEPIERGE
ma B -

Protection of Customer
Data Privacy and
Intellectual Property
Rights
REEFPERILERM
R

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmEkRBEE



Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REE  BREMER

KPIB7.1
PSR AR 51T BT A

KPIB7.2
BABARAUIEIRBT.2

KPIB7.3
PSRN 51 BT.3

Community

HE

Description
it

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HEREREHE

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B HE RS

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices There has been no legal
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting  cases regarding corrupt
period and the outcomes of the cases. practices brought

RBEHMAEETASHESE R T EEEMNETHFAEH  against the Group or its

BB KRR -

employees.
WEASAEESHES
REKEISHFARME -

Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing Product and Service
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. Responsibility
Py E e i B WIE T - A RBBEIT RERT A - EmEREEE

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and  Product and Service

staff.

Responsibility

AmESERE TRENRESHE - EmkRBEE

Aspect B8: Community investment

[EEBS: HBRE

General Disclosure

—RIXE

KPI B8.1
BASE AR 515 B8.1

KPI B8.2
FAS AR IE15B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs Community Investment
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its  fL & &

activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

BN RB2ERTHRETALCENEHLEST EMERELE
BEBHEERBTEMNRAIBER

Focus areas of contribution.

Community Investment

EIEREE - HERE
Resources contributed to the focus area. Community Investment
EZIGEAEBHEIR - tRKRE
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Directors’ Report

EFERE

The Directors present this report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in trading business and information technology
(“IT”) solution business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
as at 31 March 2024. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of
the Company are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements. The segment information of the operations of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024,
including (i) a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
by the Group; (ii) an indication of likely future developments in the
business of the Group; (i) an analysis using financial key performance
indicators; (iv) a discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance and (v) an account of the Group’s key relationships with
employees, customers and suppliers, is set out in the sections headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of this annual report, respectively. These
discussions form part of this annual report.

Details for the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group and the
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the financial year are set out on page 90 of this annual report.

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 99 of
this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2024.

Annual Report 2024

BEEUENAREERAEBNE £2024F 3
A31 B It FENEEZRETERE -

ARARIMEBEB AR EER - 202443 A
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REK -ARFMBARNEIBZERHNEE
B SRR 5E 25 - Hi = 2024 F3 A31 HILFE -
REFELBNDIBERFREGE T EREMES ©

AEBEHZE2024F3 A3 B ILFEMERCE
(BIE)EBRASEMEEEZRR KT ETHE
EMFH () AEBERRAUENEBERI W
(VA BEERRER2M (VEBEASE
ERABEERENTREVAEEREES -
EEREERNEZEEIAMNGA) D BIEHR
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SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2024 are
set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, was approximately HK$133.9 million inclusive of share premium
and accumulated losses.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group did not have any bank loans and other borrowings as at 31
March 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreement during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles and
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 200 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the shares during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Directors’ Report
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NEZE2024E3 831 BItFEDETRMDAE
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CIR 971310 |

R2024F3A31H  BIEFESHERAREE
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BRI RERRFTER) -
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BEERE
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Directors’ Report

EEERE

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group donated
HK$1,000,000 to an university in Hong Kong to support the IT-related
researches.

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 8 November
2016. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 29 November
2016 and its principal terms are summarized below:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Board to grant options to Eligible Persons (as defined below)
as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group and to recruit and retain high calibre
Eligible Persons and attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group.

“Eligible Persons” refer to (i) any employee or proposed employee
(whether full time or part time, including any director) of any
member of the Group or invested entity; and (ii) any supplier
of goods or services, any customer, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support,
any shareholder or other participants who contributes to the
development and growth of the Group or any invested entity.

A maximum of 80,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue on Listing Date and the subdivision of shares of
the Company approved on 24 August 2018 and become effective
on 27 August 2018, which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme.

Annual Report 2024
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AEBPTER BASE B B SR S 22D -
ARBEERBEEEBFHNAERALTRES
HAEEREBENADER -

[EERALTIROIAEREEFAKERAHL
REEBNIMNEEXREEE (TR 2
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Unless approved by the Shareholders in general meeting and
subject to the following paragraph, the maximum number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme to any one person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from
time to time.

Options granted to a substantial Shareholder or an INED or any
of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number of
Shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5 million, must be approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting in advance.

Subject to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, an option may
be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee at any time before
the expiry of the period to be determined and notified by the
Board to the grantee which in any event shall not be longer than
ten years commencing on the date of the offer letter and expiring
on the last day of such ten-year period.

No minimum period for which an option must be held before the
exercise of any option save as otherwise imposed by the Board in
the relevant offer of options.

Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to submit
to the Company a duly signed offer letter within 21 days from the
offer date together with a payment in favour of the Company of
HK$1 per option as the consideration of the grant.
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The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such
price as determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
highest of:

()  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date (the “Offer
Date”), which must be a trading day, on which the Board
passes a resolution approving the making of an offer of
grant of an option to an Eligible Person;

(i)  the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share on the Offer Date.

Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting
or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme, after which period no
further options shall be granted. All options granted and accepted
and remaining unexercised immediately prior to the expiry of the
Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no option has been
granted under the Share Option Scheme. Therefore, no option was
exercised or cancelled or lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2024
and there was no outstanding option as at 31 March 2024.
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The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date
of this report are:

Mr. WU Jiangtao (Chairman)
Mr. TAO Jingyuan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael

Mr. CHQOI Tze Kit, Sammy
Mr. CHEUNG Miu
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation and shall be subject to re-election at each
AGM, provided that every Director shall retire at least once every three
years.

Accordingly, Mr. WU Jiangtao, Mr. TAO Jingyuan and Mr. CHOI Tze
Kit, Sammy shall retire from office at the forthcoming AGM and being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 21 to 24 of this annual report.

Each of Mr. WU Jiangtao, Mr. TAO Jingyuan and Mr. LAl Xiaopeng
Michael, being the executive Directors, has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of one year, which will continue
thereafter unless terminated by either party giving to the other not less
than three months’ notice in writing.

Each of Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy, Mr. CHEUNG Miu and Mr.
CHEUNG Pak To, being the Independent Non-executive Directors, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one
year commencing on 6 July 2018, which is renewable automatically for
successive terms of one year commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of his appointment, and
either the Independent Non-executive Directors or the Company may
terminate the agreement by giving the other party not less than one
month’s notice in writing.

None of the Directors, including those are proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM, has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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As at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors and chief executives
of the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares
or underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements,
there was no contract of significance (whether for the provision of
services to the Group or not) in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any controlling Shareholder had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.
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So far as the Directors are aware of as at 31 March 2024, the following
corporations and person (not being a Director or the chief executive
of the Company) had an interest or a short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of

the SFO, as follows:

Name of Substantial Shareholders

TERREW HE

MSEC Holdings Limited (‘MSEC Holdings”) (Note 2)
MSEC Holdings Limited ([ MSEC Holdings ) (Fi{t2)

RUNMING International Limited (‘RUNMING”) (Note 2)
B#HERERAR (TBE)) (Hi2)

Shanghai Yingzhao Investment Management Company
Limited* (“Shanghai Yingzhao”) (Note 2)
FERBEEEEERAR([LERHB]) (:E2)

Zhuhai Minshang Hongbo Technology Company Limited*

(“Minshang Hongbo”) (Note 2)

KERABEBHRARLAR ((RERE) (ME2)

Minsheng E-Commerce (Note 2)
REERE (fi3E2)

CIKZ Holdings Limited
CIKZ Holdings Limited

ZHONG Kaixin
EE0R

CHEN Jiliang
BR#E

*  English name is translated for identification purpose only.
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Capacity/Nature of interest

5t/ EEME

Beneficial owner

BEaAA

Interest of controlled corporation
REEEER

Interest of controlled corporation
LB ER
Interest of controlled corporation
RIELEER

Interest of controlled corporation
REEEER

Beneficial owner

ExBRAA

Interest of controlled corporation
REEERER

Interest of spouse

BB

Number of
Ordinary
Shares

EER#E

556,298,182 (L)

556,298,182(L)

556,208,182(L)

556,298,182(1)

556,298,182(L)

126,518,648 (L)

126,518,648 (L)

126,518,648 (L)

Number of
Derivative
Shares

LR & E

Y R AR EEMRE -

MEEANE  N2024FE3A31H LA EE
PAL(HFBEEXARFTZESITHAR) AR
MDHABERDPEERIEEFRBHEEHEXV
HE2RID IR AETFTHENESIORE
PR AR RIRIEE SR EIEFE 336K
HEATEZELMRmESsSRE T :

Percentage of
the Company’s
Issued

share capital
RN
BRTRAE
Bk

62.28%
62.28%

62.28%

62.28%

62.28%

14.16%

14.16%

14.16%



Notes:
1. The letter “L.” denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares.

2. As at 31 March 2024, 556,298,182 Shares were held by MSEC Holdings.
MSEC Holdings is wholly-owned by RUNMING which is in turn wholly-owned
by Shanghai Yingzhao. Shanghai Yingzhao is wholly-owned by Minshang
Hongbo which is in turn wholly-owned by Minsheng E-Commerce. As
such, Minsheng E-Commerce, Minshang Hongbo, Shanghai Yingzhao and
RUNMING were deemed to be interested in the Shares interested by MSEC
Holdings.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors and the chief executive
of the Company are aware, as at 31 March 2024, no corporation/
person (not being a Director or the chief executive of the Company)
had any interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares,
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which was recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no Director had interest in any
business apart from the Group’s business which directly or indirectly
competed, or was likely to compete with the business of the Group.

At no time during the year or at the end of the year was the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, or the holding company
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted the following
continuing connected transactions:

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 8 October
2021, the following transactions of the Group constituted continuing
connected transactions for the Company:

On 8 October 2021, A& R &I R F R ORI AR A 7] (Qianhai
Minshang Creative Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited*, “Qianhai
Minshang”), the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary established
in the PRC with limited liability entered into a loan agreement with
FY| = E £ B AR B R A 7 (Shenzhen Tai Rui Financial Services
Company Limited*, “Shenzhen Tai Rui”), the Group’s fellow subsidiary
established in the PRC with limited liability, pursuant to which, Qianhai
Minshang agreed to provide a credit line up to RMB8,200,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$10,000,000) (“Credit Line 1”) to
Shenzhen Tai Rui for a term of 3 years, expiring on 7 October 2024 and
carry interest of 8% per annum from the drawdown date. Shenzhen Tai
Rui was given unlimited guarantee by RN REEEERGR QA
(Quanzhou Minshang Financing Guarantee Company Limited*), a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of Minsheng E-Commerce established in the
PRC with limited liability.

As at 31 March 2024, the outstanding principal (before ECL) was
approximately HK$5,722,000, and the associated interest income of
Credit Line 1 for the year ended 31 March 2024 was approximately
HK$633,000.

On 8 October 2021, the Company entered into a loan agreement
with RUNMING, an intermediate holding company of the Company,
pursuant to which, the Company agreed to provide a credit line up to
HK$10,000,000 (“Credit Line 2”) to RUNMING for a term of 3 years,
expiring on 7 October 2024 and carry interest of 8% per annum from
the drawdown date.

As at 31 March 2024, the outstanding principal (before ECL) was

HK$9,000,000, and the associated interest income of Credit Line 2 for
the year ended 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$707,000.
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The Company’s auditor, Elite Partners CPA Limited, was engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The Board has confirmed that the auditor has issued
an unqualified letter in respect of the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Rule 56 of Chapter 14A under the
Listing Rules and reported the results in this letter to the Board. A copy
of the auditor’s letter was submitted to the Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions
had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

Certain related party transactions set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements constitute de minimis continuing connected
transactions and are fully exempted from the connected transaction
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Other than the related party transactions disclosed in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or his/her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, was entered
into or subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.
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The five largest customers in aggregate and the single largest customer
of the Group accounted for approximately HK$7.5 million or 94.4% and
HK$3.1 million or 39.5% of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended
31 March 2024 respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, purchases from the Group’s five
largest suppliers and the largest supplier accounted for approximately
HK$7.3 million or 95.0% and approximately HK$2.9 million or 38.1% of
the Group’s total purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
issued Shares) had interest in any of the above five largest customers
and suppliers of the Group.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a public float of no less than 25% of the issued shares as at the date
of this annual report, which was in line with the requirement under the
Listing Rules.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, during the year ended 31
March 2024, the Group complied in all material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group.

Material subsequent events after 31 March 2024 and up to the date of
this annual report are disclosed under the sub-section “Events After the
Reporting Period” under the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis”.
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Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the applicable laws and
regulations, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty,
or supposed duty, in their respective offices. Such permitted indemnity
provision has been in force throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares. If the
Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing,
holding, disposing of, dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to
the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional advisers.

RSM Hong Kong has resigned as the auditor of the Company with
effect from 19 March 2024 as the Company could not reach a
consensus with RSM Hong Kong on the audit fee for the financial
year ended 31 March 2024. The Directors, with the recommendation
from the Audit Committee, has resolved to appoint Elite Partners
CPA Limited as the new auditor of the Company with effect from 19
March 2024 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of RSM
Hong Kong and to hold office until the conclusion of the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”). The Consolidated
Financial Statements have been audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for reappointment at the
upcoming AGM. A resolution will be proposed at the upcoming AGM
to reappoint Elite Partners CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company.
PricewaterhouseCoopers had been the independent auditor of the
Company before RSM Hong Kong. Save from the above, no any
change in its auditors in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

WU Jiangtao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBENHR S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
MINSHANG CREATIVE TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Minshang
Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 99
to 199, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2024, and consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. The key audit matters we identified are:
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Key Audit Matter
BRETER

Impairment assessment of investments in associates

REEE A RHRE MR E R4

We identified the valuation of investments in associates as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the Group’s
investments in associates in the context of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, combined with the
judgements involved in management’s impairment assessment
of the investments in associates.
BMEBREEARNKREGMERTEABRBESTEE It
THER ESERBMERRNKREHR SE5EGSHE
WEMEBEXN  MEBEEEHNBE RRINIREET
B ATk B 7B 48 R B o

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of investments in
associates amounted to HK$85,188,000 which represented
approximately 52% of the Group’s total assets.
MR20243A31E RBERAANKEREER
85,188,000/&7C ' 1f EEEAEEL52% °

As disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements, investments in associates are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the associates, less
impairment in the values of investment. As such, the Group
is required to assess at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any indication that the carrying amounts of
investments in associates may be impaired.
MINGRE IS MR T 20 I ER - RERE DRI IR E K
AREEHBRARIE  REBEHHABRAER 8%
EEAEEARNER AN EEKE (HREREBENR
B Bt EXEEERSREARTEREFEEMET
KRETREERRINKRE 2 REAERREHTRRE -

Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B ED R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
MBS NAEERRETSEE

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investments in
associates included:

BRPAREREEARNKREGBENERFEH

o Assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
accounting for investments in associates;
e IHEEEBHNBEATNREETEHEENE

Bk

o Understanding the management’s process for
identifying the existence of impairment indicators in
respect of the investments in associates and evaluating
the effectiveness of such process;

e THEEEBHMNNBEAANKESSHFERERE
RHRE T WATEZEFE AL

° Where indicators of impairments have been identified,
assessing the reasonableness of the recoverable
amount of the relevant associates and obtaining an
understanding from the management of their financial
position and future prospects;

e  [MEMFEREERST FEEBABERRTREDE
BN EEMN - WRERE TR BN R ARRATR
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BUZBA®RE
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRETER MBS NAEERRETSEE

Impairment assessment of investments in associates (Continued)

RE&E 2 RRENRERE (&)

For those associates in which such indication exists, the e
Group assessed the carrying amounts for impairment. As
disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements,

no impairment of investments in associates was considered to

be necessary by the management as at 31 March 2024.
REEEERRNZEHERRMS - EXEENERE
BEREE - MR E M BEIMEMT 20 HE EERER
202463 A31 A BEHREE ARINREELRE -
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Assessing the reasonableness of key inputs and
assumptions used by management in their estimation
of recoverable amounts, including projections of
cash flows, growth rates and discount rates applied;
and comparing cash flow projections to supporting
evidence, such as approved budgets, and evaluating
the reasonableness of these budgets with reference
to the historical results and future prospects of the
associates as well as our knowledge of the industry and
business.

AAEEREBNEA RO eERERNETEZH AR
BREZHNEEN  BEMEANRESRETEA - 18
RERMBEZX: WHLRESMETRME T FFEE (10
KEECTEE) URB2RBMERATNBERERK
RARREMBEEATITEREBNRBTEZE
BEHNAEM -



The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023 were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified opinion on those statements on 29 June 2023.

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ms. Liu Hai Jiao with Practising Certificate number
P08207.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Level 23, YF Life Tower

33 Lockhart Road

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

28 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FERREMZEREE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

Continuing operations

Revenue from principal activities:

— Information technology (“IT”) solution
business

Cost of IT solution business

Other income and other net gain

Finance income, net

Employee benefit expenses

Depreciation and amortisation

Property rentals and related expenses

Fuel and utility expenses

Other operating expenses

Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Impairment loss of intangible assets

(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment
losses on financial assets

Impairment of goodwill

Share of post-tax results of associates

Provision for PRC corporate income tax

(Loss)/profit before income tax from
continuing operations
Income tax credit/(expense)

(Loss)/profit for the year from
continuing operations

Discontinued operation
Loss for the year from discontinued
operation

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive expense:

[tem that may be reclassified to profit or
loss:

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operation
— Group
— Associate

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

FREERY

EFRRBWE

— BB (BRI ) R
GEE S

BB AR T REBRA
H At YA B H At Y 2R

BB WA H R

BERAAX
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Hp &R
HEWE - BFE MRz s

BIEEZRERBR
SREEZ CREEBRE) RE
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BB ZRE

DIEBERR ZBRMERESR
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ERIEREXRBNFAER
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AR EHOEEERCER
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Note
B 5

~

15
18

19

20
28(iv)

11

12

2024
2024 F
HK$°000
FHT

7,952

7,952
(7,649)
27,802
3,712
4,027)
2,311)
(35)
(13,383)

2
(4,664)

(23,839)
(8,807)
(13,183)

(38,430)
2,829

(35,601)

(186)
(35,787)

(1,836)
(1,127)

(38,750)

2023

20234
HK$’000
FHT
Re-presented
K&

60,143

60,143
(48,530)
(1,621)
2,570
(7,513)
(2,113)
(2,570)

(7,106)

75

12,437
(4,882)

890
(@

888

(2,260)
(1,372)

(1,961)
(4,359)

(7,692)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ReBEkEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2024  # 2202493431 H 1L F/Z

(Loss)/profit attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
— from continuing operations

— from discontinued operations

Loss attributable to:
Non-controlling interests

— from continuing operations

— from discontinued operations

Total comprehensive expense
attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company

— from continuing operations

— from discontinued operations

Total comprehensive income/(expense)

attributable to:
Non-controlling interests
— from continuing operations
— from discontinued operations

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per

share (HK cents per share)
— from continuing operations

— from discontinued operations

Annual Report 2024
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2024
2024 F
HK$°000
FHT

(35,601)
(186)

(35,787)

(38,564)
(186)

(38,750)

(3.99)
(0.02)

2023

2023 4F
HK$’000
FHT
Re-presented
K&
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(2,260)
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(5,431)
(2,260)
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Consolidated -Statement of Financial Position

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Investments in associates
Loan to an associate

Rental and utilities deposits
Deferred income tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Loan to an associate

Loan to intermediate holding company

Loan to a related company

Current income tax asset

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Equity

Equity attributable to shareholders of
the Company

Share capital

Other reserves

Accumulated losses

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

aE
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Note
ihg=

15
16(a)
18
17
20
20
23
30

21
22

23
20
24
24

26

32
33

e MBKAR

As at 31 March 2024 202443431 H

2024 2023
2024 2023 FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F#ET
28 723
1,098 7,961
= 6,024

= 8,807
85,188 99,498
15,000 15,000
260 2,546
451 24
102,025 140,583
2,529 2,841
1,715 28,597
16,990 24,258
12,534 =
9,870 8,281
6,841 9,878
111 111
10,490 9,736
61,080 83,702
163,105 224,285
2,233 2,233
166,851 170,156
(36,871) (1,084)
132,213 171,305
(103) (109)
132,110 171,196
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBARRR

As at 31 March 2024 202443431 H

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Other payables and accruals
Lease liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Contract liabilities

Lease liabilities

Current income tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

The consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 199 were

&\
FRBEE
H & 50R K e R E A

BEMEHAE

REBAE

B SRR

H b & 0B K e A& A
BMAaE

HERE

B EHAE

e R
HESZKREE

2024 2023

2024 2023 FF

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M FET F#ET
28 300 300
16(a) = 2,503
30 4,001 6,781
4,301 9,584

27 17,699 21,896
28 6,891 13,486
31 = 1,101
16(a) 1,051 6,101
1,053 921

26,694 43,505

30,995 53,089

163,105 224,285

FO9E 199 A MR A M E KR E 72024 F 6 A
2SHKEEESHAETHIUTRERESE -

approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2024 and were signed
on its behalf.

Wu Jiangtao
RIIE
Director

EF
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Tao Jingyuan

MR
Director
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At 1 Aprl 2022

Issue of shares upon acqisttion of
subsidiaries (Note 3a(0))

Loss for the year

Qther comprehensive incomey(expense)

Currency translation difference
Changes in equty for the year
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023

Loss for the year
Disposal of a subsidlary

Qther comprehensive incomey(expense)

Currency translation difference
Changes in equty for the year
At 31 March 2024

Note: Capital reserve represents the difference between the share capital of the
operating subsidiaries acquired, pursuant to the reorganisation, over nominal

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FeaEREEER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

Share

capital

e

(Note 32)

(Ht2)

HK$ 000

Thn

RANRE4R1A 2147

WBHBL AR EARG (3

) %

ERER -
Efp2mbE/ (R3)

EHAEER -

Enfng 8
RBEIAIAR

A03%E4A18 223

EpEE -

HE-FREAA -
Eh2EhE/ (B)

EHAEER -

ERpRAE -

RA4EIA3A 2233

Share

Attributable to owners of the Company

Equity
component
of contingent

premium ~ consideration

he®

HKS/000
T

162,633

170,756

170,756

IARE
WRESS

HK§ 000
TAT

2216

2216

2276

2276

value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

ALTEE AR
Retained
eannings/
Capital  Exchange (Accumulated
reserve reserve losses)
REBEA/
hafif  ERRE (RHER
(Note)
(t3k)
HK§'000 HK$ 1000 HK§'000
T T T
KY) 3110 219
- - (1,363)
- (6,328) -
- (6,328) (1,363)
342 (3218) (1,084)
- - (35,787)
(342) - -
- (2,963) -
(342) (2,963) (35,787)
- (6,181) (36,871)

B

Total

i

HK§ 000
TETL

168,511

20485
(1369

6329
12,794

171,305
(35,787
)

299
(39,092
132213

Non-
controlling
interests  Total equity
FERER hEk
HK§ 000 HKS'000
TR TEn
(108) 168403
- 20,485
Y] (1,872)
8 (6,320)
1) 12,793

109 171,19

- )
- )
6 %)
6 (3008)

109 132110
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FeERafER

For the year ended 31 March 2024  # 2202493431 H 1L F/Z

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Cash (used in)/generated from operations

Interest received

The PRC profits tax (paid)/refund

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from
operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Net inflow from disposal of subsidiary

Loan advanced to intermediate holding
company

Proceeds from loan to an intermediate
holding company

Loan advanced to an associate

Loan advanced to a related company

Loan repayment from a related company

Net inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries

Net cash flows generated from/(used in)
investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Repayment of other borrowing

Interest received

Interest paid

Repayment of principal element of lease
liabilities

Net cash flows used in financing activities

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash

REZHHBREARE
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METHFERERE
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B A8

ENHE

BEEMEREZ AT

MEETHAARSRE TR

FECEEBRNRERREEEY

equivalents from continuing operations #&in, (i 4>)

Discontinued Operation
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
from discontinued operation

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS FOR THE YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE END OF THE YEAR
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Note
Mo

35(a)

29

35(b)

35(c)
35(c)

35(c)

26

2024
2024 £
HK$’000
FHET

(13,111)

(1,029)

(14,140

©6)
27,866

(900)

(10,856)

894

16,998

286
(30)

(1,130)
(874)

1,984

(186)

1,798

9,736

(1,044)

10,490

2023
20234
HK$’000
FH&TT

2,198
2,089
1,015

5,302

(856)

1,900
(9,315)

2,390

(5,881)

(111)
(274)

(13,078)
(13,463)

(14,042)

(14,042)

23,790

(12)

9,736



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 14 April 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of
business is located at Unit 4201, 42/F, Tower One Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the operation of restaurant chains in Hong Kong,
trading business and information technology (“IT”) solution
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (HK$'000), unless otherwise stated.

This note provides a list of the material accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The consolidated
financial statements are for the Group consisting of the Company
and its subsidiaries.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard
(“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”);
and interpretations. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provision of
the Listing Rules and with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

REaIlRHER AR AR (AR F])R2016
FAA14BRBHASHESEEZF2RE(R
AVEY (1961 FEIFAN « &L4RE RIERT)
EHREMEFMKZIAEREBR AR -
2N B HY AL 9 B BE b 3iE /& Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands & & &
EEEMB AR ESEBEIRNET
DH—H421 4201 = o

ARBR—HAREERAGE - AR RE
MEAR (G AEE]) T2EEERE
EHEENKE EREARKME (T
B ) ®EEHEGREMAR X (&R
FRORTTERFET o

BRA BRI A MBI IAETT ([78
T2 BEERECHEEREIIN
FTuH(FET) -

AHERERNFBEZERE B RRAK
ANIESFBRRFE -BRHTAHIN
ZERRERFMABZ2INFEERER - 45
EMBHBRRIIBASE (BARA REK
ENCIE PR T

AEBEGRAMBREDREFE S
fAg ((BEEEAIE]) RHW
FErEVBHREEN (BERMBRE
BRI D wE - BRMBREENERE
EEVBHREEYN (BERUBRE
A BAEGER((FERETE
Al RRE - i EREMBRE T E
S EMRAZBRAREGEIREE(RA
AEPI (6228 ) 2 MERTE - &7
BB RRTIIRE LA L RS

2024 F F 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(@)  New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on or after 1 April 2023 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to
assets and liabilities
arising from a single
transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
(new standard)

Amendments to HKFRS 17  Amendments to HKFRS
17

Amendments to HKFRS 17  Initial Application
of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 —
Comparative
Information

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material effect on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current
and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

In addition, the Group has not applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs, that have been issued but
are not yet effective, in these consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants’

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback’

Hong Kong Interpretation 5  Presentation of Financial
(Revised) Statements —
Classification by the
Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains
a Repayment on

Demand Clause’
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements’

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution
and HKAS 28 of Assets between
an Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture®

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April

2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2025.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date

to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of all the new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

Annual Report 2024

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred assets. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated
statement of changes in equity respectively.

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at the acquisition-date fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued,
liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum of the
consideration transferred in a business combination
to calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non- controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is allocated to each of the
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within
the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. Goodwill impairment
reviews are undertaken annually, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU
containing the goodwill is compared to its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use and the
fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is
recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

Annual Report 2024

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is nor remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages.
the Groups previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control).
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss or other comprehensive income,
as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in
the acquiree prior to the acquisition (late that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be
accounted for on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

If the initial accounting for a business combination
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports
provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement
period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition late that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that date.

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case when the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting (see (iv) below), after
initially being recognised at cost.

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee
in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements
in other comprehensive income of the investee in
other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate. The carrying
amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for
impairment in accordance with the policy described in
Note 2.8.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries and associates are accounted
for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries and
associates are accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investment in subsidiaries and
associates is required upon receiving a dividend from the
investment if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary and the associate in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of
the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, which is the Company’s functional currency and
the Group’s presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at year end exchange rates are generally recognised
in profit or loss.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on a net basis within “other operating expenses”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each statement
of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect to the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expense are
translated at the date of the transactions), and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities
are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (the “CODM?”). The CODM has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company who
are responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, who make
strategic decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the reporting period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Restaurants and kitchen Shorter of lease term or
equipment 5 years
Computer equipment Shorter of lease term or

5 years

Furniture and fixtures Shorter of lease term or
5 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or
10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within ‘other income’, in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Separately acquired trademarks are shown at
historical cost. Trademarks have a finite useful life and
are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of trademarks over their
estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are
initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition
date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at revalued amounts, being their fair
value at the date of the revaluation less subsequent
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible
assets that are acquired separately. Intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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T platform

Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”) related system
acquired in the course of business operation is
recognised as IT platform. The SaaS related system
have a finite useful life that is dependent to the SaaS
interactive marketing business of the Group and
is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected useful life of the SaaS
related system, which is estimated to be 5 years.
The expected useful life is determined based on
management’s best estimate of the total period from
which the benefits will be derived from the SaaS
related system and will reflect the consumption of
future economic benefits from the SaaS related
system in the Group’s SaaS interactive marketing
business, taking into account (1) the typical term of
the service contracts; (2) the business expansion plan
of SaaS interactive marketing business formulated by
the management; (3) the capability and functionality
of the SaaS related system; and (4) technological
obsolescence.

Non-complete agreement

Non-compete agreement acquired in a business
combination is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. The non-compete agreement has a
finite useful life and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate its cost over the term
of the agreement, which is 5 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities
in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income or
through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’'s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. For assets
measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income. For investments in equity instruments that are
not held for trading, this will depend on whether the
Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FvocClI).
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Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at
fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the investments
have expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit
or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement categories into
which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is recognised as finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss and presented in ‘other (loss)/gain’
together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in other gains/(losses) and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in the statement of
profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period
in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

Equity instruments (Continued)

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in “other gain” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses)
on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair value.

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables. For other financial
assets, the Group applies the general approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires the 12-months
losses when there is no significant increase in credit
risk since origination. See Note 3.1(c) for further
details.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost comprises invoiced cost less purchase
rebates. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows
and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. See Note 22 for
further information about the Group’s accounting for trade
receivables and Note 3.1(c) for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 32).
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade
and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid
on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this
case, the fee is deferred until the drawn down occurs. To
the extent there is no evidence that is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised
as prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and
the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted
by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and considers whether it is probable that a taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The
group measures its tax balances either based on the
most likely amount or the expected value, depending
on which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
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Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities
are presented as current employee benefit obligations
in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For Hong Kong employment, the Group contributes
to the mandatory provident fund scheme for eligible
employees, the assets of which are held in a separate
trustee-administered funds.

For the PRC employment, it is covered by various
government-sponsored pension plan under which
the employees are entitled to a monthly pension
based on certain formulas. The relevant government
agencies are responsible for the pension liabilities to
these retired employees. The Group contributes on a
monthly basis to these pension plans.

The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense when
they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

In Hong Kong, employees who have completed a
required number of years of service to the Group
are eligible for long service payments under the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in the event of the
termination of their employment, provided that such
termination meet the circumstances specified in the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

REARREME AKERA
BEREERBHMEAESEE
TR MEEEAITAERE
MBLEESHA -

BrEEENS BEZEAS
BHRAEHRKEE B
- BERBETAESAZE
EBAXNMERE - BRRK
FEBAREERZSCRINE
ITXNERE - AKEEAR
ZHRNEFBIHEK

XNERHRR AEREHE
HAREE - BRAHRNE
HRERLSEERMNFAX - |
NHAERSEE  HEAAE
B EbASK SN P ok
R e

BEEZENERINEER#E
ZEFBREER -CRBEER
EHRRAEERENRBESL
MERAFTRETREE -

BEFZENRBREBRNRFR
77 FLARER o

EEE REEFEREREED
RAEERBHEEZIRE
FROEENRERLEAE
REERYRBNAR  EBH
RIEANAEEBEEGDA
BB

2024 F F 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

Bonus payments to employees are discretionary
to management. Bonus payments are recognised
in profit or loss in the period when the Group
has formally announced the bonus payments to
employees.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenues are recognised when
goods are transferred or services are rendered to the
customer.

Depending on the terms of the contract, service may be
provided over time or at a point in time. Service is provided
over time if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If service transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the goods or service.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on one of the
following methods that best depict the Group’s performance
in satisfying the performance obligation:

o time-based measure of progress; or

° the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation

If contracts involve the provision of multiple performance
obligations, the transaction price will be allocated from each
performance obligation based on the relative stand-alone
selling prices.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

Before determining the transaction price to be allocated
from different performance obligations, the Group first
determines the service fees that the Group entitles in the
contract and adjusts the transaction price for variable
considerations and significant financing component, if any.
The Group includes an amount of variable considerations
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal in amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for the services that the Group has transferred
to a customer. In addition, incremental costs incurred to
obtain a new contract, if recoverable, are capitalised as
contract cost and subsequently amortised when the related
revenue is recognised.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment under the
simplified approach which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance.

A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to deliver the
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration from the customer. A contract
liability is recognised by the Group when the customer
pays consideration but before the Group deliver the goods
or services the service to the customer. Contract liabilities
mainly included the advance payments received from the
trading business provision of initial set up services for the
customers using the Group’s software.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

The following is a description of the accounting policy for TXhARAERETEREZREZE
the principal revenue streams of the Group. STEBCR AT -

The Group operates a chain of restaurants. Revenue
from restaurants operation is recognised at a point in
time when catering services have been provided to
the customers.

In accordance with the principal versus agent
considerations prescribed by HKFRS 15, the Group
evaluates whether it acts as the principal or agent in
revenue from trading business to determine whether
revenue should be recorded on a gross or net basis.
The Group is acting as the principal if, individually or in
combination, it controls the specified good or service
before being transferred to the customer. An agent
arranges for goods or services to be provided by the
principal to its end customer, which normally receives
a commission or fee for these activities. Revenue
from trading business is recognised at the point in
time when the control of the merchandise has been
transferred when the goods are delivered.

The Group’s IT solution business includes provision
and design of SaaS system, software customisation
services and IT solution services in the PRC.

Under the SaaS arrangements, the Group licenses
the software platform for the customers’ use and
provides data management services to the customers
throughout the contract period. Service fee derived
by the Group from the SaaS arrangements are
determined based on the transaction volume of the
software platforms licensed and are recognised over
the service period.
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

Under the software customisation service agreement,
the Group customises the software based on the
requirement of the customers. Revenue is recognised
when control over the customised software has been
transferred to the customer. The customers cannot
receive and consume the benefits simultaneously
from the Group as well as control the customised
software until the software delivered to the customer.
The customised software generally has no alternative
use for the Group due to contractual restrictions.
However, an enforceable right to payment does not
arise until customised software transfer to customer.
Therefore, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customised software is passed to the
customer.

Other IT solution services

Revenue of other IT solution service fees for value
added solutions, such as online advertising, is
recognised over the service period.

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes and financial asset at amortised
cost calculated using effective interest method.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset, after deduction of the loss allowance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 3 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real
estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payment that are based on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

HERRATAEEE YEHESR
EfRANEEFR 2z BHERAEEE -
il %Q?’]L%ﬁTiSiZ.EHﬂﬁE o
HHDZRENEEET  TEESE
R AR B AR o

BRI RS HEMFEEEKRE D
Zliéu’%lhiz REENIFEEEM S *ﬁ
ﬁmﬁiﬁﬁ H—ﬁ&ﬁn cEM

ENGEREAKE D - AT - BLALK
Iﬁﬁ%ﬂkﬂﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁg'ﬁ
BEBHEENMFESEAKRBY AR
B-HEAKED WEERERD

HEELWEERARBYVIZARER
B8 - HERERBE THHEEMNK
HFRE

s BEEMNK(BREELWEEMN
R REEMEREEESR

o ERNBEIMEXmMAEHEEN
2 N R GRS R GRS 8
MEG L5 E

s AKBERMKEEERTE
NS ER

s MAKESEWTEITEREE
2R ReRZEEENTRE

e (HEMRMRAKREITEZER
& RIBRES IR EREIK -

RIESERTEEEERNNEE
1—} ﬁu+)\g1 u+EZW

2024 F F 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group
where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,

° any initial direct costs, and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the

shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
values when there is a reasonable assurance that the grants
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the period necessary to match them with the
costs that they are intended to compensate.

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared,
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the
discretion of the Company, on or before the end of the
reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner. Because of the simplicity of the financial
structure and the current operations of the Group, no
hedging activities are undertaken by management.

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the
PRC for the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the individual group companies and net
investment in foreign operations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

Annual Report 2024

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, most of the financial
assets and liabilities of the Group’s subsidiaries are
denominated in their functional currencies. Hence, the
directors of the Company consider the Group does
not have any material foreign exchange risk exposure.
No sensitivity analysis is presented.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the
impact of rate changes on interest-bearing assets and
liabilities. Financial assets and borrowings obtained
at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. In the opinion of the directors, the expected
change in fair values as a result of change in market
interest rates will not be significant, thus no sensitivity
analysis is presented.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that changes
in market interest rates will impact cash flows arising
from variable rate financial instruments. The Group’s
assets and liabilities, which bear variable interest
rates, mainly include bank deposits. Other Group’s
assets and liabilities, including loan to an associate,
loan to intermediate holding company, loan to a
related company and other borrowing, bear fixed
interest rates.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, if interest rates
had been 100 basis-points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, loss after taxation would have
approximately HK$99,000 higher/lower (2023: loss
after taxation would have approximately HK$64,000
lower/higher). The Group regularly monitors its interest
rate risk to ensure there are no unduly exposures to
significant interest rate movements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, loan to an associate, loan
to a related party and loan to intermediate holding
company included in the consolidated statement
of financial position, which represent our Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets. Management has a credit policy in
place to monitor the exposures to these credit risks
on an ongoing basis.

The Group has credit policy to monitor the level of
credit risk. In general, the credit record and credit
period for each customer or debtor are regularly
assessed based on the customer’s or debtor’s
financial condition, their credit records and other
factors such as current market condition. The Group
applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables and contract assets from third
parties.

Trade receivables are mainly related to the trading
and IT solution businesses in the PRC.

] Trade receivables (trading and IT solution
businesses)

To measure the expected credit losses (the
“ECL”"), trade receivables related to trading
and IT solution businesses, amounting to
HK$25,263,000 (2023: HK$28,597,000),
were individually assessed for recoverability
based upon their respective credit profiles and
forward-looking factors.

The Group considered that default has occurred
when trade receivables is overdue for more than
90 days unless it is supported by reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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()

Trade receivables (trading and IT solution
businesses) (Continued)

The Group calculates ECL using two main
components: probability of default (the “PD”)
and loss given default (the “LGD”). The ECL is
derived from the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables as at 31 March 2024 multiplied
by the adjusted PD and by the LGD. Firstly,
the PD was referred from an external credit
report, showcasing PDs of different industries
that the directors of the Company adopted
and assigned to their various customers
accordingly. Such PDs was then adjusted with
forward looking factors correlating with GDP
per capita, as at 31 March 2024, certain trade
receivables of the Group has been overdue for
more than 12 months, which due to the severe
economic environment and gloomy atmosphere
of the market which adversely impacted the
repayment ability of the customers, resulting
in adjusted PDs ranging from 2.2% to 10%
(20283: 0.29% to 7.98%). The LGD represented
expected losses on the gross carrying amount
of trade receivables in the event of default, with
reference to the recovery rates of subordinated
bonds abstracted from the external credit
report. The LGD as at 31 March 2024 was
ranging from 72.10% to 100% (2023: 72.17%).

The ECL for trade receivables is considered
by the directors of the Company to be
HK$23,548,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables,
management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment
on the recoverability of deposits and other
receivables based on their credit profile,
historical settlement records, past experience,
and forward-looking factors.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no
other receivable (2023: HK$763,000) for trading
business was written off as the recoverability
was low. The directors believe that such
receivables balances were no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition for
the remaining deposits and other receivables
and therefore the loss allowance was measured
at an amount equal to 12-month expected
credit losses. As at 31 March 2024, the loss
allowance for trading and IT solution businesses
amounted to HK$NIl (2023: HK$139,000).

Cash and cash equivalents

To manage the risk arising from cash at banks,
the Group only transacts with reputable banks
which are all high-credit-quality financial
institutions. There is no recent history of default
in relation to these financial institutions. The
12-month expected credit loss was minimal as
at 31 March 2024 (2023: minimal).

Loans to an associate, a related company and
intermediate holding company

The credit quality of loans to an associate, a
related company, and an intermediate holding
company has been assessed with reference to
historical information about the counterparties
default rates and financial position of the
counterparties.
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The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash to
meet its liquidity and working capital requirements.
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity reserve which comprises cash and cash
equivalents (Note 26) on the basis of expected cash
flows. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements, to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the end of each financial
reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows, except for other borrowing
with a repayment on demand clause that is included
in the “on demand” time band. Balances due within
twelve months equal their carrying amounts, except
for lease liabilities, as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

At 31 March 2024 R202453831 1

Trade payables B S EME
Other payables and accruals HitERFERE B
Lease liabilties HERE

At 31 March 2023 MW2023E3 A 318

Trade payables BHEMNE
Other payables and accruals HioENFEREAER
Lease liabilties MEAR

On

demand
REX
HK$'000
THT

6,891

6,891

2,013

2,013
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Between  Between
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the total
borrowing to total equity ratio, which is expressed as a
percentage of total borrowings (including other borrowing)
less cash and cash equivalents over total equity as shown
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group is in net cash position
(2023: net cash position).

The carrying values of the Group’s financial assets, including
loan to an associate, loan to intermediate holding company,
loan to a related company, trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents,
and financial liabilities, including trade payables, other
payables and accruals, other borrowing and lease liabilities
approximate to their fair values due to their short-term
maturities. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is
available to the Group for similar financial instruments,
unless the discounting effect is insignificant.

There is no material offsetting, enforceable master netting
arrangement and similar agreements as at 31 March 2024
and 2023.
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AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

Annual Report 2024

The Group considers itself as a principal for trading
business in the PRC as the Group obtained control
of the specified good before being transferred to the
customers because (i) the Group demonstrated its
primarily responsible for fulfilling the trading contract,
(i) the Group was subject to inventory risk as the
Group control of the goods before transferring
to customer, and (i) the Group had discretion in
establishing prices in the contract agreed with
customer.

During the year, HK$Nil (2023: Nil) of revenue from
trading business was recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(b) Useful lives of property, plant and

(c)

equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation expense for its
property, plant and equipment by reference to the
estimated periods that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of these
assets. These estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
Management will adjust the depreciation expense
where useful lives are less than previously estimated.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful
lives. Periodic review could result in a change in useful
lives and therefore depreciation expense in the future
periods.

Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets
and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets
and right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
The recoverable amounts of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets
have been determined based on the higher of its
value in use or its fair value less costs of disposal,
taking into account latest market information and past
experience. These calculations and valuations require
the use of judgements and estimates.
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Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an
event has occurred that may indicate that the related
asset values may not be recoverable; (i) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair
value less costs of disposal or net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and
(i) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in
the cash flow projections, could affect the net present
value used in the impairment test and as a result
affect the Group’s consolidated financial position and
results of operations.

The carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets as at 31 March 2024 are HK$28,000 (2023:
HK$723,000), Nil (2023:HK$6,212,000) and
HK$1,098,000 (2023: HK$7,961,000) respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The loss allowances for trade receivables are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Please refer to Note 3.1(c) for more details.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is HK$1,715,000 (net of allowance
for doubtful debts of HK$23,548,000) (2023:
HK$28,597,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts
of Nil)).

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment. Goodwill is also
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Determining whether goodwill
is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of CGU to which goodwill has been allocated,
which is the higher of the value in use or fair value
less costs of disposal. The calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from CGU and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected or change in
facts and circumstances which results in downward
revision of future cash, a material impairment loss/
further impairment loss may arise. Details of the key
assumptions in assessment are disclosed in Note 17.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of goodwill
is Nil with impairment loss HK$8,807,000 (2023: Nil)
recognised during the year.
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The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.
During the year, HK$2,829,000 (2023: HK$2,000
income tax expense was charged) of income tax
credit was credited to profit or loss based on the
estimated loss.

As stated in Note 35(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group was required to determine
the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities in Context Image Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries in accordance with HKFRS 3 “Business
Combination” on acquisition date. The Group makes
judgements and estimates in relation to the fair value
allocation of the purchase price and the fair value of
contingent consideration as part of the consideration
of the business acquisition. The intangible assets
identification, and the valuation process for intangible
assets and the contingent consideration requires
significant judgement by management in respect of
estimates of future cash flows, associated discount
rates and the probability of the achievement of
specified performance targets to ensure the valuation
techniques and inputs used are reasonable and
supportable. Where there are any changes on inputs
of valuation, a change on the goodwill may arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

As described in note 28 and 35(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest in Context Image Holdings Limited (“Context
Image”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “Context
Image Group”) during the year ended 31 March
2023, but had not yet reported said transaction to
the PRC tax authority, which, in accordance with the
relevant PRC tax laws and regulations, could enable
the tax authority to impose a penalty of 50% to 3
times of the unpaid PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”).

As at 31 March 2024, a provision of HK$4,882,000
(31 March 2023: HK$4,882,000) were recognised
in relation to the non-withheld CIT and the relevant
maximum penalty based on the management’s best
estimation. Significant judgements and estimates are
required in determining the aforesaid provision. Where
the final outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the consolidated profit or loss in the period
in which such determination is made by the PRC tax
authority.

The executive directors of the Company, who are the CODM
of the Group, review the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on reports reviewed
by the executive directors of the Company that are used to make
strategic decisions.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of profit/(loss) before income tax.
The measurement basis excludes the effects of non-recurring
expenditure from operating segments.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group is organised into the following
business segments:

(i) Trading business in the PRC; and
(i)  IT solution business, including provision and design of SaaS

system, software customisation services and IT solution
services in the PRC.
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AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

The table below shows the segment information of revenue
and results and there were no revenue or other transactions

between the business segments for the year ended 31

March 2024 (2023: same).

Continuing
operation
Trading
business
ERER
HK$’000
TER
Segment revenue o Ep R ER -
Segment cost of revenue 7 B Uk R PR AR -
Impairment loss on financial assets ¢ EEE 2 ERBE -
Impairment loss of intangible assets & & E 2 EKE -
Impairment loss of goodwil EHEZREEE -
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH -
Finance cost, net AR -
Others Ao (3,217)
Segment results DEEE (3,217)
Share of post-tax results of DEEERA 2RI EE
associates
Gain on disposal of subsidiary HENB ARz Wt
Impairment loss on financial assets € B & E 2 REBE
Unallocated corporate expenses AP ERT
Loss before income tax BRETEH A AR
Capital expenditure BARAX =
Assets and liabilities EERAEE
Segment assets for reportable ARENH O EHEE
segments 27,538
Unallocated corporate assets AOEEEEE
Total assets BEE
Segment liabilities for reportable REDHZABAR
segments 1,309

Unallocated corporate liabilities
Total liabilities

Annual Report 2024

TRERDHFWREREEER - RE
ZE2024FE3ABIHIEFE  EBD
Ez s s sk H b2 5 (2023 4F -

RLE) -

Continuing
operation
IT solution
business

FEEEXE
BB R
FREHR
HK$°000
T#T

7,952

9,862

26,652

Discontinued
operation
Vietnamese-
style
restaurant
business
B#&I1E

W EE
£
HK$°000
THER

2,266
(603)

(469)
(14)
(1,366)
(186)

Total

st
HK$’000
TR

10,218
(8,252)
(23,548)
(4,664)
(8,807)
(1,805)
(14)
(6,165)
(43,037)

(13,183)
25,829
(291)
(7,934)

(38,616)
6

37,400
125,705

163,105

27,961
5,080

33,041
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e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. @R 9EEE @)

(Continued)

(@) SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS DEU R R 4E ()

(a)

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BZE2023F3A31HILEFE

Discontinued
operation
Continuing Continuing  Vietnamese-
operation operation style
Trading IT solution restaurant
business business business Total
B#RIE
BELEEL mEEB
SECEER AARERER BB E
BH5%E% HRER %% @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAEL FAET T FAT
Segment revenue o E - 60,143 46,446 106,589
Segment cost of revenue o E M E A - (48,530) (12,899) (61,429)
Reversal of impairment losses/ CREEZRESERD
(impairment losses) on financial (REESE)
assets 158 (83) - 75
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH - (1,058) (8,500) (9,558)
Finance income/(cost), net BBEWA (BAA) F8 5 638 215) 428
Others Hity (834) (6,156) (27,092) (34,082)
Segment results DEEE 671) 4,954 (2,260) 2,023
Share of post-tax profit of associates 43 {f7 & 1\ B 2 B B 14 1% 7 12,437
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBEERT (15,830)
Loss before income tax BRETEHAIE R (1,370)
Capital expenditure =N - = 837 837
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Segment assets for reportable ARENI B A BEE
segments 15,277 58,269 16,358 89,904
Unallocated corporate assets AOBECEEE 134,381
Total assets BEE 224,285
Segment liabiltties for reportable AREH Bz BEE
segments 1,022 24,839 12,446 38,307
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOWEXEE 14,782
Total liabilities Baff 53,089

REaIRHER AR AR
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AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
results represent the loss incurred by/profit earned by each
segment without allocation of central administration costs,
depreciation and amortisation, directors’ emoluments,
finance income/(cost), net and foreign exchange differences,
net. Segment assets represent the assets recorded by each
segment without allocation of central assets, investments
in associates, loan to an associate and loan to intermediate
holding company. Segment liabilities represent the liabilities
recorded by each segment without central liabilities, lease
liabilities and provision for the PRC corporate income tax.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for purposes of
resources allocation and performance assessment.

Revenue by geographic areas is determined based on the
location of customers. The following tables present revenue
from external customers and certain non-current assets
information for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
by geographical area.

Continuing operations FEREER
Hong Kong B
The PRC Fh

Annual Report 2024

RED B ST ERRERNEEET K
RER - D EEEES D BELENE
B/ RBREER - WED R RITH
A FTENEH E=HE BE
WA (AR FRERINEE R =5
FE - DHEERSDEBRBNEE -
TESEEFREE - RBEE QA
E - m—HBERRREERKREP
FERARRBER - DHMAEERES
DHEEHNAE  TEEPRAE
HERBERTEMRMEHERS - 1t
T ERDERRBRFHAETELE
REERENTIE

i &5 2 ek TR E R P e i
BE - NREVHZE2024F k2023
F3A31 HIEFEZHIES 5D BN
BRPWRERETIERBEEER -

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Re-presented

& E

7,952 60,143
7,952 60,143
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y, / Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

. \ J HEMBHRERM T
N - _7 For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E
5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W@k 7EBEE @)
(Continued)
(b) GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (Continued) (b) HEEFE (&)
(i) Non-current assets (i) ERBEE
2024 2023
2024 2023 &
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHETT
Hong Kong BE 1,424 11,261
The PRC i 100,150 117,794
101,574 129,055
The non-current assets information above is based on FHiERBEEERIBESE
the locations of the assets and excludes the deferred EfMEHET AT TEERET
income tax assets. FISHEE -
(c) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM (c) BEFEEHWEDE
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
2024 2023
2024 2023 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Re-presented
&E7|
Continuing Operations BEKCEER
IT solution business BB BRATRER 7,952 60,143
Of which revenue is recognised: B amim A T A R #ER
— at a point in time — PA B ) Bh 6,921 39,992
— over time — BERF R 1,031 20,151
7,952 60,143

REFaIFHER AR AR
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AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F202443H31H I F/Z

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.
(Continued)

ERk9BEE -

(d) INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR
CUSTOMERS

Certain customers of IT solution business contributed more
than 10% of the total revenue of the Group during the year.

d FEREXEEFZESR

FR-BRBMBEBRASTREBZET
BEPEBMAKREAWEEIBI10% ° %

(e)

The amount of revenue of these customers are disclosed as ERPZNECHEBEENT
follows:

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET F&TT
Customer A ZEA - 19,152
Customer B =FB 3,143 =
Customer C BFEC 2,239 =
Customer D =FD 1,232 =

TRANSACTION PRICE ALLOCATED TO THE
REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION
FOR CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)

() PEMERFENHRTEAEMR

MR ZE

RERDEZHR TENEE CRETT
KA RIETT) R 5 E RERK S

as at year end and the expected timing of recognising FITEEARFE AT
revenue as follows:
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$000
FHERT FHET
Within 1 year 1R _ 1.101

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024



6. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAIN/(LOSS)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

6. HttkARKEMKE (&HK)

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Re-presented
wEY|
Continuing Operations BREREER
Exchange loss, net HNBE B 18 F BR - (360)
Written-off of other receivables Lt JE UK SR TE B 8E - (763)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HEMBAR W 25,829 -
Others il 1,973 (497)
Other income and other gain/(loss) Hg A REM IS (E5i8) 27,802 (1,620)
7. FINANCE INCOME, NET 7. MEWARHE
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHETT
Re-presented
wEY
Continuing Operations BFEREER
Finance cost from RELTIEE Z8E KA
- lease liabilities -HEAE (30) (59)
(30) (59)
Finance income from RKENUNTEEZBERA
- bank deposits —RITHER 286 16
— loan to an associate — A — A& D RIREE R 1,904 1,200
— loan to an intermediate holding — [ — A EER A R R
company B3 707 777
— loan to a related company —m—EEsAFTREER 633 636
— financial assets at amortised cost — BB EN AR eMEE 212 =
3,742 2,629
Finance income, net BbE WA TR 3,712 2,570

REaIBHERBR AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

Continuing Operations
Auditors’ remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services
Amortisation of intangible assets
Cost of IT solution business
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Employee benefit expenses
Exchange loss, net

A2 BB 5 B

—EFT IR

—IEEET IR
B E E#H
BB R T REBRA
WE - BERREBITE

BERAMAX
SINGEE B 1R B

Expenses relating to short-term leases E2%2 BifA & #HRE 2 B =X

Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE¥ - FE R&RE 2 K=

equipment
Legal and professional fee
Impairment losses/(Reversal of
impairment losses) on financial
assets
Impairment loss of intangible assets
Impairment loss of goodwill
Rates and management fee
Repairs and maintenance

Annual Report 2024

ARMERE
ERMEEIREEE CRE
EiERE)

BIZEEZRERBER
e RERE
EMMERE
MR EE

2024

2024 F

Notes HK$’000
MEsE THExT
1,200

18 1,360
7,649

18 52
9 4,027

6 -
16(b) -
15 @)
4,767

19 23,839
18 4,664
17 8,807
203

57

2023

2023 F
HK$’000
FHETT
Re-presented

=g

1,600
300
1,052
48,530

206
7,513
360
2,570

4,178



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9. ERRTIMAZ(BEEEiE)

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Re-presented
Pl
Continuing Operations BFEREER
Basic salaries, allowances and other EAXEE R REMEMEH
benefits in kind 3,862 7,010
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL 90 30
Pension costs — defined contribution plans i k& B 2N — R 5F i 7 5+ 2 75 473
4,027 7,513
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS EEERSHMAL

The emoluments payable to the five (2023: five) individuals
including two (2023: three) directors whose emoluments are the
highest in the Group during the year are as follows:

AEERAE(2023F : ) AEEHRS
FMAL(BEMRA (20236 : =R)EF)
FERTHOFT BN T -

2024 2023
2024 2023 %
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Re-presented
L5
Continuing Operations FEREER
Salaries, bonus, allowances and other e T RN EM
benefits in kind EMEA 1,762 2,003
Discretionary bonus I IFIEAL 60 =
Pension costs — defined contribution plans & k& A 7N — 5 5E fH 7k 5+ 2 48 33
1,870 2,036
The emoluments of individuals other than directors fell within the EZUIINATHHEN FUTEHE :
following bands:
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 FF
Re-presented
K5
Continuing Operations FEREER
HK$1 to HK$500,000 17702 500,000/8 7T 2 1
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 7 7T 2 1,000,000 78 7T 1 1

REaIBHERBR AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

The remuneration of every director during the years is set FAR SEEFZ2HMEFWOT -
out below:
Employer’s
retirement
Allowances benefit
Salaries  and benefit Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances in kind bonuses contributions Total

Ex
BER BIREH

wE HeRE  BUREN  BERL R At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FThRT FHET Thn Tén Tén Thn

Year ended 31 March 2024 BE04F3ANALEE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Wu Jiangtao (Chairmar) RIBRE(ZE) - 120 - 10 7 137
Mr. Tao Jingyuan R R E 4 (7T AH)

(Chief Executive Officer) = 120 - 10 7 137
Mr. Lai Xiaopeng Michael (Note ()~ FBREHESE 4 (FiH3E() - 120 - 10 7 137

Independent non-executive drectors BV TEE

Mr. Cheung Miu RBLE 270 - - - - 270
Mr. Cheung Pak To RAREE 270 - - - - 270
Mr. Choi Tze Kit Sammy BTRSA 270 - - - - 270

810 360 - 30 2 1,221
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(a) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

10. EFRF R F = @)

(@) EEM<E @)

Employer's
retirement
Allowances benefit
Salaries  and benefit  Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances in kind bonuses  contributions Total
Ex
=19 SRR
e HeERE  BURN  BEEL  GEEX )
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TET TET TET TER TR FET
Year ended 31 March 2023 BZ2023%3831H
LEFE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Wu Jiangtao (Chaiman) RIBEE(EE) - 120 - 10 7 137
Mr. Tao Jingyuan BEELE
(Chisf Executive Offcer) (178 #3) = 120 = 10 7 137
Mr. Lai Xiaopeng Michael (Note () FBEefE 5t 4 (7L () - 40 - - 2 42
Mr. Lu Shenghong (Note (i) AT LA (PR G) - 93 - 10 5 108
Ms. Li Jia (Note (i) FfE L (aE i) - 80 - - 4 84
Inclependent non-executive directors B FHTEE
Mr. Choi Tze Kit Sammy BF@gAE 360 - - - = 360
Mr. Cheung Miu T LA 360 - - - = 360
Mr. Cheung Pak To RIABWEE 360 - - - = 360
1,080 453 - 30 25 1,588
Notes: BaE
0] Appointed as the executive director of the Company with i) BEZERKRRRZHITESE - 52022

effective from 30 November 2022.

(ii) Resigned as the executive director of the Company with effective
from 10 January 2023.

(iii) Resigned as the executive director of the Company with effective
from 30 November 2022.

(iv) No directors waived any emolument during the year (2023: Nil).

V) No emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person
accepting office as a director are to be treated as emoluments
paid or receivable in respect of that person’s services as a
director.

(i)

(i)

F11 A30BEAEMR -

BEARTRZHMITES - H2023F 1
A10B#EAERK °

BEARBZHITES * B2022F 11
H 30 BB ERL -

FAMEZEENEEMME (2023 F :
) o

BEREAALEIRETREMEN
KB U 2 Bl & IR B A A TR
sEMeNiEEZME -

REflRHE AR AR
20244F 3R] 155
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F202443H31H I F/Z

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(b) DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND
TERMINATION BENEFITS

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits in respect of their services
to the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

(c) CONSIDERATION PROVIDED TO THIRD
PARTIES FOR MAKING AVAILABLE
DIRECTORS’ SERVICES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company did
not pay any consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services to the Company (2023: Nil).

(d) INFORMATION ABOUT LOANS,
QUASILOANS AND OTHER DEALINGS IN
FAVOUR OF DIRECTORS, CONTROLLED
BODIES CORPORATE BY AND CONNECTED
ENTITIES WITH SUCH DIRECTORS

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
entered into by the Company or subsidiary undertaking of
the Company, where applicable, in favour of the directors,
or body corporate controlled by or entities connected with
any of the directors at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2023: Nil).

(e) DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2023: Nil).

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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10.

EEEAEFE

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

EERARENRAILEF

HE2024F3A31BILFE  BE
EEREAAEERRHE ZRBmHE W
B 5k 7% W B A 1) 3R 1R 4@ F1 3l 4% L A8 F
(20234 : ) o

RENESHREEE=FRMH
KE

REE2024F3A31BIEFE - K
AR ERERARRAT 2 EZRBRA
EAE=H X HERRE (20234 :
£7) o

LES ZSESNIEHE
ErEEEERAZZANE
FEERREMRZHNEN

NAFERFAFEAMER @ AQ
RINARAINE AR (LEA) &
AN EMABE SR AT ZSE LG
ZEEREEERE AT EANER
EERREMZ G (2023 F : ) o

EERNRG  ZTHHASHHTH
EWNIE

BRARE B SRR FESAFTIEE N
RAGIBIER L BASEEREER -
MARREENEP A EAFE (T
WEENEE)  ERAEERIAK
FEAMBMDATENTAEAR
5 THERAH (20234 : )



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The amount of tax (credited)/charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income represents:

Continuing operations BHELCEER
Current income tax expense BVEAFR 15 5 2

— The PRC corporate income tax —H BB

— Provision for current year —ARFEEEE

— Over-provision in prior year —BAEFERERE
Deferred income tax expense EEFSRAYS

-The PRC —

Hong Kong profits tax is levied at progressive rate of 8.25%
on the estimate assessable profit below HK$2,000,000 and
thereafter at a fixed rate at 16.5% for a qualifying entity in
Hong Kong. For other Hong Kong entities, the estimated
assessable profit is taxed at a fixed rate of 16.5% for the
year (2023: same).

The PRC corporate income tax represents taxation charged
on assessable profits for the year at the rates of taxation
prevailing in the cities in the PRC in which the Group
operates. The tax rate applicable to the subsidiaries in the
PRC is 25%, except for certain subsidiaries of the Group
subject to reduced preferential CIT rate ranging from 5% to
15% (2023: 5% to 15%) for Small Low-profit Enterprises.

According to applicable tax regulations prevailing in the
PRC, dividends distributed by a company established
in the PRC to a foreign investor with respect to profits
derived after 1 January 2008 are generally subject
to a 10% withholding tax. As at 31 March 2024, the
Group recognised deferred tax liabilities amounting to
HK$4,001,000 (2023: HK$5,275,000) of the withholding tax
on undistributed profits of the PRC associate.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

FAEEEWER GEA) /R HRES
2024 2023

2024 £ 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHET

1 20

(784) (1,113)

(2,046) 1,095

(2,829) 2

BEENERIIREERERERK
2000000,%7zz1a‘+ﬂéu%mﬁwz:z
% &

%Rzm 5%@(4&1 ° #Eﬁﬂ%ﬁ T2
¢W1$E+FE%TR/E$M§Z.;ETR
16.5%@51%&(2023& (MR °

PRI ETERIEFE AR S BE R
B 3£ 75 B 78 5 R 35k 7 3R 17 5 = Bk jE AR
i om M B 2 BT8R P B b B
RRIZBEB25% WAEEETHW
BAREB/NEMA S ER A Z N T
5% Z15% (20234 : 5% &£ 15% ) 2
RIEBEDEMESHB T -

RIBEFRRHRITEANBBEHETE R
Bl H)Q B MIEINEE B IR R
200841 A1 H 2% BB R EATE
ERRE - BEBK10% MBI
MR2024F3 8310 AEE g F EH
BN B 2 R0 TR F 2 TR AERR
i € i T8 & 54,001,000 7T (2023
& : 5,275,000/ 7C) °

2024 F F 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

The tax on the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax differs from the REBBRBAER, (B8) BN Bz R
theoretical amount that would arise using the respective tax rates HKAEEREMEENERSETR - @
as follows: TR
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
(Re-presented)
(F&E7)
Continuing operations HEREER
Loss before income tax B ETIS BRI E 18 (38,616) (890)
Calculated at respective tax rates LB ETE (8,212) (158)
Income not subject to taxation DA AW A (4,311) -
Over-provision in prior year BEFERBRE (784) (1,113
Expenses not deductible for taxation DBk
purposes 6,530 422
Unused tax losses for which no deferred I £ W 52 4R XE 72 T8 & /2 B9 K B) B
tax assets has been recognised TIAEE 5,222 1,317
Utilisation of tax losses for which no I FE SRR B A 2 TR IE & 18
deferred tax has been recognised E)3! - (1,210)
Temporary difference for which no deferred It £ #& 52 4k 1L 75 I8 & 2= #) 1 B
tax asset has been recognised =F - (956)
Temporary difference of undistributed TR BB & A B 2 R 9K b5 )
profits of the PRC associate recognised ~ H) & i £ 58 (1,274) 1,384
Income tax (credit)/expense Frsii (%) FxX (2,829) 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

1 April to 12 months to
27 April 2023 31 March 2023
20234 B = 2023 F
4R81HZE 3H31H
4/27H E+=M@A
HK$'000 HK$’000
T T FHT
Discontinued operation ERIEEEEK
Revenue W = 2,266 46,446
Cost of food and beverages B oh F R R (603) (12,899)
Other income and gain H U A R e as 16 4,471
Administrative expenses TR X (1,865) (40,278)
Loss before income tax bR FTIS B AT E 18 (186) (2,260)
Income tax expenses FriSif X = =
Loss for the period/year N FAERE (186) (2,260)
Net cash generated from operating KEREMEREFE
activities 245 4,172
Net cash used in financing activities EEEE TR 28 (431) (4,471)
Net cash outflows e ML FE (186) (299)
Loss before income tax has been arrived & FT{S 3% A E518 Th A (30BR) /7
after (charging)/crediting: FTANT B IBEZIER
Employee costs EEKAR (698) (15,593)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BFE KE#H 2 K=
equipment 1 -
The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for EFRTREANAE2024F3A31HIEF
= < NP . ®
the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Ni). RS AR (2023 - %)

2024 F F 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
attributable to shareholders of the Company is based on the
following data.

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
(loss)/profit attributable to shareholders of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

(Loss)/profit attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company EATRE
— from continuing operations —REABBELEERS
— from discontinued operations —REBERIEREETS

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue (thousands)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share BREX (BE) BR
(HK cents per share) (ZRB)

— from continuing operations —REFELEER

— from discontinued operations —REBRIEEEER

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company had no
dilutive potential ordinary shares, thus the diluted (loss)/
earnings per share presented is the same as the basic (loss)/
earnings per share (2023: Nil).

Annual Report 2024

UTALHEM (BE) 5H :

ARRBRREESREALEE (BR)
BNTIZATBEE -

SREX (BR) /BFEEAFR
B (BR) ETIBAFNE R
TR 2 TSI BE -

BT E @A A8 (TR

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
(Re-presented)

(& &=75)

(35,601) 897
(186) (2,260)
(35,787) (1,363)
893,275 885,556
(3.99) 0.10
(0.02) (0.25)

FREE (BB BANEREE®
PIABESESERCABRHBRITE
SN AR 2 InAEF A ERETE -

HE2024F3A31BILFEE AR
AN BT EE L AR A 258
Gh#EE (BB RAINEGRER
(BR) /BFIER (2023 F : &) -



At 31 March 2022

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

Year ended 31 March 2023

Opening net carrying amount

Additions
Depreciation

Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries

(Note 35(b))
Closing net carrying amount
At 31 March 2023
Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

Year ended 31 March 2024

Opening net carrying amount
Additions

Disposal of subsidiary (note 29)
Disposal

Depreciation

Closing net carrying amount

At 31 March 2024

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

MW2022%3A831H
B
ZETERRE

REFE

HZE2023F3A31H
LEE

FYEEFE

B

nE

REKEHBAR
(5 35(0))

FREMFE

202353431 A
A
ZAERAE

REFE

BZ2024538318
LEE

ENREFE

RE

HENB A A (H3E29)

&

nE

FERREFE

M2024%3A31H
A
ZEHMERE

REFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

Restaurants Furniture
Leasehold  and kitchen Computer and
improvements  equipment  equipment fixtures Total
EER
HE#E BERE BlRE HBEARKE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TAET TAT TAT TR

7,834 5,326 599 4,936 18,695
(7,819) (5,303) (597) (4,923) (18,642)
15 23 2 13 53
15 23 2 13 53
680 144 13 19 856
(146) (40) (12) ®) (206)
= = 20 = 20

549 127 23 24 723
4,138 2,174 210 1,605 8,127
(3,589) (2,047) (187) (1,581) (7,404)
549 127 23 24 723
549 127 23 24 723
- - - 6 6
(520) (127) - - (647)
~ = = @ 2

(29) = (19) 4) (52)

- = 4 24 28

- - 210 1,609 1,819

- - (206) (1,585) (1,791)

- - 4 24 28
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F202443H31H I F/Z

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES

(@) AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the

16. FHERERHERRK

(a) REEUMBRRRBRIZEHE

HEMBMARBNEBEEZSR

following amounts relating to the leases: R
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHETT
Right-of-use assets EREEE
At 1 April n4A1H 7,961 9,997
Lease modification (Note (i) THEES () - 7,319
Depreciation e (902) (9,355)
Disposal (Note (ii)) o & (B & (i) (5,961) =
At 31 March M3HA31H 1,098 7,961
Lease liabilities HEAE
At 1 April A== 8,604 14,363
Lease modification (Note (i)) S s (M) - 7,319
Disposal (Note (i) o & (BT i) (6,423) -
Payments (NEN (1,160) (13,352)
Interest expenses FERZ 30 274
At 31 March M3A31H 1,051 8,604
Of which are: Hp
Current lease liabilities mEHEAE 1,051 6,101
Non-current lease liabilities FEnBEEAR - 2,503
1,051 8,604
Notes: B aE -

(i) The amount represents the renewal of contract periods for the
registered office and two stores from restaurant business.

(ii) The amount represents the termination of lease due to disposal
of a subsidiary.

162 Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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/ /Novté*s\ to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 16. FHESERIEBESE R W

LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE (b) REEE2HEHKERERZEHE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income

FEERHKRSRBNEBEEEZESR

shows the following amounts relating to the leases: R
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FHT
Re-presented
&5
Continuing operations FREREER
Depreciation of right-of-use assets B ETE 902 855
Interest expenses FERZ 30 59
Expenses relating to short-term FHEEHEE MY
leases - 2,570
17. GOODWILL 17. 8
HK$’000
FERT
Cost 2%
At 1 April 2022 R2022%F 4 A1H -
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35(b)) TR B UREE KT B A | (MTsE35(0)) 8,807
At 31 March 2023 and 2024 R 20234 2024 F 3 A 31 H 8,807
Accumulated impairment losses 2t BEEER
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R2022F4 A1H ~2023F3 831 H X
2023F 4 A1H -
Impairment loss SR E BB 8,807
At 31 March 2024 R2024F 3 A31H 8,807
Carrying amount FREE
At 31 March 2024 M 2024F 3 H31H -
At 31 March 2023 R 2023F 3 A31H 8,807
RralEHERER AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs”) that are
expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying
amount of goodwill had been allocated to Context Image
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively “Context Image
Group”).

In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets that generate cash flows together with the
related goodwill are also included in the respective CGU for the
purpose of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined based
on value in use calculation. This calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period and a discount rate of 23% (2023:
21%). Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using a steady 3% (20283: 3%) growth rate. This growth rate
is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does
not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations
relate to the estimation of cash flows which include budgeted
sales and gross margins. Such estimation is based on past
performance of the Context Image Group and management’s
expectations for the market development. Management believes
that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of the Context
Image Group to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the
Context Image Group.

Annual Report 2024

EREXEHPESHENEBETRERSEE
BB RZEEEHTREENRSELS
U(REELEEN]) FAENKREEBED S
fit Z Context Image Holdings Limited & E Fff
J& A 7 (47 [ Context Image Group ) °

BRI EERSROME  BERER
BAMEREEERMEBOBELITAS
BRESELBN - ARETRERE -

ReELEBEMNMAIRLESELIREERE
Bt EHTE AT EERAEREE B
BRERFH2MBRBEE RS RETENR
K BE 3R % 23% (20234 : 21%) - @il A
FHzRLMEBTIERMA 3% (20234F : 3%)
CRENREEE - ZERETENEGH
TEEREARRBBAEBITENTESAR
HgRR - FREBFECEMEEZRR
HEEREHEERENEZRERE 2
B B - B B S E 75 & 57 Context Image
Group Z BEXRBLEREHMBERZ
EHGE BEEREMRE ERUZERRERT
B8 IR 2 (E 4 B E B T 2 & % Context
Image Group 2 fk H # {8 # i Context
Image Group 2 A Y Bl 48 & &8 ©



Cost
At 31 March 2022 and
1 April 2022
Arising on acquisition of
subsidiaries (Note 35(b))
Exchange difference

At 31 March 2023,1April 2024
and 31 March 2024

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 April 2023
Amortisation for the year
Exchange difference

At 31 March 2023 and

1 April 2023
Amortisation for the year
Exchange difference
Impairment

At 31 March 2024

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

Non-
compete
Trademark IT Platform agreement Total
ERBR
[ FE THRFWHR et

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TAETT TATT TATT THETT

5%
PR2022F 331 H R

20224 A1 1 25 = = 25
TREWEH B AR

(MF5E35(b)) - 3,514 3,749 7,263
[EHZE% = (85) (91) (176)

R2023F3H31H »
20244 1B K&

20243 A31H 25 3,429 3,658 7,112
Bty
R2023F 4 A1 H 24 = = 24
F R 5 1 508 543 1,052
PE & =% - 6 6 12

MR2023F3 A31 B

20234 A1 H 25 514 549 1,088
F N - 658 702 1,360
&5 =7 - - - -
A = 2,257 2,407 4,664
R2024F3 A31H 25 3,429 3,658 7,112
FREE

M2024%3 A31H = = = =

At 31 March 2023 R 2023F3 31 H - 2,915 3,109 6,024
Intangible assets, including IT Platform and non-compete BV EE (BREEAABRT A RTHRHR)
agreement, were arisen from the business combination of Context JhH Context Image Group HYEFE A HEL ©
Image Group. Details of the impairment assessment are set out in AR R FF B R M7 o

Note 17.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F202443H31H I F/Z

19. (IMPAIRMENT LOSS)/REVERSAL OF

10. EMBEEZ GRERHE) #E

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS BiREO
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 FF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET T
Reversal of impairment loss of other o FE U SR IE 2 R A E 18 B D
receivables - 75
Impairment loss of trade receivables B 5 RWEIE . REEIE (23,548) =
Impairment loss of loan to an associate Al — B & QAR REERZ
BIEEE (228) -
Impairment losses of loan to m—EREERARREER S
an intermediate holding company EEE (18) =
Impairment losses of loan to a related m—EEBARREERZ
company BEEE (45) =
(23,839) 75

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

Investments in associates NI B 2

Notional goodwill and intangible assets % EEEREREE

Loan to an associate (Note (i) m— R E A RIREE R
(B 7% (i)

— Current portion —BVHAER

— Non-current portion —JERNEE

Movements in the investments in REFERRIMIEESEZH T -
associates are as follows:

At the beginning of the year R A)

Share of post-tax profit of associates DREEE R A 2 BRE 1 R A

Share of other comprehensive income of D {h B & A &) 2 Hith 2 U
associates

At the end of the year RER

Set out below is the associates of the Group as at 31 March
2024 and 2023 which, in the opinion of the directors, is material
to the Group. The associates as listed below has share capital
consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the
Group; the country of incorporation or registration is also their
principal place of business.

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 £
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHE T
56,958 71,268
28,230 28,230
85,188 99,498
12,534 =
15,000 15,000
27,534 15,000

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHE T
99,498 91,420
(13,183) 12,437
(1,127) (4,359)
85,188 99,498

AT #5150 2024 F k20233 H31HE
EREHAEBMEBEANAEER L
DAl TX Y EENRMNRAERTEE
B BASEBEERFR MK
MR AR T EE M -

2024 F F 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

Place of Particulars
incorporation/ of issued
Name operation share capital
EMRL/
£ "eEw BRTREHE
ITRREEBETHBERAR The PRC RMB50,000,000
(Beijing Minshang ZhiHui E-commerce
Co., Limited") (‘Minshang Zhihui")
(Note ()
ITRREEBETHBERAR HE AR 50,000,000
(IRBEE]) (M)
MSCT Investment Holdings Limited BVI US$10,000
(“MSCT Investment’)
MSCT Investment Holdings Limited KBRS 10,000% 7T

([MSCT Investment])

*

Notes:

)

English name is translated for identification purpose only.

Minshang Zhihui is principally engaged in technology and e-commerce
related business with a focus on its scenario marketing system and
supply chain management capability to provide various banks, financial
institutions and sizable corporations with e-commerce.

The Group holds 50% equity interest in Minshang Zhihui and is entitled
to appoint two out of four directors in Minshang Zhihui. Voting decisions
of the board are made by a simple majority. The Group is not able to
exercise more than half of the voting power and it cannot control any
board decisions. Therefore, Minshang Zhihui is not a subsidiary of the
Group. However, since the Group can demonstrate significant influence
over Minshang Zhihui, the investment in Minshang Zhihui is recognised
as an investment in associate.

The Group granted a loan amounting to HK$15,000,000 to Minshang
Zhihui on 16 May 2019 with an expiry date of 15 May 2021. The
loan is unsecured and interest-bearing at a rate of 8% per annum,
with contractual settlement of the loan’s interest annually. On 14 May
2021 and 11 May 2023, the Group entered into two supplemental
agreements with Minshang Zhihui respectively for extending the loan
expiry date to 14 May 2023 and further to 14 May 2026.

On 12 June 2023, the Group entered into a new shareholder’s loan
agreement with Minshang Zhihui in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$11,000,000. The loan is unsecured and interest-bearing at a rate
of 8% per annum. The loan term is 12 months from the drawdown
date and subject to an extension for a further term of 12 months upon
service of a written notice.

On 11 June 2024, the Group entered into an extension letter with
Minshang Zhihui to extend the new shareholder’s loan with principal
amount of HK$11,000,000 and interest bearing at 8% per annum (which
is unsecured) for a term of 12 months until 11 June 2025.

Annual Report 2024

Interest held directly at
31 March Principal activity
R3A3N BEERENESR TEEBEY
2024 2023
20245 20235
50% 50% Providing
e-commerce
related service in
the PRC
R B
ETHERBRY
46.67% 46.67% Investment holding
REER
* HXEEBEEHRB -
Mgt

(i)

REASEXZEENEAETREREES -
FEREKBEESSITHARMHERER
NBZRRIT SRBERARCERHE
FEE-

AEEFBEREEE50%ME W ENT
FRAEEESTRIMBES B8
BREREABEBYF L - REBETRETT
A —F 2 REE  RAAEHEAES
BRE - At RESBLIFAEEZHE
RNE R ARAEEITHRBHEERR
HEAFEN BRNRASBZREERR
REERBZIKE -

AEBR2019F5 A 16 HRRBEEEREE
15,000,000/ ¢ + BB A &20214F5 A 15
H-ERXRBEEF RFFNE%TE I
BFRENENERFE - R2021F5H 14
AR2023F5A11H AEBHEREEES
RIFT MM HE  BERIHALERE
2023F5 14 ARE—FREKEE2026F 5 A
148 »

MR2023F6 A 12 AEBEREE BT
7K 4 #8 %8 /11,000,000 7 7T & 51 I R E 2
Heo ZERAEEE  REMNKSNTE B
HERARBRBEBREI2EAR - FlREIEEE
A BER12MEA -

R2024F6 A11H  AEBEREE R L
IR LA A € € %8 4 11,000,000 7 7T &
REME8%FTEMMBRREER (REEKR)
HRER 12 A EE2025F6 A11H °



Notes: (Continued)

(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

Minshang Zhihui declared dividend of RMB16,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$19,729,000) to its shareholders on 25 June 2021.
The Group holds 50% equity interest in Minshang Zhihui and is entitled
to RMB7,200,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$8,878,000) of
dividend, which is net of withholding tax. Such dividend was settled in
full by Minshang Zhihui on 10 November 2023.

The table below provides summarised financial information
for Minshang Zhihui that, in the opinion of director, is
material to the Group and is accounted for using the equity

method.

Current
Total current assets
Total current liabilities

Non-current
Total non-current assets
Total non-current liabilities

Net assets
Opening net assets

Profit for the year

Currency translation difference

Closing net assets

Direct equity interest held

Share of net asset value held by
Group

Intangible assets and notional
goodwill

Carrying amount
Revenue

(Loss)/Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/
(expense)

Total comprehensive (expense)/
income

T
mEBEERE
MEA B AR

R
FRBEERE
ERBAEEE

AEFE

FHREFE

F P

IR

FRAEFE
it 2 B i A
AREFBEZAEFENE

BREAERAEDE

fREE
Yoz

FA(ER),EH
Hip2mkas (%)

2@ (FAx), /a8

fieE ()

(i)

REEEN2021F6 A25 AMEKRES KA
R % 16,000,000 7T (48 & 7 %9 19,729,000 %%
T0) KRB o REEIF A RS B 50% i
ZHEMBRIENFZ IR E AR 7,200,000
7t (A& 1 498,878,000/ L) - BB EE
HEREEN2023E 11 A10B 2 HER -

TEREHREZRAUAKEMEEE
AZEBEBEZBENBEER  HfE

REmREAR

2024
2024 F
HK$°000
FH T

321,857
(225,714)

17,773

113,916

142,536
(26,366)
(2,254)

113,916
50%

56,958

28,230

85,188
290,524
(26,366)

(2,254)

(28,620)

2023
20234
HK$’000
FHET

389,238
(284,454)

37,752

142,536

120,374
30,860
(8,698)

142,536
50%

71,268

28,230
99,498
502,865
30,860

(8,698)

22,162

2024 F F 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the
consolidated financial statements of Minshang Zhihui (and
not Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited’s share
of those amounts) adjusted for differences in accounting
policies between the Group and the associate.

As at 31 March 2024, the bank and cash balances of
Minshang Zhihui denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB8,526,000 (2023: RMB8,230,000). The conversion of
the Renminbi denominated balance into foreign currencies
is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

The table below provides summarised financial information
for MSCT Investment that, in the opinion of director, is
immaterial to the Group and is accounted for using the
equity method.

Carrying amount of interest M ERREE

Loss for the year/period F/HRNEE
Other comprehensive expense HEtbh2mEAY
Total comprehensive expense 2HEMAS B

The Group has not recognised loss for the year ended 31
March 2024 (2023: HK$245,000). As at 31 March 2024,
the accumulated losses recognised were HK$245,000
(2023: HK$245,000).

Annual Report 2024

N EERRBRREEEZG5E PR
%‘%ﬁﬁ%ﬂz(ﬁ%ﬁi(S‘E#Eﬁﬁéﬂﬂ?%l&
BRARDEEBER D)
ERAKEEZEE QPGB Z
ZRELFE -

R2024F3F831H EEEREMN
ARBHENRITRRAESESRAA
K #8,526,0007T (20234 : AR ¥
8,230,0007T) > A REFHEM & BRI
HRINERE - 8 ST B BUR M Y
HNEE B il 37 Rl R A A5 o

TR IZ - MSCT Investment #J 1 2 B
HER BEERRHELAEETL S
KN WEHAEREETAR -

2024 2023
2024 2023 £
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHE T

— (3,588)

= (3,588)

NEBREE2024E3 A318 IEFE
[E I 48 7 R E5 18 (2023 4F @ 245,000
BIT) o M2024F3A31H EER
25185 18 5245,0007% T (20234 -
245,00087T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N e EL s
For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E
21. INVENTORIES 21. &8
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Food and consumables B KB FEm = 44
Finished goods RIRY Gh 2,529 2,797
2,529 2,841
22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. BHEWHRER
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx FHET
Trade receivables B 5 B WA 25,263 28,597
Less: impairment loss B OREEE (23,548) =
1,715 28,597
Trade receivables mainly represent receivables from trading ZEORWHEXTZERERE S REMEBIX
and IT solution businesses. The credit period granted to trade BASTREBRE LK TEIRPHNEER
customers was within 1-30 days. B A1 E30KA -
An estimate of impairment of trade receivables is made and FER LA 2 SR B AR EH B 5 B IR
deducted when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. RIBRBEMET - W T AR - B 5 B
Trade receivables are unsecured and interest-free. Details of ERAEELHAR2E - BHE ZEKFIER
impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out in note BB E AT FES.1(0) °
3.1(c).
The aging analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date B o RWHIEBENEZE R KRR a0
was as follows: T
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT T
Less than 30 days DR30K 23 1,271
31 to 60 days 31 £ 60K 26 594
61 to 90 days 61 290X 1 -
Over 90 days HiB90 K 1,625 26,732
1,715 28,597

REaIRHERER A A
20244F 3R] 171



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F202443H31H I F/Z

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The table below reconciles the loss allowance of trade

22, B HBEWFRIA &)

TREBHRUGA B RBEETHR

receivables:
2024 2023
2024 & 2023 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHE T
At the beginning of the year NG - 1,233
Provision for impairment VAR 23,548 =
Written-off i 88 - (1,238)
At the end of the year RER 23,548 =
The carrying amount of trade receivables approximates to its R2024F K 20233 A31H ' E 5 EUW

fair value as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 and is denominated in

RMB.

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RENFREEEAREERE  YUAR

HE1E -

23. AMRIR - B RHMEUR

RECEIVABLES 5
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FH&TT
Prepayments TEf IR 668 1,231
Rental and utilities deposits Hek A AEEES 1,640 8,545
Other tax recoverable (Note (i) H AT Y [B1 B 18 (5T (7)) 6,281 6,656
Other receivables (Note (ii)) A Wk I8 (B EE i) 7,443 1,244
Dividend receivable (Note 20(ii) FE U AR B (B =% 20(ii)) - 8,230
Value added tax receivable JE WIS B A 958 898
16,990 26,804
Less: non-current portion A JERNERER
- Rental and utilities deposits — ek AREERS - (2,546)
Current portion BN EREB 75 16,990 24,258

172 Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

AR Re Rk HWERR

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) As at 31 March 2024, the other tax recoverable of RMB5,823,000
(equivalent to HK$6,281,000) (2023: RMB5,823,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,656,000)) represented the tax refund receivables from export
sales of the trading business. Subsequent to the year end and up
to the date of this report, the Group has received the tax refund of
approximately RMB209,000 (equivalent to HK$225,000) (2023: RMBNIil
(equivalent to HK$NIil)).

(ii) As at 31 March 2024, other receivable included interest receivable of
HK$NIl (2023: HK$1,057,000) from the loan to an associate.

The table below reconciles the loss allowance of deposits and

23.

IR (1)
P& -

0] R2024F3A31H » Efbrl EIFIE AR
5,823,000 7T (8 & 7 6,281,0008 7T) (2023
F: AR ¥5,823,0007T (1 %& % 6,656,000
BIL)) BRESEBE OHEENBUBGRT - F
Rz BEAREAH  AEBRIEROA
R ¥ 200,000 7t (#8& 1 225,0007% 7t) (2023
F:ARBZT(HERTHET)) -

(i) 20243 A31H  HiERFBEEER—
B & A RIER (R S AR R IOM 8 B8 7T (2023

£ : 1,057,000/ 7T) °

TRAEE R EME WA BB R G

other receivables: R
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$000
FER FHT
At the beginning of the year REF 139 214
Reversal of provision for impairment VEREREE=EEAE = (75)
At the end of the year RER 139 139

The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables approximate to their fair values as at 31 March 2024
and 2023 and are denominated in the following currencies:

R2024F 20233 A31H @ FANFHIE
BehEMERZKENEREEERAE
ERELAATEEE :

2024 2023
2024 2023 £

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET F#ET

HK$ BT 1,768 6,728
RMB AR 15,222 20,076
16,990 26,804

REaIRHER AR AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

2024 2023
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Current B #A

RUNMING International Limited S BB A R 2~ &l (B ()

(SR EER B IR 2 al) (Note (i) 9,870 8,281

Y ZRE 2R RTE A R A A (Note (i) FIRECRRBERA A

(B = (i) 6,841 9,878

Notes: P &E -

0} The balance represents an unsecured loan to an immediate holding 0] HEHRERARR —BEEZERARRENE
company of the Company. The loan bears interest at 8% per annum EHER - ZBEHIRFHNER8%TE - &
and has no fixed repayment term but shall be repaid no later than 7 ERFER - METFER2024F10A7BE
October 2024. K e

(if) The balance represents an unsecured loan to a fellow subsidiary of the (ii) ERERARR—HRRMB AR RENE
Company. The loan bears interest at 8% per annum and has no fixed EHER  ZEFILFMNE%E - &
repayment term but shall be repaid no later than 7 October 2024. FEERIR - B ENR2024F 10/ 7HE

e

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries with major operations as R20244%F K 202833 A31H ' TENB

at 31 March 2024 and 2023 are shown as follows: RAIZFIBEREEEZBHWT :

Place of incorporation and Date of Registered Principal activities and

Name kind of legal entity incorporation capital  Effective interest held place of operation

SMRLBHR RATEEREH TEEHR
£ ERERER BRRLAS SRRA ERER Fqopiuks
2024 2023
20245 20235

Directly held subsidiaries:

EEBENHEAR:

Prosperity One Limited* British Virgin Islands, limited liabiity 15 March 2016 US$100 - 100%  Investment holding

company

Prosperity One Limited* RERAES BRAAAA 2016F3 A 158 100%7T RERR

MSCT Management Limited  Hong Kong, limited liability company 3 October 2018 HK$1 100% 100%  Provision of management

service in Hong Kong

REANERERLH B BREELH 201810 A 3H 187 EEEREERRE

MSCT Investment Limited ~ British Virgin Islands, limited liability 5 October 2018 US§1 100% 100%  Investment holding

company

MSCT Investment Limited ~ EBRX#S  AREEAR  2018F10A5H 1% REER
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Name

1

MSC-Tech Investment
Holdings Limited
MSC-Tech Investment
Holdings Limited
MSC-Tech Investment

Limited
MSC-Tech Investment
Limited

Indirectly held subsidiaries:

BARNEONELR

333 Limited"
33BHE A

Goody Limited*
ERERAR"

111 Limited*

MARRE"
Unlimit Limiteo™
ERARLA)
Dotco Limited”
SYRRAA"
Hotex Limited*
CEERRA"
Sydney Limited*

THERAF"

Place of incorporation and
kind of legal entity
HMAL IR
HREERER

British Virgin Islands, limited liability
company
AERAEE ARAMLA

British Virgin Islands, limited liability
company

ARBRKES ARALAT

Hong Kong, limited liability company
Bh BEREALA

Hong Kong, limited liability company
BE ARELERA

Hong Kong, limited liability company

B BRAELA
Hong Kong, limited liability company
FE BRAMLA
Hong Kong, limited liability company
B BRAMLA
Hong Kong, limited liability company
B BRAELA
Hong Kong, limited liability company

&8 AREARA

Printech Corporation Limited* Hong Kong, limited liability company

mEBRAR"

8 BREARA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Date of
incorporation

AR B 8

8 October 2018

2018510 A8H

8 October 2018

201851048 H

7 May 2004
2004E5878

5 June 2003
2003%6A5H

29 November 2005

2005511 A29R
15 March 2007
200753158
20 September 2006
200659 A20H
27 June 2003
2003566 A 278
18 January 2007
200751 A18H
24 January 2008

200851 A 24

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

Registered
capital

ERRE

HK$100
10078 7T

HK$100
1007

HK$1,000

1,007
HK$10,000
10,0007
HK$10,000
10,0007

HK$100
10087

HK$10,000
10,0007
HK$10,000

10,000%7T

Effective interest held

RATEEREH
BRER

2024 2023
2024 % 2023
100% 100%
100% 100%
= 100%
- 100%
= 100%
- 100%
- 100%
= 100%
- 100%
- 100%

Principal activities and
place of operation
TEEHR

Investment holding

REZR

Investment holding

RERR

Ownership of trademark

REBE

Ownership of trademark

REBE

Provision of catering
management service in
Hong Kong

ERBRUEREERY

Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong

Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong

Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong

Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong

Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong

2024 F F 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

Name

1

Tri-pros Limited™
ZHERAA
555 Limited”
555 BRAR"

MSEC Investment (HK)
Limited

MSEC Investment (HK)
Limited

REAN(ERETAH
ARAT

KA (B BTHER
ARAT

RER(ER)BE
BRAH

REEM(BR)BE
AR

AERAARAFHR
(R BRRF

ABRBEMETHR
(RY)BRAR

Context Image Holdings
Limited

Context Image Holdings
Limited

BEER(ER)MEK
ARAT

BEEZGLR) B
9N

Place of incorporation and
kind of legal entity
HMAL IR
HEEERER

Hong Kong, limited liability company
B BRALLA
Hong Kong, limited liability company
& AREMLA
Hong Kong, limited liability company

&8 AREARH

The PRC (limited liability company
under the law of the PRC)

E(RETEERIBEREE
A)

The PRC (limited liability company
under the law of the PRC)

PE(REPEZRCERESE
AG))

The PRC (limited liability company
under the law of the PRC)

HE (REPEZR ERER
AG))

Cayman Islands, limited liability
company

REHE EREMRA

The PRC (limited liability company
under the law of the PRC)

RE(RETEZRZEREHR
2Al)

* Disposed of on 27 April 2023
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Date of
incorporation

AR B 8

24 February 2009
200952 A 24H
7 May 2004
2004554 7H
30 October 2018

2018410 A30A

21 May 2019

201955 421 H

24 June 2019

20196624 H

23 December 2020

202012 F23H

6 August 2021

2021468 A6H

23 November 2015

2015411 A 23R

Registered
capital

ERRE

HK$300,000
300,0007% 7T
HK$100
1007
HK$1,000

1,000 7

RMB50,000,000

AR
50,000,0007C

RMB2,000,000

ARE
2,000,000

RMB50,000,000

ARE
50,000,0007C

US$50,000

50,000% 7T

RMB3,000,000

AR
8,000,0007C

Principal activities and

Effective interest held place of operation
RATEEREN TEEHR
BEREL Bew
2024 2023
0245  203%
- 100%  Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong
EERGEEE
- 100%  Restaurants operationin
Hong Kong
EERRZEE
100% 100%  Investment holding
REER
100% 100%  Trading business in the
PRC
PHESEH
70% 70%  Trading business in the
PRC
TRESRK
100% 100%  Trading business in the
PRC
TERESER
100% 100%  Investment holding
REER
100% 100% [T solution services in the
PRC
hEEARRBATR
k%
BER2023F 4 A27 BIE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cash on hand FHEE® 537 230
Cash at banks RITIRE 9,953 9,506
Total 4 Et 10,490 9,736
At 31 March 2024, the maximum exposure to credit risk of M2024%63A31H AKEHEENR®E
the Group is cash at banks, amounting to approximately B R b A< %849,953,000/%8 7T (2023 F -
HK$9,953,000 (2023: HK$9,506,000). 9,506,000 7T) MY ERTTIR & ©
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHETT
Cash and cash equivalents LT3 E®EFENRS R
denominated in: REEEY -
HKS$ BT 9,544 3,793
RVMB AR 946 5,943
10,490 9,736
As at 31 March 2024, cash and cash equivalents of MR2024FE3A31H "EBNBEE MBS
approximately HK$946,000 (2023: HK$5,943,000) of the Group Z£E¥)#1946,000 7 7T (2023 £F : 5,943,000
were denominated in Renminbi and deposited with banks in the BIL) ITAARBEELFHRAFRE 2R
PRC. The conversion of the Renminbi denominated balance into T HBMARKEEARINERETH
foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign IR 78 46 ) S0 BEE AR B R AR TE o
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no RITHEBRTDERNEEESZLIHEED

recent history of default. SCERHYERTT ©

2024 F F 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F202443H31H I F/Z

27. TRADE PAYABLES

An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end of the reporting

27. B EAFRIA

RBEMROEZENFEERER A

period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HERER DATIAT -
2024 2023
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FHETT
Less than 30 days DR 30K - =
31 to 60 days 31 260X - 514
61 to 90 days 612 90K - =
Over 90 days BB 90K 17,699 21,382
17,699 21,896

The trade payables are non-interest bearing with payment terms

of 30 days in general.

The carrying amounts of the trade payables approximate to their

BIRNFTERTTRE  ENFRB—KE

30K °

BHRNFRZREERE AR EEES

fair values and are denominated in the following currencies: WA TN EHEEETE -
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
HK$ BT - 600
RMB AR 17,699 21,296
17,699 21,896

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

28. HftiFEFMT IR A FERH B A

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Accrued employee benefit expenses i EERFIFAX - 1,615
Accrued audit fees JEET T B A 1,200 1,300
Provision for long service payment REIBRT & B - 515
Provision for unutilised annual leave REBFBREE - 282
Provision for reinstatement costs (Note (i) 18 R & F## (B2 () 300 564
Amount due to a former executive director & — & RTHI1TE F I8
(Note (i) (B = (i) - 2,008
Amount due to the immediate holding FEfT B R R A R FIE
company (Note (iii)) (B 3 Gif)) 5 5
Provision for PRC corporate income tax A1 Bl 1> 3 AT 15 B B 48 (BT 3% (iv)
(Note () 4,882 4,882
Others HAth 804 2,615
7,191 13,786
Less: non-current portion R JERNERER
— Provision for reinstatement costs —BRERAEE (300) (300)
Current portion BN ERE 75 6,891 13,486
RiEeIRHERBR AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F202443H31H I F/Z

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of the other payables and accruals balance
approximate to their fair values and are denominated in the
following currencies:

28. HtiFEMT IR A FERT B A )

HC A 8 308 TR B T 5 P 4 4 e B T (52
HASEEADE « BN T RHHE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
HK$ BIT 2,071 5,906
RMB AR 5,120 7,880
7,191 13,786
Notes: M %
i) Provision for reinstatement costs 0] BIRERAEE

Movements in the Group’s provision for reinstatement costs are as

AEENERERBENESHOT

follows:

2024 2023

2024 2023 FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHT

At the beginning of the year REH 564 1,553
Actual costs paid ENEREAR - (989)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHTEA R (264) -
At the end of the year RER 300 564

(ii) Amount due to a former executive director
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
(i) Amount due to the immediate holding company

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

180 Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes: (Continued)

(v)

Provision for PRC corporate income tax

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest in Context Image Group (as described in Note 35(b)), leading
to an indirect acquisition of # = & % (1t ) B A R A & (Changjing
Wanxiang (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd., “Changjing Wanxiang”), a
subsidiary of Context Image in the PRC. According to Public Notice
[2015] No. 7 promulgated by the State Taxation Administration (the
“STA”), the STA shall deem such arrangement to be a direct transfer of
equity interest of the PRC resident and any related capital gain derived
therein shall be subject to the CIT. Therefore, the Group in this event
shall act as an CIT withholding agent and report said indirect equity
transfer (and settle the CIT, if applicable) to the PRC tax authorities
within 30 days after the equity transfer agreement is concluded.

In case the Group fails to fulffill its withholding obligation and the Vendor
has not paid the CIT, the PRC tax authorities would demand the Vendor
for the payment of CIT and impose penalty of 50% to 3 times of the
unpaid CIT on the Group. The penalty may be relieved if the indirect
transfer has been voluntarily reported to the PRC tax authorities by the
Group.

According to the sale and purchase agreement dated 24 December
2021 entered into among the Group, through one of its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, four independent third parties (the “Vendors”) and two
guarantors, namely Guarantor W and Guarantor Z (collectively referred
as the “Vendors’ Guarantors”), the Vendors are responsible for the
filing and the settlement of the CIT arising from the indirect equity
transfer in accordance with the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations.
The Vendors’ Guarantors irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed
the due and prompt performance and compliance by the Vendors of all
their obligations under the sale and purchase agreement.

The directors of the Company believe no cash consideration was
involved in said transaction, thus no money should be withheld at
the first stage. Under such circumstances, it is the responsibility of
the Vendors to report and pay the CIT. As at 31 March 2023, the
Group has not yet reported the transaction or paid CIT to the PRC
tax authorities. For the sake of prudence for the year ended 31 March
2023, a provision of HK$1,220,000 for the non-withheld portion and
HK$3,662,000 for the relevant maximum penalty were recognised.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

HESEMEHEE

HZE2023F3A31HIEEE  AEBEWE
Context Image Group #J100% f% f (40 Kt &
35(b) Fridt) - 25 B 52 Y B Context Image £
FEAOMBARSGSER GER)RIBRERA
AI(MEEER])) - BREERUBLR (BEXR
WISEB ) BEHR015FE7HRAE  BIR
MGeRESZTHEATEERRENE
BEE AULELNEMEEERNKREEE
BNCERMBH - At REBEZBRT
BIERTEMSMEHEBA  REKRE
ERMHREI0RANMTRERBEHEEAIRS Eul
R (WA RS - wEfA) -

MAEBEREBRITEEUEERETRAX
NEEMAED - PERBERBBERETX
NEEMAEN - WAREEEARMNEER
BH50% Z3EHE R - WAKEE BRER
BT ISR R R R R - RIS R -

BEAEB(GEAE—HM2EHBAR) - X
EBUFE=FH ([ER]) RMBERA  BIE
RAWERERAZ(GBAEIEAERADR
2021 F12 A24 AU MEEHHE B A
EREBEABPEREEZERERERREE
MEREESEMEENCEMSH -BEHE
RAB T A B b & S AR R (R B E R B
ZERBTRETHSEREEHZBNHNAA
EE-

KAREERE LR SHESRBEER
B AR AARETRENBEMRIE -
WIERT  AREI N EEMBSHROETHE
REH - R2023F3A31H  REME KM
BT IS MR 2 R R B N D TSR ©
BEERER  REZE2023F3A31 BILFE
EMEEAT S REEER IR D A HER
f%1,220,0007% 7T & 3,662,000/ 7T

2024 F F 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

On 27 April 2023, the Group sold the Vietnamese-style MR2023F 4 827H AEEREEERE
restaurants business operation in Hong Kong at the time of B | A B Prosperity One Limited B ) & 7
disposal of a wholly owned subsidiary, Prosperity One Limited. BALER BN R R ZET o Prosperity One
The net assets of Prosperity One Limited at the date of disposal Limited %A & B ERRFEEL N ¢

were as follows:

Consideration received:

Cash

Total consideration

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which the
control was lost:

Property, plant and equipment

Right of use assets

Rental and utilities deposits

Amounts due from former related parties
Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Bank balances and cash

Lease liabilities

Trade payables

Other payables and accrued expenses

Net assets disposed of

Gain on disposal:
Consideration received
Net assets disposed of
Derecognition of capital reserve upon disposal of
subsidiary

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of

Annual Report 2024

BWKE : HK$°000

FBT
BE 31,000
BRE 31,000
KREEFIENEEREEBDIN

HK$°000

FET
Y - R KR 647
FREEE 5,961
HekrAEEES 1,859
JE Y BT B 75 5K IB 2,731
B 5 rWEIE 143
FENFIE - e REMEWTRIE 2,574
RITEBRNES 3,134
HEAE (6,423)
=) ANE/ e (330)
HEfih s E R ERE A (4,783)
BEREFEE 5,513
B W
BURE 31,000
BHEFEE (5,513)
RSB R RB K IEFERRAEE

342

25,829
HEEEMRERAFE:
BEYWEESRKE 31,000
B BERERITEHRKIES (3,134)

27,866
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- / Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g i I e ERRHE
\ " 7 For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E
30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 30. SEIEFR R
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Deferred income tax assets BEMMSMEE 451 24
Deferred income tax liabilities BLEFTBMAE (4,001) (6,781)
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during FRREMSHEERBENEESNOT :
the year is as follows:
DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS ELEFMBHERE
Allowance for
trade receivables
BB EWFERE
HK$°000
FET
At 1 April 2023 R2023F 4 A1 H 24
Credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss 3+ Aér & 1Bz R HM 2 E R
and other comprehensive income 427
At 31 March 2024 R2024%F3HA31H 451

REaIRHERER A A
20244F 3R] 183



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

Undistributed
profits
of the PRC Assets
associate revaluation Total
s
& NTE 2
RAOERN EEEHMHE HBEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT FET
At 1 April 2022 R2022%F 4 A1H 3,893 - 3,893
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries & &= Y 3 K B A 7
(Note 35(b)) (Bt 3E35(0)) - 1,816 1,816
Charged/(credited) to the consolidated 18/ (;t A\) 424 2 H
statement of comprehensive a5k
income 1,382 (263) 1,119
Exchange difference fE =5 - (47) (47)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R2023F3 A31 B &
2023% 4 A1H 5,275 1,506 6,781
Credited to the consolidated FTAGZAEEK
statement of profit or loss and other  H fih 2 E U 25 &K
comprehensive income (1,274) (1,506) (2,780)
At 31 March 2024 120243 A31H 4,001 - 4,001

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The
Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$55,802,000 (2023:
HK$128,966,000) that can be carried forward against future
taxable income. These tax losses have not been recognised due J0) ° AR AR RE R NREE I + i g
to uncertainty of future realisation. Such tax losses have no expiry RZEVIEEE HENBESERERR
date. BHEf -

BREMSHEEDNRE LB HERBRE
1R MDA AT BE 35 38 R TR FE AR Bt v A1)
REBHENZAR - ANEEAF O] A8
EHEARERHBRANKRERHIBEEIE
55,802,0007% 7T (2023 4 : 128,966,000 75
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations
resulting from technology solution services contracts, software
customisation services contracts and trading contracts.

TREBREMBRDRRB AL - HKHE
HRBENRESANELEZHREITZ
BHEME -

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$000
FEx FAT
Contract liabilities relating to trading HESEBHEEcaNAE

business = 40

Contract liabilities relating to technology BT EF R 5 = RIEE LERE 2
solution services contracts aHAE - 1,061
Total contract liabilities GHBEBE - 1,101

Contract liabilities mainly represent advance payments received
from customers related to trading business, technology solution
services contracts and software customisation services contracts
in the PRC.

Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each SR MEE0.0025 8 T E B
At 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 R2023F 4 A1H K
2024% 3 A31H
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHBE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each R MEE0.0025 8 T B
At 1 April 2022 R2022%F 4 A1H
Issuance of new shares (Note 35(b)) BT (B FE35(0))
At 31 March 2023 and 2024 R 2023 F ;202443 A31H

BHREXIZEINFEZESERR &
iR R 73 RARTE & K B E Bl IRTE & 4
[7) % P WBR 2 FRAS 3K

Number of shares Nominal value
A HE

HK$°000

FERT

4,000,000,000 10,000
858,918,182 2,147
34,356,728 86
893,274,910 2,233

2024 F F 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable
to wholly foreign owned enterprises, the PRC subsidiaries are
required to appropriate to reserve fund an amount of not less
than 10% of the profit after income tax, calculated based on the
PRC accounting standards. Should the accumulated total of
this reserve fund reach 50% of the registered capital of the PRC
subsidiaries, the subsidiaries will not be required to make any
further appropriation. The reserve fund can only be used, upon
approval by the shareholders’ meeting or similar authorities, to
offset accumulated losses or increase capital.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no retained earnings had
been transferred to the statutory reserve (2023: RMB11,000). As
at 31 March 2024, retained earnings comprise statutory reserve
fund of RMB268,000 (2023: RMB268,000).

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following related party
transactions during the year:

Interest income received/receivables U4k FEUL T 51| & J7 # | 2

from A
— An associate (Note 20(ii))

—— IR 2 =)

— A related company

Technology service fee charged by a — [ 5] Z B & 2 7 U BX &9 2 1l

fellow subsidiary ks &

Consultation fee charged by a fellow — & [R] Z i B 2 &) W EXHY
subsidiary BB

Purchase of goods from a fellow H—ERRMBAREEE M

subsidiary

Annual Report 2024

—— B & A &) (5 20i0)
— An intermediate holding company —— — &1 Fp A% A &)

REBEERANINDBELRZBBETEIER -
TEMBRARAK - ETPRBRABHRER
i F10% (RBF Bl @5 2R H) 2 508
BAREBES MILREHES 2 RFTEHE
ZEREN B AR EMEARZ50%  RIZE
B AR BABIERS - REESER
REUSBR AR # & B OURER AR E
HRFTEEIANIEE -

REE2024F3A31THILFEE  WER
BRMEREZEETERHME (2023F : AR
#11,0007C) > 20243 A31H » R
B BFEEEREES AR 268,0007T
(20234 : AR#268,0007T) °

iR B BIEmR B & D PRIREEE S -
AEBNFRAZBEBIRZ0T ¢

2024 2023
2024 2023 £
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FHE T
1,904 1,200
707 777

212 636
922 1,755
936 988

= 2,680



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
(Continued)

(b)

Notes:

The transactions above were conducted in the normal course of
business and charged at terms mutually agreed by the parties
concerned or in accordance with the terms of the underlying
agreements, where appropriate.

AIERBAMBEFMZCRYNERAF, a subsidiary of the
Group, had entered into an agreement with = & 2 = &L (&
Y1) E R A &, a related entity of the Company, for the period
from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2024. Under the agreement, Bl
BREHFERE(FY) AR AR s alowed to access and use
the technology, online platform and databases owned by the
counterparty, with service fee waived. The executive director of
the Company, Mr. Tao Jingyuan, is also the sole owner of the
related companies.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

34. BB S @)

(a)

Wi

BEEBLD XS (@)

B S TIR BB EBBIEPET R
BEMITATEERENGERERIE
MR BN GER (ER) WEREA -

AEBME ARG REEIRIE TR
FCFRIDBRARCEARFEHE
RREAHTRE (FI) BRAAG]
ik HIRR B2022F 4 A1HERE
2024F 3 A31H - RIEHE - AIER
BEFERE ORI BR AR EESH
RERRSHFHER KM EF
FARBEE RUREE - AAA
WITESEEFREENABEHARZ
H—HB A o

OUTSTANDING BALANCES WITH RELATED (b) EBEBAEES Z i REZEER
PARTIES
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
Amount due to the immediate T EEER AR RIE
holding company - 5)
Loan to an associate ) — R & A AR 4 26,000 15,000
Interest receivables from loanto an U Al — B & R RIIEHE R
associate ZHE 1,534 1,057
Dividend receivable from an FEU — S N R 2 R E
associate - 8,230
Loan to an intermediate holding m— R R R RIIR I E R
company 8,982 8,100
Interest receivables from loan to an & Uk A — & AR 42 A% A BlHE 4
intermediate holding company Bz A E 888 181
Loan to a fellow subsidiary m—ERRNB A REER 5,677 9,315
Interest receivables from loantoa &Yz [m) — & &) X BB A R IR i
fellow subsidiary BERZFE 1,209 563
REeIRHER AR AR

20244F 3R] 187
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F202443H31H I F/Z

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 34. MRA X5 @)

(c) KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION

For the year ended 31 March 2024, key management
represents the executive directors of the Group (2023: the
executive directors of the Group). Compensation of key
management personnel of the Group, including directors’
remuneration as disclosed in Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements, is as follows:

(c) EEEEEHM

HE202463A31BILEE T &
ERERASBHITES (20234F :
REBHRITESE) AEBZTEER
BABRNEHN(BIEGREMBHRERW
E10FTHRENESHH) IT ¢

2024 2023
2024 2023 &
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHE T
Salaries, bonus, allowances and e B4 KR

other benefits in kind HiEYREF 390 483

Pension costs-defined contribution 3B R & Ak A — 57 E 4 3G 2
plans 21 25
411 508

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Loss before income tax from

continuing operations
Adjustments for:

Gain on disposal of property, plant

and equipment

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Impairment losses/(Reversal of
impairment losses) on financial

assets

Written off of other receivables
Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment loss of intangible

assets
Impairment of goodwill
Exchange loss, net
Finance income
Finance cost

Share of post-tax profit from

associates

Provision for PRC corporate

income tax

Operating (loss)/profit before

working capital change

Changes in working capital:

Change in inventories

Change in trade receivables
Change in prepayments, deposits

and other receivables
Change in trade payables

Change in other payables and

accruals

Change in contract liabilities

Cash (used in)/generated from

continuing operations

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B P 15751 A1 5 18
AT HEE
HEWE - BE R&H
ZYzs
HE—FHBARZ
Yoz
ERMEEZREEE
ORfEERRE)

i L b P U R TR
ME - WERREITE

EREEENE
BIVEE 2 RERBE

B8 ZRE
SINEE 5 1R R
BE WA
B & R A
DIEHERE

BR B AR5 7
FEEEMAERER

BEE BB
s (F1R) /R
BEELRD
FEED

B 5 R H0R S
BHRE 12 R
Hft U HOE
B 5 REE D
£ 4t RO R
EHBERED
AR ES
SEEEET

(FR) /Fifs8i&

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 £

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M FET FHET
(38,430) (1,370)

8 (2 =

6 (25,829) =

19 23,839 (75)

= 763

8 52 206

8 902 9,355

8 1,360 1,052

18 4,664 _

17 8,807 =

6 = 360

7 (3,742) (2,629)

7 30 274

20 13,183 (12,437)
28(iv) - 4,882
(15,166) 381

312 (2,668)

3,191 (25,628)

5,332 25,656

(3,867) 20,125

(1,812) (10,833)

(1,101) (4,835)

(13,111) 2,198

2024 F F 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

On 24 December 2021, the Group, through one of its
wholly-owned subsidiaries, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with the Vendors, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to acquire and the Vendors agreed to sell 100%
equity interests in Context Image Holdings Limited (“Context
Image”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “Context Image
Group”), at a maximum consideration of HK$114,236,118
which shall be settled by way of allotment and issue of
a maximum of 171,783,636 consideration shares by the
Company to the Vendors in three stages at the issue price
of HK$0.665 per consideration share under the General
Mandate.

The allotment and issue of the second stage consideration
shares, amounting to 51,535,090 consideration shares,
and the third stage consideration shares, amounting to
85,891,818 consideration shares, shall be subject to the
following financial guarantees given by the Vendors and the
Vendors’ guarantors with reference to the audited financial
statements of the Context Image Group for the financial
years ending 31 December 2022 (the “2022 Financial
Guarantee”) and 31 December 2023 (the “2023 Financial
Guarantee”), respectively:

(1)  the audited consolidated revenue of the Context
Image Group (exclude non-recurring income,
extraordinary income and non-operating income)
(“Audited Consolidated Revenue”) for the financial
year ended 31 December 2022 shall be no less than
RMB50,000,000; and

(2)  the audited consolidated net profit of the Context
Image Group (after taxation and minority interest and
exclude non-recurring income, extraordinary income
and non-operating income) (“Audited Consolidated
Net Profit”) for the financial year ended 31 December
2022 shall be no less than RMB5,000,000.

If Context Image Group fails to meet the 2022 Financial
Guarantee, no second stage consideration shares will be
issued to the Vendors.

Annual Report 2024

R2021F 12248 K& E (&
BE—HE2EMBAR) BEFE]
VEBEW® B AEEREK
§ i & 7 R B i & Context Image
Holdings Limited ([ Context Image )
R E &~ 7] (4378 [ Context Image
Group ]) 2 100% ik # - &= E A
114,236,118 7T * K A AR RIRE
— MR EEE KRR ERD0.6657 7T
ZETES=EARBERE R RE
T8 % 171,783,636 R R BR D .2 7
At e

FBBERERD (51,535,090
RERD) RE=BERERHB
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R (D R A 2022 F B ER | &
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]

\;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) the Audited Consolidated Revenue for the financial
year ending 31 December 2023 shall be no less than
RMB120,000,000; and

(2)  the Audited Consolidated Net Profit for the financial
year ending 31 December 2023 shall be no less than
RMB24,000,000.

If Context Image Group fails to meet the 2023 Financial
Guarantee, no third stage consideration shares will be
issued to the Vendors.

Context Image Group consists of the Context Image, CISC
(HK) Holdings Limited and Changjing Wanxiang, and is
principally engaged in the provision and design of SaaS
systems and IT solution services to its customers, including
financial institutions and merchants ranging from the retail,
food and beverage, travel, lifestyle sectors, to build and
improve their direct operation capabilities with their digital
users through membership services.

The directors of the Company consider that the acquisition
of Context Image Group represents a good investment
opportunity for the Company, having considered the growth
potential of the SaaS industry and the business prospect of
Context Image Group leveraging on the experience of the
management team of Context Image Group in the industry.
The directors of the Company believe that the acquisition
of Context Image Group enables the Group to diversify its
income stream, thereby enhance shareholders value in the
long run.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

(1) EZE2023F12/831 8 18K
FEZ2REBZEZEEW=EBE T D
A AR 120,000,0007T : &

@) #HZE2023F 12 A31H LB B
FEZEEBEZEEMAETD
W AR ¥ 24,000,0007T °

fis Context Image Group I~ & £ Z
2023 MG ER BT RE L Z
TE=RBRRERD -

Context Image Group £ & Context
Image * CISC (HK) Holdings Limited
BRBER FTERERNERF (B
THREBRTE B IRE - £F
FRERE 2 P) R4 K& 5 SaaS
EEREMBHE AT RRT - BB
eERBREILANESEHEHTAPZ
BERESRN -

K EZESaaSTTEZERE O R
Context Image Group 2 ¥ 7% i & -
/& # Context Image Group & ¥
BRoiTHEHR NAREERAK
#% Context Image Group & A& 2 & Z
BERK - A R EFHEE BB
Context Image Group 7] & N & & 7 Ug
ARBREZ Tl - MR ARRRE
BE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

On 22 June 2022, the Company allotted and issued R2022F6 A22H A RAAREH
34,356,728 first stage consideration shares to the fic B K 3% 17 34,356,728 I 55 — B EX
Vendors and the acquisition of Context Image Group RER D - W R B 5K £ Context
were completed on the same date. Context Image Group Image Group & U & + Context Image
becomes the subsidiaries of the Group since then. The Group B it AR S BB B AR
purchase consideration and the amounts of the net i B & LA X ¥ Context Image Group
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed of R R] BB FEERFTAEAE
Context Image Group are as follows: KRR T
HK$’000
FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WEKREE 20
Intangible assets B EE
— IT platform — BB A 3,514
— Non-compete agreement — TR FHE 3,749
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 62
Trade receivables B 5 MW FIE 2,630
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AR RIE -« ke R E MR EIE 5,536
Cash and cash equivalents RehkIReEEY 2,390
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables B 5 IR (1,194)
Other payables H b & < 50E (3,432)
Non-current liabilities RBEE
Deferred tax liability REFIBAE (1,816)
Total net identifiable assets at fair value BAREBEFENAIBRFEELR 11,459
Goodwill BkS 9,026
Net assets acquired Fr i iE F & B 20,485
Satisfied by: BRUTHAX A :
Issue of shares BITRRAD 18,209
Equity component of contingent consideration 3 AR BHEZSEE D 2,276
Total purchase consideration (fair value) BERERE(AAER) 20,485
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition WEELENRSRAFE
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FriElRekRIReFED 2,390
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company have engaged AVISTA
Valuation Advisory Limited (“AVISTA”) to assist in
determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities
of Context Image Group in accordance with HKFRS
13 Fair Value Measurement. AVISTA has reviewed the
methodologies, the key valuation parameters and business
assumptions adopted.

The fair value of the 34,356,728 consideration shares was
calculated based on the published market price at HK$0.53
per share of the Company’s ordinary shares as at 22 June
2022. The fair values of contingent consideration payable
as at 22 June 2022 were evaluated based on the report
from AVISTA by adopting a probability model. The principal
assumptions applied in such model included the probability
of fulfilment of second stage and third stage conditions as
well as published market price at HK$0.53 per share of the
Company’s ordinary shares as at 22 June 2022.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition is attributable
to the growth and profit potential in the expansion of the
provision and design of SaaS systems and IT solution
business. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to
be deductible for income tax purposes.

The total acquisition-related transaction costs of
approximately HK$2,098,000 have been excluded from
the consideration transferred and charged to other
operating expenses of approximately HK$1,160,000 and
approximately HK$938,000 in the profit and loss during the
year ended 31 March 2022 and 2023, respectively.

For the period from the date of acquisition to 31 March
2023, the acquired business has contributed revenue of
approximately HK$55,828,000 and contributed a profit of
approximately HK$3,971,000 to the Group.

If the acquisition had been taken place as at 1 April 2022,
the revenue and profits of the Group would be increased
by approximately HK$1,775,000 and decreased by
approximately HK$256,000, respectively.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

RAREZEERNEMTHHBAE
BRAR([XER]) BEBRBEEEVH
RELEANEISKEAFEETEET
Context Image Group K& E & & &)
AREE - NEHREEMARANS
E o EBHELHEREBRE -

34,356,728 IR BRI A BB T)
BIEAR R E @R 202296 H22
BEEMHMESROSIBITTE -
R2022% 6 A22 A EF s ANRE
MAREBEDREBEEBHELAORS
LR ER T, - BREERFEAR
FTERXBIERCE _BERE =
Bt EARERAR L BN
2022F 6 A22EWM B EMMEBEER
0.538 7T °

WIEELNEETRNBARH MR
FtSaaSE M M E MBI IR T RE
BhHEeRERAEEN - Bt O
ROBEBRTRERPIBHRAN -

#92,098,000 7% 7T #) Uy B 40 B8 32 5 A
NEEDHERREFR NG - WEH
F2022F R 2023F3A31HIEFE
REZF - HRIEEMEER T INR
491,160,000 7 7T & #7938,000 7% 7T °

B U B8 E202393 A31H8 H
M ERBEEAAEEERY
55,828,000 /& 7Ty U as & £ 3,971,000
PETTHY 5 1 o

it U B T £ 2022 €4 A1 B #E 1T

AE B MU Kom A #& o B 0 4
1,775,000 7T KR 49 256,000 47T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F202443H31H I F/Z

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

2023 Financial Guarantee (Continued)

The proforma information is for illustrative purposes only
and is not necessarily an indication of the revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on
1 April 2022, nor is intended to be a projection of future
results.

(c) NET DEBT RECONCILIATION

This section sets out an analysis of net cash/(debt) and
the movement in net cash/(debt) for each of the years

35. 7 & B &k B R M )

(b) WEEHIE A =l (&)

2023 F B I B4R (#)
BEEREHHARS  KYEe
MU BE R 2022 F 4 A1 BB N
T AEBRERFREERAOKZER
IR RE . TNBMERRREENTE

Al o

(c) BEHFEHK

AEHINS2RFEZRE(BH)
FREAS (B FEEBHON -

presented.
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHT
Cash and cash equivalents HeERBRESEEY 10,490 9,736
Other borrowing E &K - -
Lease liabilities HEAE (1,051) (8,604)
Net cash I &FE 9,439 1,132
Other Lease
borrowing liabilities Total
Hi a5 HEEE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FERT FERT FERT
For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z= 2024 3 A 31 H
IEFE
At 1 April 2023 M2023%4 A1 8 - 8,604 8,604
Net cash outflows WE ML FEE - (1,160) (1,160)
Financial expense B &M - 30 30
Other non-cash movements Hih IR & &
— disposal of lease liabilities —HEHEAR - (6,423) (6,423)
At 31 March 2024 7202443 B 31 B - 1,051 1,051

194 Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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/ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

NET DEBT RECONCILIATION (Continued)

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

35. 7 & B &k B R M )

(c) BEFHFHEY K@

Other Lease
borrowing liabilities Total
H M ER HEARE @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T T FHT
For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 2023 3 A 31 H
EFE
At 1 April 2022 R2022%F 4 A1H 111 14,363 14,474
Net cash outflows I &7 F R (111) (13,352) (13,463)
Financial expense B & A = 274 274
Other non-cash movements EM3ER &
— addition of lease liabilities —-ANEHEAE - 7,319 7,319
At 31 March 2023 R2023%F3 A31H - 8,604 8,604

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, as set out in Note
35(b), on 22 June 2022, the Company allotted and issued
34,356,728 consideration shares for the acquisition of
Context Image Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries.

d) FREXF

B E2023E3A31 8 IEEE - Wt
5L 35(b) FTEL - 202266 A22H -
7K &) 3t B8 Context Image Holdings
Limited & E M B 2 &) Bt 8 & 3 17
34,356,728 IR LB (7 °

REaIBHERBR AR
20244F 3R] 195



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443 /31 H 1 F/Z

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RERERR SESRTAEZKREABENT
instrument as at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Assets included in the consolidated FFASREMBEMRARCEE
statement of financial position
Financial assets at amortised cost: REHENAFTE 2R/ %{IZ :
— Loan to an associate — A — e B *é ’A AIREE R 27,534 15,000
— Loan to intermediate holding company ~ — [A] /R 1422 i Tkﬁ\, K 9,870 8,281
— Loan to a related company —m— A RIREE K 6,841 9,878
— Trade receivables —E 5 REKFIE 1,715 28,597
— Deposits and other receivables —i&e K E A R GRIE 5,242 18,019
— Cash and cash equivalents —-BehkReEE % 10,490 9,736
Total FEES 61,692 89,511
Liabilities included in the consolidated AR BRARZ BE
statement of financial position
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REBHEKATEZEREBIE
— Trade payables — B S EMNKIE 17,699 21,896
— Other payables and accruals —HthERRIBERETER 7,191 5,928
— Other borrowing —H A& R - =
— Lease liabilities —HERE 1,051 8,604
Total st 25,941 36,428
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Assets

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Property, plant and equipment
Deposits

Investment in an associate
Right-of-use asset

Current assets

Prepayments

Loan to intermediate holding
company

Amounts due from subsidiaries

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Equity and liabilities

Equity attributable to shareholders

of the Company
Share capital
Reserves
Total equity

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals
Lease liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Other payables

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
BE
FIRBEE
RHB R B RE - =
Y -~ BB KRS 24 27
e 260 400
R—EBE R RINEE 42 42
FHREEE 1,098 1,569
1,424 2,038
ﬁibé&
TEAS 3R 325 397
F—JEF‘FEH j})}:{/\/ fy\
9,870 8,281
A C I EPNGIE ! 62,936 45,545
RekReEE #’/7) 9,003 90
82,134 54,313
BEE 83,558 56,351
EEREE
AATREEMNLERS
& 7% 2,233 2,233
{1 78,246 49,495
R 80,479 51,728
REBAE
HAh e B R BT & A 1,728 2,993
HEAE 1,051 1,067
2,779 4,060
FREBEE
HEAE - 563
H b pE A FRIE 300
HWEE 3,079 4,623
HEZREE 83,558 56,351

2024 F F 3R



198

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F202443H31H I F/Z

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY AND RESERVE MOVEMENT

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

37. ERFIMBRRR TR F 2056

fili 8 B ()

(b) RXATRREEE

Equity
component
Share of contingent Accumulated
premium consideration losses Total
HARAREN
BRA R E RS RtER Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET FAET
At 1 April 2022 M2022%4 A1R 152,633 - (114,208) 38,425
Issue of shares upon acquisition Y B Kt /& 72 &1 A% 217 AL (7
of subsidiaries (Note 35(0)) (PR 3E35(0)) 18,123 2,276 = 20,399
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREERZHAFHERSE
loss for the year - - (9,329) (9,329)
At 31 March 2023 R2023%F3A31H 170,756 2,276 (123,537) 49,495
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FRAEERZHAFHERSE
loss for the year - - 28,751 28,751
At 31 March 2024 R2024%F3 431 H 170,756 2,276 (94,786) 78,246

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated
29 April 2024, on 27 April 2024, Minshang Creative Technology
Holdings (Shenzhen) Company Limited* (& &l &2 i (FII) A
fR A &) (“Minshang Shenzhen”), a company established in the
PRC and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
the Cooperation Agreement with Beijing Bio-energy Technology
Company Limited* (3t A% 5 R B R A 7)) (“Bejing Bio-
energy”), a company established in the PRC and Hainan Energy
Future Technology Partnership* (8 B AE R R BI A B %
(BFRAE)) (“Hainan Energy”), a limited partnership established
in the PRC, pursuant to which Minshang Shenzhen, Beijing Bio-
energy and Hainan Energy, agreed to establish the Subsidiary
to develop the Renewable Energy Technology Business. The
parties shall make a total contribution of RMB50 million, of which
Minshang Shenzhen shall contribute RMB25.5 million in cash,
accounting for 51% of the registered capital of the Subsidiary;
Beijing Bio-energy shall contribute RMB17.5 million in cash,
accounting for 35% of the registered capital of the Subsidiary; and
Hainan Energy shall contribute RMB7 million in cash, accounting
for 14% of the registered capital of the Subsidiary. The parties
shall make their respective capital contributions within 5 years
from the date which the Subsidiary has completed its business
registration. The amount of capital contribution was determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties with reference
to the expected capital requirements and the preliminary business
plan of the Subsidiary. The capital contribution to be made by
Minshang Shenzhen will be funded by internal resources of the
Group.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in the annual report,
there is no material subsequent event occurs after the date of
statement of financial position.

*

The English names of the PRC entities are translation of their Chinese
names, and are included herein for identification purpose only.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & 220243431 H 1FF/E

ZRMARB BEA2024F 4298 2 A
& RN2024F 4 A27 B - REAIRHER GF
INERAB (TREFRIN]  —ERP R
Y ZAR WAARBZEEWBRR)
At R EMSERBEARAR ([LLEZEY
ZRE —RERFBBEKYZAR) KSR
REARBRABLE(BEREAR) ((FER
gl —HERPRRIZAERABLE)FT
YAEERE Bt REZRY - E"4ED
SREN G BEER BB AR AR E
ABAERERMEES TS HABERZ
“HE%EAARK50,0000005T HAR
P RYIG AR & B AR 25,500,000 7T
HERKNBARGEMEAZS51% b R4E
Y 58216 AR & 1 E AR 17,500,000 7T
HERKBARGFMEARZ35% : /G
Beel AR M E AR 7,000,0007T ¢ 8
ERWEBRAREMEARZ14% s T HE A
BEMBATTKIEER BRE5E
RELHESAZHEE - HEARBEIIALD
BEHE2EWRBRARZBHREART KK
FTEBTEBATHEAMETE - Rzl
AR EEANIERB S HER -

B EX R FHREAMBOAWEEIN - RE
BARRK AR 2RI EHEETABARHR
-

© REEENRXARN AR XABHED
WA K AR -
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFMBGRER

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is as follows:

Revenue

(Loss)/profit before income tax
Income tax credit/(expense)

(Loss)/profit for the year
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operation

Total comprehensive (loss)/
income for the year

(Loss)/profit attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive (loss)/
income attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Assets
Non-current assets
Current assets

Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Annual Report 2024

B AT BAT (B51R) A
FrsfEse,/ (FX)
FR(ER),af
BEBIINEHTELEN

bEE 3¢ = 78
Frem(ERE)/

Y 25 48 5R

T AL (B518)
R -

AR FRE
ey

UL TNATEIERE
(B518) /W as %8 -

/NG

FEPRR M 51

&E
FRBEE
MENE E
REE
EEREE
B
FRBAE
mEAE
me s

o =

mEakafE

2024
2024 £
HK$’000
FHET

7,952

(38,616)
2,829

(35,787)

(2,963)

(38,750)

(35,787)

(35,787)

(38,756)
6

(38,750)

2024
2024 £
HK$’000
FHET

102,025
61,080

163,105

132,110

4,301
26,694

30,995
163,105

=REaEBENT
2023 2022
20234 2022 4
HK$'000  HK$'000
FHET FET
106,589 910,331
(1,370) (4,715)
) (1,338)
(1,372) (6,053)
(6,320) 1,062
(7,692) (4,991)
(1,363) (6,029)
©) (24)
(1,372) (6,053)
(7,691) (4,962)
(1) (29)
(7,692) (4,991)
2023 2022
20234 2022 F
HK$'000  HK$'000
FHET FHE T
140,583 119,201
83,702 79,437
224,285 198,638
171,196 158,403
9,584 8,954
43,505 31,281
53,089 40,235
224,285 198,638

2021
2021 4
HK$’000
T T

1,585,536

33,403
(7,896)

25,507

2,584

28,091

25,550
(43)

25,507

28,137
(46)

28,091

2021
2021 4
HK$'000
FHET

111,436
448,321

569,757

163,394

9,798
386,565

396,363
559,757

AEBBEREVRFENRENREE  #

2020
2020 4F
HK$’000
F#ET

1,009,496

(20,542)
(428)

(20,970)

(544)

(21,514)

(20,937)
(33)

(20,970)

(21,481)
(33)

(21,514)

2020
2020 4
HK$’000
FHETT

136,044
106,173

242,217

135,303

23,546
83,368

106,914
242,217
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